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Financial Highlights
BHRRE

TABLE OF FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MERERX
Change in
2018 2017 percentage
—E-N\F —E—+F BALLEH
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBFIT
Sales LEH 3,848,626 3,482,894 +10.5%
Gross profit EH 2,586,529 2,270,823 +13.9%
Gross profit margin EFIE 67.2% 65.2%
Operating profit 2ERN 1,638,242 1,339,522 +22.3%
EBITDA margin EBITDAX 47.9% 44.7%
EBIT margin EBITX 42.6% 38.5%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HERTIZHER T GHEEL X 5.7% 7.3%
Administration expenses to sales THRAZIEHEELE 24.0% 26.3%
Profit before income tax B % Al 2 N 1,745,807 1,409,112 +23.9%
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the ~ ZRAFIERITA AEEEF
Company 1,263,797 1,065,424 +18.6%
Adjusted Profit attributable to the equity holders #E#& A A FERIFE A
of the Company” &5 &) 1,361,941 1,097,184 +24.1%
Earnings per share (RMB cents) BREFN (ARES)
— Basic and diluted —EARR#E 40.66 34.29 +18.6%
Adjusted Earnings per share HEEGRAT
(RMB cents)” (AR®R)" 43.82 35.31 +24.1%
Net cash generated from operating activities BETYEECRSFE 1,538,662 1,303,709 +18.0%
Net cash* FHEE 7,502,606 4,826,455 +55.4%
Total equity G 13,118,337 10,606,912 +23.7%
Final dividend per share (HK cents) FREAARRE (W) 15.00 22.00
Total dividend per share (HK cents) FREFRS (BI) 31.00 22.00 +40.9%
Debt ratio* BB E 1.9% 0.8%
Current ratio (times) MENLL X () 9.3 8.7
Liquidity ratio (times) RELE (fF) 8.6 7.9
Inventory turnover (days) FEAEX(H) 208 206
Trade receivables turnover (days) EWERFAEX(H) 99 97
Trade payables turnover (days) ERRFEEX(H) 91 89

* Excluding provision for impairment of goodwill of RMB54,144,000  * MEEHZE —E—NF=ZHA=1+—HIFELXLRA

and provision for impairment of other non-current assets and other B mir A ASENZ BE R E R A R #54,144,000
receivable of RMB44,000,000 attributable to the equity holders of T REMIETEEREMEN A HEEEAR
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Provision for #44,000,0007r (ZF—+F : FEREEEALR
goodwill impairment of RMB22,710,000 and spin-off related direct 22,710,000 % 7 ¥k _FiTiHEG 2 B 1% B AN B
expenses of RMB9,050,000). 9,050,0007T ) °

* “Net cash” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and cash — * [FHz | EREHEHGHI MR RELE
equivalents” minus “Borrowings". By 6t [E# e

# “Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non-  * [BELFERHEES (EAETBRIFTEDE
current borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-controlling )| B [4EfERS (TS 1411825 ) ) o

interests)”.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

CORPORATE PROFILE

Huabao International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), consisting of flavours and fragrances segment, aroma
raw materials segment, tobacco raw materials segment, innovative
tobacco products segment and other business, is mainly engaged
in the R&D, production and sales of flavours and fragrances, aroma
raw materials, tobacco raw materials, as well as innovative tobacco
products. The Group also makes diversified investments around its
core businesses. It is an investment holding group based on China’s

taste-based consumer goods market.

SEBHTREXEI

SEEN

EEEBRERERARLRMBEAR ([AEE])T
RERBRGE - ERARE ERRERRRE  HFREE
HmiREREMER  T2REER FRY ER
REMHMUESH RS CEMBE LES
BROEFXRETEST(RE E—RENPEKE
RHEBERMSNRERKSEE-
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture
SEEENREEI

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours & fragrances
industry. It owns many famous flavour brands, including “Huabao
Flavours” on the A-Shares platform,“Hedon”, “Huabao”, “H&K",
“Tianhong”, “Huafang”, “Owada”, “Amber” and so on. The Group
has internationalised product development and manufacturing
capabilities, owns production bases in regions such as Shanghai,
Guangdong, Jiangsu, Yunnan, Jiangxi, Fujian, Hong Kong and
Botswana, etc., has a R&D centre in Holzminden, Germany, a
state-level enterprise technology centre in Shanghai, and R&D
departments in Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian. Huabao Kongque,
a subsidiary of the Group, is the Vice Chairman Unit of China Food
Additives & Ingredients Association. At the same time, the Group
takes on leadership roles in a number of industry associations
which are relevant to flavours and fragrances business, including
Deputy Director of China Association of Fragrance & Flavour and
Cosmetic Industries, Deputy Director of China Association of Bakery
& Confectionery Industry, Chairman of Shanghai Food Additive &
Batching Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’'s tobacco
raw materials field, where its production capacity and sales revenue
account for a significant market share and its production technology
and product quality have taken the leading position at domestic
level and reached advanced international level. Guangdong Jinye, a
subsidiary of the Group, is one of the RTL R&D bases authorised by
the STMA. In November 2012, the second phase of RTL production
line of Guangdong lJinye was completed, put into production and
accepted by the STMA, which became the first landmark of paper-
making RTL production line certified by the STMA. Its production
technology has been recognized by the STMA to have reached the
highest technology level in terms of domestic paper-making RTL
production, while its major technical parameters have also reached
advanced international levels. In 2016, the "“Key Laboratory for
RTL Technology Research in Tobacco Industry”, jointly founded by
Guangdong Jinye and Guangdong Tobacco, was selected as the sole
laboratory in the RTL field in China. Guangdong Jinye became the
sole RTL enterprise owning a national key laboratory in China. In
terms of new materials, Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co.,
Ltd. has developed rapidly in the cigarette new materials field, which
is represented by flavour capsule and core line and is becoming a new
growth point. Newly established bases Yingtan Xinhui in 2017, as
well as Dianhua benxiang which was established by joint venture with
Yunnan Tobacco New Materials in 2018, became two flavour capsule
business bases. Both of the bases expanded the Group’s flavour
capsule capacity.

AEERTEERTENREE HTHEBARL
mYreEERMEIZEE] [FE] &) [X
BITEFDREEZE] [RBIE-RIANERE
B - AEEHEERRCNEMTEMEEE
ELE ER T& T 10 B2 FARBL
TSR EEEL EENERXAEREMH
B ELBEARRREERMPL  BEE
R EMREEREWMEINITI - AERETEARES
LERTPEREARANBMER HERIEERER -
R AEEEEREFERTREARTEETZE
BERN BETEEREMMOM TR B ERE
ER PEMERARERTIEHEIIEERML
BHRMANBMEMTEREERS -

AEEHORTEERRHNAENEEEZ — E4
EfNRHERREKETNEREEZMISNE M
BEAETHENEMREEHENBHANBELMER
BT -AREENTEARERERERERER
SBRMEREAMy — - —T—"F+— A EREC
HEEFREERRTIRE WRARERRI
RABRNEGRESRENERTEEEHEELE
Ef EAETEZRBEERNEABREERNEER
SBRARMRSKE  E2RIMEFITEERRLE
KFe —F—RF EREEEERTPEREN [E
ETXBEEERMARERERE | NBBIRMH
—HEEREHERE KA2EM-—HEERE
HEREWNEESHCE - MM @ LEBESE
EYRRBRARDNEANER THRESRENBE
MR ERIFFTLE EXRFONIERS
ELFEFRNEECER T - N\FHREFTE
MR B B MEERTK AR IRERH — KH
Hify 2HEMRBIRERRE -
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is also one of the leading enterprises in China’s aroma raw
materials field. The principal products include many natural aroma
and synthetic aroma products. Its production capacity and sales
revenue account for a significant market share in the industry, and its
production technology and product quality have reached the leading
domestic and international level. In 2015, the Group successfully
acquired Yancheng Chunzhu, a leading enterprise in aroma raw
materials industry. In 2017, the Group successfully acquired Jiangxi
Xianghai. The acquisitions played a positive role in the establishment
and layout of the Group's aroma raw materials segment. The Group,
by virtue of its own industry advantages of the leading position and
strong scientific research strength, plans to build a leading aroma raw
materials production base in Asia and even the world.

SEBN REFE

AEBERTEBERMEENELLCEZ — X2
EmBRZERABTHMEKEN -HEERE M
HERETEANREEEMSNE EETERE
mEENEINBAIIELKFE- R_F—A%F K
SERNKRBEERMITENERCRENEFN N
—EEF BREMWEEIARSE HAKEE
FRARBBRZAMRRLR TEERNER -K&EH
B E B B EITERENMAELMERXNEIAE
N HTESNDERRELHNETRNEEE M-

Aroma raw materials products to be delivered to clients

EREXGEPHNERNER

Meanwhile, the Group has started developing the business of
innovative tobacco products, including e-cigarettes and so on. In
2015, the Group completed the acquisition of controlling interests in
VMR, a U.S. independent e-cigarette manufacturer, and completed
additional investment in VMR in 2016.

The Group will comprehensively push forward the construction of the
investment holding group based on China’s taste-based consumer
goods market. It will also combine its industry expertise and
integration capability with the social capital, through the multi-capital
platforms, multi-collaboration channels, as well as multi-investment
collaboration models, to create more values for the shareholders.

R AEEHEEFEFUEERLR BEET
BEE T EMEREES - R2015FEREBETK T
¥ 3 BB S E A AR A P VMR BT 4% AR A% A Uk B I A
20164 ST ¥ VMRAJ IS & o

AEEREEAMEERERTERERHERTS
WIREEREE BEZEXRYE ZRERE K
ZREEAGERABERMANERND Bk HHE
HEEREE RERRAEEKREE
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture
SEENREEL

SPIRIT CORE VALUE
15 1 “OEES

Innovative, pragmatic, Client first, value creation and
loyal and cooperative shared achievements
VlSlON BI¥ - BE B BiE FFEL BEAE HEHRE

=
5
Leader to a better life

KFEESIRE

Adhere to the “concentric diversification strategy” and develop into the world’s leading taste-based consumer product
investment holding group.

Seize the opportunity of integration in aroma raw materials industry and proactively develop the aroma raw materials
business.

o Grasp the needs of customers for innovative tobacco products and develop innovative tobacco businesses rapidly.

o Build domestic and overseas capital operation platforms and flexibly devise corresponding capital operation programs
to meet the business development of the Group and maximize shareholders’ value.

o Establish industrial investment funds, integrate the industry resources through the mergers and acquisitions in the
industry chain, strive to achieve rapid growth of business and accelerate the development of core businesses.
o Grasp the triple opportunities of “Consumption upgrade, industry integration, tightening environmental protection

policies”, focus on the complementary products in the “taste-based consumer products” field and continue to be the
“leader to a better life”.

e EBHIRALEZTCERE| EREAZMELNKBEBZEEMRES

o HUEFRK %%’a\ﬁ’ﬂ%@ CRNEREBRER -

. LEEEEUNEZEELRNTI R RERERFEEEER-

. P‘ﬁ%f‘lﬁivl\é{$@f’ﬁ” B BEERIREETNEFEAR UEGXEBER BERERREERKL:

. PRUEXES BEAEFE FTWRERM BaTXER SHEREBNHRBERNMEDROEBHENERE -

. PREEBEAR TEEE BEREBEN=ZSKE FEIRERRER] BENEEER BEXNAZTEENERSE -




CHU Lam Yiu
KK

EFSTERITHBE

Dear shareholders,

Over the past year, Huabao International Holdings Limited has made
remarkable achievements in both operations and the capital market.
As the Chairwoman and CEO of the Group, I'm delighted with
our progress. As at the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the
Group achieved sales revenue of approximately RMB3,849 million,
representing an increase of 10.5% year-on-year; gross profit margin
was approximately 67.2%, increased by two percentage points from
last year; profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
reached RMB1,264 million representing an increase of approximately
18.6% as compared with last financial year. The respective segments
of the Group witnessed a stable and upward growth, the tobacco raw
materials and aroma raw materials segments achieved rapid growth
in particular and are expected to see more momentum of growth. The
Group is customer-oriented and consistently launches new business
models and products as well as develops in-depth collaboration with
big clients; in terms of supply chain layout, the Group facilitates the
integration of the supply chain and boosts investment in research
and development to establish a safer and more efficient integrated
manufacturing base so as to lead the industry’s new standards. In
addition, the Group’s consumer-based insight innovation is posing
new strategic development opportunities to the respective business
segments.

The past year marked the Group’s another milestone in the capital
market. On 1 March 2018, Huabao Flavours and Fragrances Co.,
Ltd (“Huabao Flavours”), the major leading player in the flavours
industry, returned to the A-shares capital market. The Company
being the first overseas listing company which has successfully spin-
off business on the ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2018,
Huabao Flavours’ successful listing was recognized as a symbolic
project of Hong Kong listing company’s asset spin-off to A-shares
market. The Group will leverage the new capital platform, along with
China’s great rejuvenation ambition, to seize the triple opportunities
in China's consumer market, focus on taste-based fast-moving
consumer products, and strives to be the world’s leading taste-based
consumer products investment holding group under the “Concentric
Diversification based on Consumer Demand” strategy.

2017-2018 Annual Report 43k 9

Chairwoman Statement
EEHRE

Chairwoman & Chief Executive Officer

B ARER

WMEM—F EESRELEXEENEATIGEE
THEBEMKAESE EFRESZEEE NRCEO Ik
Rl -HE_Z-N\FZAZT—BHILUFE &
BERBERAHDAREISLAORBIT RALEELD
10.5% : EF R AE672% RLEROMESEH
g ARFEEFEABRGRIEIARK12.64E
B E—URFEEELN18.6% o & XK IR hE
BRIEREA  ERRERMEBRENE RSB RR
RELARY BRREBEE BHRDBEEA-KH
PUBBEZRKAEER  THRD O EEXME
LHWER BREFERAAGIE  TEXEM
BT BENKHEERS NE  WMHEEA
HEFNLZE S8 —BLEEEN 5|EITE
FEE IV BN EERMBRAENEFELEAR
SESEEBTRAINBEBEEERS-

BEN—F AKEEEAMS LBE-E-—-F
—NF=ZA—B EEERBRNHERAR ([FHEK
MDERERTERERBOGRAREARAM S A
REMER=ZFT—\FHI LT RBRD D FEHR
B ETHE - EFERMAY EHHERE
BOREELDARABRFIENIAR - KE K58
MWEARFE EREERNABT LEFBEHE
Emp—ERE BERBRNERBRE - UHE
EFRBSIENRLZTL] REE NFEXAE
BRELHKRBREERBIESRE-
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Chairwoman Statement
EEHE

China is facing triple opportunities. Firstly, the continuous
consumption upgrade makes a great room for growth in China's
consumption market in future. According to the estimate of the
Economist’'s think tank, the size of China’s consumer market will
reach 6.5 trillion US dollars in 2020. Secondly, with the slowdown in
economic growth, it is becoming increasingly feasible for the industry
integration to take place, which leaves room for leading companies
in the industry to make integration happen. Thirdly, more stringent
environmental protection requirements bring room for integration.
Driven by more stringent environmental protection requirements,
overcapacity, lack of core technologies and raw materials in China’s
flavours and fragrances industry, it is expected that the industry will
go through the integration path as that of the international market,
which further leaves more room for leading companies to expand
their business.

Under the triple opportunities, the Group will hold on to the strategy
of “Concentric Diversification based on Consumer Demand in the
tasted-based fast-moving consumer products Industry”. The Group
will focus on the supplementary products in the taste-based fast-
moving consumer products, including products in the niche markets
such as flavours and fragrances, additives, ingredients and packing
materials, condiments, etc. Besides, the Group will upgrade its
business model based on consumers’ demand. Moreover, the Group
will leverage its in-depth experience and expertise to carry out
integration and establish an investment holding platform by setting
up industrial investment funds for merger and acquisition, thereby
unleashing the synergies from the upstream to the downstream.
Under the dual-engine strategies, the Group aims to be the “leader
to a better life”.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers, suppliers, and business
partners for their continuing support. Also, | would like to thank
all the directors, management, and employees who have been
dedicating to the development of Huabao. | am grateful for your
invaluable contribution. | strongly believe in our Group's development
prospect, and | have the confidence in leading our management
to establish Huabao as the world’s leading taste-based consumer
products investment holding group in the industry with our enterprise
spirit “Innovation, pragmatic, loyalty, and collaboration”.

CHU Lam Yiu
Chairwoman & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 20 June 2018

EOMPEIANER-ERE  ——REBEBENBETR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MAJOR EVENT DURING THE YEAR

On 1 March 2018, Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd (“Huabao
Flavours”), a subsidiary of the Group, was listed on the ChiNext
of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Name: Huabao Flavours;
Stock Code: 300741. Based on the closing price of RMB45.57
per share on 30 March 2018, market capitalization amounted to
approximately RMB28.07 billion). The initial public offering comprised
of 61.59 million new shares, representing approximately 10% of
the enlarged issued share capital of Huabao Flavours. The offer
price was RMB38.60 per share and the proceeds from the issuance
amounted to approximately RMB2,377 million. After deduction of the
issuance costs, the net proceeds from the issuance was approximately
RMB2,312 million. Approximately RMB1,034 million of the proceeds
will be used to the manufacturing base of Huabao Yingtan's food
flavours and ingredients project, approximately RMB471 million will
be used to the Lhasa Pure Land healthy food project, approximately
RMB158 million will be used to the R&D of Huabao H&K's food
flavours and food technology project, and approximately RMB649
million will be used to compensate Huabao Flavours’ liquidity.

EEENWR DT

AFEEREREE

RZE—N\EZA—B AEEZHBRAREESR
BRHERAR ([EERM]) ERERIEHFR
SETAIER b (REME  EERGO: RERE:
300741 A -E— NF=ZF=+HURTEEBRAR
BE45 570k E MEHARE280.78IT) « XA
FIEEITHINRG, 1598 B (hE WM AR M L10% » 3
TERERARYEIZ 60T TIBEEESRBHA
REE23T7TET - EHBRBEERNE TREEES
FREOARE2312ET -BEESFHARKE10.34
BIAREEEERMAGRERRREMEEER

WIAE - WAREATVETHAREE N % TR
RmER HARBISSELHBRESIER®

ERERMEPEMAEIER - AR 49ETHEAR
WRERSHES -

L FiAd[E]

Huabao Flavours successfully listed on the ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange

EHEBRMNRNEBEZZ MBI ERK £

RECENT COOPERATION AND ACQUISITION

During the reporting period, the Group invested RMB25.208 million
to acquire 95% equity interest of Jiangxi Xianghai. The acquisition
of Jiangxi Xianghai is critical to the Group’s strategic layout in the
aroma raw materials segment. The completion of building and
commencement of the production base would not only meet the
environmental protection requirements of China but also improve the
operating efficiency of the aroma raw materials segment.

The Group launched a strategic collaboration with a well known
international company to establish Jiangxi Xinhui. The Group formed
a joint venture of Dianhua Benxiang with Yunnan Tobacco New
Materials. Both companies were engaged in the manufacturing and
R&D of flavour capsule, signifying the Group’s further layout in the
tobacco new materials business and boosting the flavour capsule
production capacity to alleviate the supply shortage in the market.

R EEREE

WEHN AEBLHEARK252088TWETT
FAEFIS R RE TAEENHALEEETRE
RENBREAREZEAZE SERITEIAE
BRREENERMEESM TEAUNRBER
HRBROER MAAMRIESERHRENE

B o

AEEE-BERELARETBRAE KIIA
BE REFRERMHKNIEERRNEEAS
HRRBRNEERRNE  RREAREEBER
MHEBRREMRRD £ - FRITIFIRER &
M5 AR B -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEBHNWROM

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Overview of tobacco industry

In 2017, the global economy improved its growth rate and growth
forecasts and gradually entered into a better stage. Coupled with the
continuous promotion of supply-side structural reforms and other
factors, China’s economy was stable and improved. The economy
structure optimized continuously and the new economy momentum
grew rapidly, the overall situation was better than expected. As an
important part of the real economy, the tobacco industry had shown
a good trend of “market state gradually improving and the benefits
being stable and good”.

In 2017, cigarette sales volume in China was approximately 47.38
million cases, representing an increase of approximately 0.39
million cases or 0.8% as compared to last year. The cigarette
production volume was 46.9 million cases, representing a decrease of
approximately 0.67 million cases or 1.6% year-on-year. The tobacco
industry managed to realize profit and tax of RMB1.1145 trillion,
representing an increase of RMB34.93 billion or 3.2% as compared to
the same period last year, meaning that it has achieved a total of over
RMB one trillion in profit and tax for four consecutive years, and has
paid a total of more than RMB one trillion to treasury department for
three consecutive years.

In terms of the niche markets, the cigarette consumption turned to
be a new trend from weakness to prosperity. Firstly, slim cigarettes
maintained high-speed growth and its market share continued to
increase. Throughout the year, the sales volume of slim cigarettes
reached 2.385 million cases, representing an increase of 74.2% as
compared to the same period last year. Secondly, the sales of flavour
capsule cigarettes had exploded, with breakthroughs in R&D and
innovation, which achieved the independent design, independent
production and innovative application of flavour capsule cigarettes.
The sales volume of flavour capsule cigarettes reached 0.349 million
cases this year, representing an increase of 429% as compared to the
same period last year. Thirdly, short cigarettes witnessed significant
growth. Sales volume of short cigarettes totalled 0.25 million cases
throughout the year, representing a year-on-year increase of 162.3%.
In addition, the sales of premium and low-tar cigarettes had also
resumed growth. A total of 2.904 million cases of premium cigarettes
and a total of 7.128 million cases of low-tar cigarettes below 8 mg
were sold nationwide, representing an increase of 8.4% and 9.2%
respectively as compared to the same period last year. The industry
structure continues to be optimized and improved.
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In terms of tobacco leaves, since the regulation on the total
output of tobacco leaves in 2013, the industry had adhered to
the principle of “production by sales” and resulted in remarkable
effects in controlling the total scale of tobacco leaves and the
continuous decrease of the tobacco leaf purchase. However, the
tobacco leaf production situation was still severe and complicated,
with the inventory level of tobacco leaves at a high level, and the
structural contradiction between the market supply and demand
extruded particularly. The inventory of tobacco leaves available for
use increased from 37 months in 2016 to 43 months in 2017 and
the national inventory level of tobacco strips increased instead of
decrease. In order to ensure the steady development of tobacco leaf
production, the tobacco industry strengthened the control of tobacco
leaf through measures such as “reduction” and “adjustment”. The
planting area was reduced by 0.4916 million mu compared with
the guiding plan, and the total purchase volume was expected to
decrease by 3.43 million dans compared to the plan target. The
control of national tobacco leaf planting area and total purchase
volume exceeded the annual control target. (Source: Tobacco Online
and China Tobacco Market)

Overview of food, beverage and fragrances industries

In 2017, China’s national economy was stable and improved. The
dynamics, power and potential of China’s economy were unleashed
continuously, while the stability, harmonization and sustainability had
been enhanced significantly, and a stable and healthy development
had been realized. According to the data from the National Bureau
of Statistics, from January to December of 2017, the main business
revenue of food processing enterprises of industrial scale (excluding
tobacco) reached RMB10.52 trillion, representing an increase of 6.6%
as compared to the same period last year, and the total profit reached
RMB701.56 billion, representing an increase of 8.5% year-on-year,
of which, the agricultural product processing industry rose by 5.8%
year-on-year, the food processing industry rose by 8.3% year-on-
year, and the alcohol, beverage and refined tea processing industry
jumped by 7.7% as compared to the same period last year. Benefiting
from the promotion of the country’s policy of expanding domestic
demand, the continuous increase in the income level of urban and
rural residents, the rigid demand for food, and the gradual release
of the structural reforms on the supply side, the food industry is
expected to continue to grow steadily in the future, and the industry
scale will steadily expand and continue to grow stably in the national
industrial system. (Source: National Bureau of Statistics)
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With the development of China’s national economy and the increase
of residents’ consumption power, snack food has become an
important part of people’s daily food consumption. According to the
statistics of the China Food Industry Association, the annual output
value of China's snack food industry is expected to maintain a rapid
growth from RMB1.06 trillion in 2015 to RMB1.99 trillion in 2019,
with a compound annual growth rate exceeding 17%.

According to the “Analysis Report on the Development Prospects and
Investment Opportunities of China’s Snack Food Industry for 2017-
2022" published by ASKCI Consulting (B E 2875t ) |, the sales
of snack food in China continued to increase from 2011 to 2016,
with a compound annual growth rate of 3.78%. Sales increased
from 13.5 million tons in 2011 to 16.25 million tons in 2016. It is
estimated that the sales of snack foods in China will reach 17.49
million tons by 2018.

In terms of fragrances industry, the overall development in the
coming year shows a steady upward trend. In 2017, the sales of
China’s fragrances industry was about RMB468.1 billion, with a
compound annual growth rate of 5%. In respect of niche markets,
the phenomenon of cosmetics sharing has become increasingly
prevalent and cosmetic shopping platforms have been developing
towards more diverse formats. China’s fragrances industry will
continue to develop steadily in the future, among which the
cosmetics market will expand more rapidly.

In general, the consumer goods market maintained steady and
rapid growth. From the perspective of growth rate, in 2017, the
total retail sales of social consumer goods increased by 10.2%,
representing a decrease of 0.2 percentage point as compared to last
year, maintaining a double-digit rapid growth. Excluding automotive
products, the total retail sales of social consumer goods increased
0.3 percentage point as compared to last year. From the perspective
of market scale, driven by a number of factors such as the steady
growth in the population and residents’ average income, the total
amount of retail sales of social consumer goods continuously
expands.
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Overview of the innovative tobacco products industry

In 2017, the global tobacco control continued to advance, sales of
traditional tobacco products such as cigarettes declined, while sales
of innovative tobacco products, especially HNB (Heat Not Burn)
products grew at a significant rate. The competitive landscape of the
major tobacco companies changed and each company’s development
strategies varied. Uncertainty in the development of the global
tobacco industry has increased. At present, China’s entry standards
for innovative tobacco products have not yet been released, and
even in some countries and regions such as Singapore, Brazil, Hong
Kong, etc., innovative tobacco products are banned to enter, and
the regulatory policy is uncertain, making the prospect of innovative
tobacco products unclear. Therefore, the Group holds a neutral
attitude towards innovative tobacco products and the Group is
conservative and cautious in its development.

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group's sales revenue
amounted to approximately RMB3,849 million, representing an
increase of 10.5% year-on-year. Gross profit margin reached
approximately 67.2%, increased by 2.0 percentage points over
last financial year. EBIT margin reached approximately 42.6%,
representing an increase of 4.1 percentage points over last financial
year. Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company was
approximately RMB1,264 million, representing an increase of 18.6%
over last financial year. Basic earnings per share was RMB40.66 cents,
representing an increase of approximately 18.6% over last financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Review of flavours and fragrances business

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the flavours and fragrance
business recorded a revenue of RMB2,215 million, representing an
increase of 7.3% year-on-year. The operating profit of the segment
amounted to RMB1,288 million, representing an increase of 6.9%
year-on-year. Segment operating profit margin reached approximately
58.1%, similar to that for the last financial year of 58.4%. During
the reporting period, revenue of the segment’s main business remains
stable. The growth of the segment revenue was mainly due to the
demand from food flavours client grew slightly. The increase in
operating profit of the segment was attributable to the increase in
revenue, interest income and government subsidy.
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(1)

2

Flavours

The Group implemented its strategies by analyzing the market's
demand and proactively gaining insights into the latest trend,
technology and areas in both the domestic and overseas’
flavours industry, thereby facilitating the product upgrade
of the existing clients and expanding its market penetration.
Meanwhile, the Group seized the opportunity of consumption
upgrade and helped the clients to tap into new market
opportunities and offered one-stop solutions to assist them in
promoting new products and expanding business. In addition,
the Group continued to enhance its core products structure,
enrich its product mix to meet clients’ diverse needs, strengthen
its positioning in the industry, and will expand to overseas
markets when appropriate.

Fragrances

Through technology innovation and services, the Group further
strengthened and expanded its advantage in the market of
incense and household disinfection and insecticide products.
The Group utilized its advantages in product and technology
to develop the detergent fragrance market and greatly
enhanced the marketing team’s capacity to unleash its product
advantages.

(1)

(2)
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Review of tobacco raw materials business

For the year ended 31 March 2018, sales revenue of the tobacco
raw materials segment of the Group amounted to RMB815 million,
representing an increase of approximately 15.4% from the last
financial year. The operating profit of the segment was about
RMB381 million, representing an increase of approximately 48.9%

from RMB256 million for the last financial year. The EBIT margin of
the segment was approximately 46.8%, representing an increase of
approximately 10.5 percentage points as compared to 36.3% for the
last financial year.

(1)

RTL

Although the amount of tobacco planting and purchase
decreased year by year, the total inventory of tobacco leaves
remained at a high level. The oversupply situation of tobacco
leaves was still severe. In addition, the addition rate of RTL
remained almost the same. All the above factors resulted
in the overcapacity, the imbalance between supply and
demand, and the fierce competition that remained in the RTL
industry. Considering the adverse situation of the industry,
Guangdong Jinye increased its income sources and reduced its
expenditure. It also adhered to the values of “raising the overall
management level of the enterprise as its core” to maintain the
competitiveness of its products while stabilizing product costs.

During the reporting period, Guangdong lJinye, on the one
hand, optimized product formulation and explored overseas
markets actively. The efforts achieved substantial breakthroughs
and enriched its experience in the overseas market. On the
other hand, responding to the price increases of certain raw
materials, Guangdong lJinye strengthened its procurement
management and optimized procurement structure while
simultaneously refining human labours and improving star
employees’ salary to control personnel costs, which enabled
the company stay competitive in comparison to peers under the
condition of non-saturated operation. In the future, with the
structural optimization of cigarettes, the functional role of RTL
in cigarettes could be further explored and developed and will
have good development potential.
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2

Tobacco new materials

Affected by factors such as the recovery of the tobacco industry
and individualized consumption trends, the market capacity
of flavour capsule cigarettes increased year by year with a
tremendous growth. As a result, the business of tobacco
new materials, especially flavour capsules, had witnessed an
explosive growth during the reporting period.

Facing the supply shortage, the Group had comprehensively
improved the capacity of flavour capsules. The newly built
production line of Jiangxi Xinhui had successfully completed its
trial run and put into operation. The production line adopted
cutting-edge production equipment and technology, together
with a strict quality-monitoring system to meet clients’ high-
quality demands and accelerate the sales volume of flavour
capsules. Besides, in order to ensure the continuity and stability
of the supply of flavour capsule products, the Group and
Yunnan Tobacco New Materials has co-operated to establish a
joint venture, Dianhua Benxiang. It will ramp up innovations by
making use of the Group’s existing flavour capsule production
experience, to provide customized products and services to key
clients.

With the intensifying competition, customers are increasingly
demanding high-quality products. Yunnan Xinyun Science &
Technology Development Co. Ltd. took a range of measures
such as developing new products, optimizing manufacturing
process, and sending technicians to study abroad in excellent
overseas companies to improve its core competitiveness. As a
result, clients’ customized needs for products will be satisfied
with its industry-leading technology advantage and service
quality.
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Review of aroma raw materials business

For the year ended 31 March 2018, sales revenue of the aroma
raw materials segment reached RMB597 million, representing an
increase of 35.8% from the last financial year. Operating profit of
the segment reached RMB144 million, representing an increase of
approximately 103.0% from RMB70.87 million for the last financial
year. The EBIT margin of the segment was approximately 24.1%,
representing an increase of 8.0 percentage points as compared to
approximately 16.1% for the last financial year. The increase of the
sales revenue and operating profit of this segment are mainly due to
the launch of new products to the market and the increase of price of
some products.

With the development of downstream industries such as food,
beverages and fragrances, the aromatic raw materials industry had
developed steadily, and domestic and foreign markets had gradually
grown. At the same time, the country enhanced its supervision to
the environmental protection and safety production which forced the
supply-side reforms to bring rapid growth opportunities for leading
companies in the industry. During the reporting period, the business
of aroma raw materials segment of the Group continued to maintain
a good momentum of development, among which:

The significant improvement in the performance of Guangdong
Zhaoging was mainly due to the continuous reduction of industry
inventories caused by the continuous accidents of certain enterprises
in the industry, leading to the demand of products over supply and
the continuous rise in prices. As the capacity of the industry stabilized
again, Guangdong Zhaoging built up its brand actively, to retain its
client base in the domestic market, it also further expanded its sales
channels and reached overseas markets with good results.

Yancheng Chunzhu continues to consolidate its leading position in
the aroma materials industry, especially in the low-carbon ester aroma
materials. Through the development of a rich product line, large-
scale production, optimization on production processes, reduction of
production costs, maintenance of long-term and stable cooperative
relations with big clients abroad, Yancheng Chunzhu achieved
continuous business growth smoothly. Its “Chunzhu” brand was
recognized as China’s well-known trademark.
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“Chunzhu” brand recognized as China's well-known trademark
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Yongzhou Shanxiang made strategic adjustments during the reporting
period. As setting “guaranteeing production, seeking development”
as the goal and optimizing its product mix, it successfully turned losses
into profits. Its main products are litsea cubeba oil and natural citral.
The trail production of the newly built production line for natural
benzaldehyde commenced in October 2017. Further, new products
had been developed to improve the capacity utilization rate during the
reporting period, new sewage treatment system had been installed
to meet environmental protection requirements and a litsea cubeba
oil distillation workshop certified with Good Manufacturing Practice
(GMP) had also been established. In addition, Yongzhou Shanxiang
achieved breakthroughs in export business and signed long-term
cooperation agreements with an internationally-renowned company.

At present, the country’s requirements for environmental protection
and safe production have become more stringent and thereby
bringing adjustment opportunities to the aromatic raw materials
industry. Jiangxi Xianghai will build a comprehensive production
base for the aroma raw materials segment. On the one hand, it
will research and produce aroma raw materials products that have
a market gap, enrich the product line, increase the production
capacity to meet the under-capacity situation, create competitive
advantages and strengthen core competitiveness of the aroma
raw materials segment. The newly-built furanone production line
had entered trial production. On the other hand, by increasing
investment on environmental protection and adopting advanced
exhaust emission systems and sewage treatment systems, it will
establish a high standard and modernized base conforming to the
national environmental protection and safety policies, which will be
beneficial to the sustainable and stable development of the aroma
raw materials business.
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Review of innovative tobacco products business

For the year ended 31 March 2018, sales revenue of the innovative
tobacco products segment reached RMB222 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 18.3% from the last year. Operating loss
of the segment was RMB95.71 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 13.8% as compared to the operating loss of RMB111
million for the last financial year.

In 2017, VMR actively responded to changes in the market,
conducted new tobacco-oil innovations and R&D of open system
equipment, and endeavoured to enrich the production line. In terms
of market, in addition to the existing US market, VMR actively
expanded to overseas markets such as Europe. At the same time,
it integrated the structure of domestic suppliers and improved
product quality to enhance its core competitiveness. Faced with
the uncertainty of regulation and the fast-changing characteristics
of innovative tobacco products, VMR is now promoting financing
activity and hoping to inject fresh blood into its development.

Review of R&D

The Group attaches great importance to constantly enhancing
its capacity of R&D. During the financial year, the Group’s R&D
expense amounted to approximately RMB278 million, representing
an increase of 14.8% as compared to the last financial year. R&D
expense represented approximately 7.2% of sales revenue, such ratio
increased by 0.3 percentage point as compared to approximately
6.9% of the last financial year. Technology is an important part of
maintaining leadership in the industry, and the Group will continue to
increase investment in technology, equipment and basic research.

In terms of tobacco flavours, focused on the Group’s strategic
direction of “produce a high-quality cigarette”, we carried out a
number of related technology exploration and in-depth studies in
2017. There were 21 projects that involved understanding the impact
of the cultivation and picking of aroma raw materials on the quality
of fragrances; the optimization of traditional modern extraction
purification process; the efficacy and role of flavours and fragrances
products on different application carriers. We obtain data by using
modern analytical techniques to provide quantitative explanation of
the mechanism or possible causes of various phenomena.
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In terms of food flavours, Guangzhou Huabao Food Co., Ltd made
great breakthroughs in micro-encapsulation technology and aroma
analysis technology, and has developed highly competitive products
including savoury aromas, natural meat extracts, and natural plant
and vegetable extracts, Maillard reaction products, natural spices,
compound seasonings, etc. Its products are widely used in instant
rice (noodle) products, quick-frozen meat products, casual puffed
food, baked food, food and beverage condiment for catering
flavoring products, and nutritional health food and other food fields.
Huabao Kongque applied for 5 patents for inventions, including
natural flavours extracted from plants, enzymolysis technology for
the preparation of banana flavours, antifreeze emulsified flavours,
penicillin infiltration powder flavours and walnut oil microcapsule
powder flavours.

In terms of fragrances, Xiamen Amber’s “Research and Development
and Production of Deep Processing Technology of Patchouli Oil”
project was successfully accepted by the Tongan Science and
Technology Bureau, and the research project “Analysis, Research and
Application Configuration of Lavender Qil” was successfully accepted
by the Municipal Intellectual Property Office in December 2017. At
the same time, Xiamen Amber participated in the drafting of the
industry standard of “Natural Plants Incense and Herbal Aroma”.
Xiamen Amber newly applied for 11 patents in 2017, including 1
invention patent and 10 innovative utility patents, and 5 innovative
utility patents were authorized in November.

In terms of RTL, Guangdong Jinye’s R&D project “Moisturizing Fillers
R&D Based on Hygroscopic Synchronism and Their Applications in
RTL" won the third prize of Science and Technology Progress Award
of China National Tobacco Corporation. Guangdong lJinye also
participated in the key laboratory project of the industry “Dry Process
of RTL Forming that Increase the Retention Rate of Solid Fragrances
and the Research of Coating Process”.

In terms of new tobacco materials, the Group carried out micro-
innovation based on the existing products and upgrade their forms
and shapes to bring new selling points to the original products. At
the same time, the Group introduced new technologies and materials
in pharmaceutical and food industries to the tobacco industry to
develop cross-industry integration.
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new products of flavour capsule

FRIKENEE R

In terms of aroma raw materials, Guangdong Zhaoging passed the
certification of Guangdong Provincial Enterprise Technology Center
in July 2017, it obtained the re-affirmation of the famous trademark
of Guangdong Province. It passed the recognition of the Municipal
Engineering Research Center of Zhaoging City in September 2017.
On aspect of technology R&D, Guangdong Zhaoging passed 4
projects such as the R&D of the formula optimization technology
of pure fragrance ethyl maltol, the R&D of ethyl maltol purification
process optimization technology, and R&D of methanol preparation
process recycled from by-production methyl chloride of ethyl maltol
chlorination process and R&D of high-purity « -ethylfuran methanol
synthesis process.

During the reporting period, the R&D team filed a total of 45 new
patent applications in regards to the invention, utility innovation and
appearance design, and was granted with 28 patents which had been
previously applied, including 7 invention patents, 21 utility innovation
patents.
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Some of the major patents granted include:

A smoke water capsule using water and hydrophilic substance
as a core material and its preparation method

A functional paper core for filter plugs

A linear compound gel aroma slow-release filter rod and its
preparation method and use

A ternary composite filter rod that rotates to select aroma

A preparation method and application of purified Pu’er tea oil
that contains Viscum articulatum aroma components

A water-soluble flavour and its preparation method
A geranyl acetone slow-released material preparation method

A carbon material with good slow-release performance to
anisole spice

A catalyst that helps toluene oxide to benzaldehyde directly and
its preparation method

A chemical production reactor with temperature regulation

A reactor suitable for discharging colloidal reactants
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Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction

As at 31 March 2018, the Group employed 2,323 employees (31
March 2017: approximately 2,200 employees) in the PRC, Hong
Kong, Germany, U.S., Botswana and Korea. The labour costs for
the year (including pension and mandatory provident fund, etc.)
amounted to RMB423 million, representing a decrease of RMB13
million from RMB436 million of the last financial year. The decrease
in the labour costs was primarily attributable to the refinement of
employee structure.

2017 was an important year for the Group to take a leap in its
strategies and management. During the year, under the guidance
and support of the Group’'s management and with the cooperation
of every department and the unremitting efforts of the staffs, the
human resources department has closely followed the Group’s annual
business objectives to strengthen management, optimize systems,
enhance work efficiency and lower cost. Also, solid work has been
made in the implementation of policies, management improvement,
personnel optimization and supervision implementation.

The Group has established a comprehensive mechanism for
recruitment and used diversified recruitment forms to optimise
talents’ quality and minimise costs associated with recruitment.
According to the Group’s strategy and development plan, human
resources system and procedures have been improving continuously
to ensure the orderly execution of human resources affairs.

The Group adheres to the values of “People Matter Most” and strives
to build a solid and passionate team of employees, encourages and
guides employees to become planners and masters of their careers
to create a better future. The Group also encourages employees
to take the vision of “leader to a better life” and adheres to the
entrepreneurial spirit of “innovation, pragmatism, loyalty and
collaboration”. Through the implementation of diverse cultural
activities, ongoing public welfare projects and the establishment of
charitable funds, the Group aims to consistently facilitate progress in
education and the environment to win the society’s trust and make
sustainable development.

Outlook

Under China’s renaissance, the Group will grasp the triple
opportunities of China’s consumer market, focus on the taste-based
fast-moving consumer products industry, and take “Concentric
Diversification based on Consumer Demand” as its strategic goal to
strive to become the world’s leading taste-based consumer products
investment holding group.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31 March 2018
Sales revenue

The Group's sales revenue amounted to RMB3,848,626,000
for the year ended 31 March 2018, representing an increase of
approximately 10.5% as compared with RMB3,482,894,000 for the
last financial year. The sales revenue increased mainly due to the
increase in sales revenue of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw
materials and aroma raw materials as compared to last year. For
the year ended 31 March 2018, sales revenue from flavours and
fragrances reached RMB2,215,135,000, contributing approximately
57.6% of total sales revenue; sales revenue from tobacco raw
materials reached RMB815,023,000, contributing approximately
21.2% of total sales revenue; sales revenue from aroma raw materials
reached RMB596,965,000, contributing approximately 15.5% of
total sales revenue; sales revenue from innovative tobacco products
reached RMB221,503,000, contributing approximately 5.7% of total
sales revenue.

Cost of goods sold

The Group's cost of goods sold amounted to RMB1,262,097,000
for the year ended 31 March 2018, representing an increase of
approximately 4.1% as compared with RMB1,212,071,000 for the
last financial year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group increased from RMB2,270,823,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2017 to RMB2,586,529,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2018, representing an increase of approximately
13.9%; gross profit margin was 67.2%, representing an increase
of 2.0 percentage points from 65.2% of the last financial year. The
increase in gross profit margin was mainly attributable to the gross
profit margin of flavours and fragrances, aroma raw materials and
tobacco raw materials increased comparing to last year which caused
the composite gross profit margin increased.
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Other income and other gains — net

Other income and other gains (net) of the Group was
RMB194,462,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018, representing
a decrease of RMB45,064,000 as compared with RMB239,526,000
for the last financial year. The decrease in other income and other
gains was mainly because there were transfer of reserves to income
statement upon disposal of available-for-sale financial assets and
changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss last year but there was no such income this year.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group mainly comprised of
travelling expenses, transportation costs, advertising and promotion
expenses, salaries and office expenses. The selling and marketing
expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 were
RMB219,995,000, representing a decrease of approximately 13.9%
as compared with RMB255,589,000 for the last financial year. Selling
and marketing expenses to total sales revenue for the year ended
31 March 2018 amounted to approximately 5.7%, representing a
decrease of 1.6 percentage points as compared with 7.3% for the
last financial year. The decrease of such ratio was mainly attributable
to the effectiveness of the Group’s active control of expenses.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to RMB922,754,000
for the year ended 31 March 2018, which was slightly increased
by approximately 0.8% as compared with RMB915,238,000 for
the last financial year. The increase in administrative expenses was
mainly attributable to the provision for impairment of goodwill of
flavours and fragrances business (mainly from fragrances business) of
RMB36,578,000, and provision for impairment of other non-current
assets and other receivables of RMB44 million, which was partially
offset by the Group’s stringent control of administrative expenses.
Administrative expenses to total sales revenue during the current
financial year amounted to approximately 24.0%, representing a
decrease of approximately 2.3 percentage points as compared with
26.3% for the last financial year. The decrease of such ratio was
mainly due to the Group's stringent control of expenses.
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Operating profit

Operating profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018
was RMB1,638,242,000, representing an increase of approximately
22.3% as compared with RMB1,339,522,000 for the last financial
year, while the operating profit margin increased by 4.1 percentage
points from approximately 38.5% of the last financial year to
approximately 42.6% of the current financial year. The increase in
operating profit was mainly attributable to the Group’s business
growth and effective control of expenses.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018
was RMB349,687,000, representing an increase of approximately
18.7% as compared with RMB294,573,000 for the last financial
year. Income tax rate for the current year was approximately 20.0%,
which slightly decreased by approximately 0.9 percentage point as
compared with last financial year.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
was RMB1,263,797,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018,
representing an increase of approximately 18.6% as compared
with RMB1,065,424,000 for the last financial year. If the provision
for goodwill impairment of RMB54,144,000 and the provision
for impairment on other non-current assets and other receivable
of RMB44,000,000 (2017: provision for goodwill impairment
of RMB22,710,000 and spin-off related direct expenses of
RMB9,050,000) attributable to the equity holders of the Company
were excluded, adjusted profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company was RMB1,361,941,000, representing an increase of
24.1% as compared with the adjusted amount of RMB1,097,184,000
for last financial year.
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Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 March 2018, the net current asset value of the Group
was RMB8,961,234,000 (2017: RMB6,314,161,000). The Group
generates its working capital mainly through its operating activities
to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31 March 2018, the
Group's cash and bank balances amounted to RMB7,712,606,000
(2017: RMB4,901,955,000), over 80% of which was held in RMB.
In addition, the Group hold structured investment products of
RMB102,000,000 (2017: RMB111,000,000) which was classified as
available for sales financial assets.

Bank borrowings and debt ratio

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had bank borrowings of
RMB210,000,000 (2017: RMB75,500,000), all of which were due
within one year and unsecured loan. For the year ended 31 March
2018, the average annual interest rate of such unsecured loan was
4.25% (2017: 3.97%). As at 31 March 2018, the Group's debt
ratio (total borrowings, include current and non-current borrowings,
divided by total equity (excludes non-controlling interests)) was 1.9%,
representing a slight increase as compared with 0.8% as at 31 March
2017.

Investing activities

The Group's investing activities included the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and merger &
acquisition activities related to the strategical development strategies.
For the year ended 31 March 2018, the net cash used in investing
activities amounted to RMB376,763,000, mainly used for new
placement of short-term deposits and purchases of properties, plant
and equipment. For the year ended 31 March 2017, the net cash
used in investing activities amounted to RMB562,780,000.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the net cash generated from
financing activities amounted to RMB1,412,105,000, mainly
comprised of the net proceed from Huabao Flavours's initial public
offering of approximately RMB2,311,842,000, while the Company
paid cash dividends of RMB997,378,000 to shareholders during
current year. For the year ended 31 March 2017, the net cash
generated from financing activities amounted to RMB714,165,000.

EEEFWR DT

HEHEEFEANYBEER
RZZE—NF=ZA=+—HB AE£EHNRD
EF{E ARKS,961,234,0000 (=T —+4F:
AR®6,314,161,00070) c AEEF 2 FBKLE
¥BREECEE S HHEBREMBRA- R 2F
—N\F=ZA=Z=+—8 T%£BENRTEERFR
& A ANR®7,712,606,000t (ZE—+tF: AR
#4,901,955,0007T) * H A B #B80% & A A R
BE-IN AEERAZARIEERS R
BAR®102,000,000 (ZFE—tF: AR
111,000,00070) ' D EAAHEHESRMEES R -

RITEFREBHE

RZZE—N\F=ZA=+—HB FEENRITEER
A ARM®210,000,0000T (ZE—tF: AR
75,500,0007T) + &R —FREHEE B2HA
ERBEER -BE_T - \F=ZA=1+—HLFE"
REEBEETNTEEFEEAELE (ZF—+F:
397E) R -_BE—N\F=ZA=+—H K&EB 8B
Ebx (BEB (RERBRIERBE) R ABE
W NE ISR ) B1.9% LT —+tF=A
=+—HM0.8%RMK LFt-

REZE

REBMEETHFTEREREDE  BESRERE:
© B E IR A TSRS 1 B R SRS A B A R BB SR Ot
EEHE_ZT - N\F-AZt+—HALFE KE
EBFTAME S FEAARYK376,763,000 =2
AR EHATHTRREARTEES - MBE
Tt A=t BUEFE - REFHHAN
IR & 558 A ARK562,780,0007T °

AEEE

HE-Z-\F=ZA=+—HLEFE KAEEHE
EEFTEAMIR S FEAARK,412,105,0007T
TEOREERNDERNAABITHASFEARE
2,311,842,0007T : RARBIRAFERRED
#HAR997,378,000t 2 e B -MEEZ-F
—tF=ZA=+—BHLFE BREFHNEENE
®FBAEARKT14,165,0007T °



30 Huabao International Holdings Limited FEEBREIERAR AT

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DN

Trade receivables turnover period

Trade receivable turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade receivables as at the beginning and end
of a relevant financial year divided by the total sales revenue for
the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with the customers. For the year ended 31
March 2018, the Group's average trade receivables turnover period
was 99 days, remaining stable as compared with 97 days for the last
financial year ended 31 March 2017.

Trade payables turnover period

Trade payable turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade payables as at the beginning and at the
end of a relevant financial year divided by the cost of goods sold for
the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit periods
granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days. For the
year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s average trade payables
turnover period was 91 days, remaining stable as compared with 89
days for the last financial year ended 31 March 2017.

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's inventory balance amounted to
RMB766,005,000 (2017: RMB693,490,000). For the year ended 31
March 2018, the inventory turnover period (calculated on the basis
of the average amount of inventory balances as at the beginning and
end of a relevant financial year divided by the total cost of goods sold
for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days) was 208
days, similar to that of 206 days for the last financial year.

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the sales revenue is denominated in RMB, with
the exception of only a certain amount of imported raw materials and
equipment which are denominated in foreign currency such as USD
or EUR. The Group’s bank deposits are mainly denominated in HKD,
USD and RMB. Management concurs the views of the People’s Bank
of China on the RMB exchange rate, that is, the RMB exchange rate
has the capability to continuously remain basically stable within a
reasonable range of equilibrium.
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Pledge of assets
As at 31 March 2018, the Group had no pledged assets.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of the purchases of property, plant, equipment, available-
for-sales financial assets and investment in an associate, contracted
for but not provided in the financial statements amounting to
approximately RMB259,877,000 (2017: RMB149,329,000), which
was mainly investment in domestic and overseas funds amounted to
RMB133,099,000.

Contingent liabilities

Based on the information available to the Board, the Group had no
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2018.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS #1{TE =

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 48, the Chairwoman of the Board, CEO, Executive Director
and the chairwoman of Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Chu has been
a member of the Board since March 2004. Ms. Chu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu
(Executive Director of the Company). Ms. Chu is also a director of the Company's
principal subsidiaries marked with “C1" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. Ms. Chu has extensive experience in formulating strategies
and making executive decisions on business operation, investments and market
development. She was a member of the Fourth and Fifth Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong province). Ms. Chu,
through the corporations controlled by her, is the beneficial owner of shares of the
Company as set out in page 78 headed under Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures.

AMEZL 485 ARAEBREEEF BRHUTE PTEERREZBEIF 8=
EENF-AREFESFERE KL EIAMBEFTEE(RARFRTES) 28R K
TETRHERNGEAPBRERMEIMDBE [ FRZARBEIEZMBEARNESE K
TIHACLELE RERTHRRZEBHELNRRITA 2EELR - REEMES
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A ERBBARRRG  FHRCHNEBEFTERESF VKRG HERO RES 2 #

Mr. XIA Li Qun, aged 51, an Executive Director, Vice Chairman and a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xia has been a member of the Board
since September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a director of the Company's principal subsidiaries
marked with “X1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with
“X2" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Xia holds a
Bachelor’s degree in economics and is a certified accountant, certified tax specialist
and certified appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over 20 years of financial and corporate
management experience. He previously worked in domestic accounting firms in China
and was a senior management member of a foreign invested enterprise in China. Mr.
Xia is currently the honorary chairman of the Food Additives and Ingredients Association
in Shanghai City.

EAN#ELE S15 ARARTEF REREAFMEZBERE A-_TTNFLAL
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Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 55, an Executive Director, Vice President and the
Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Poon has been a member of the Board since
March 2004. Mr. Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the University
of London. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in laws, a Bachelor's degree in business studies
and a Master’s degree in international accounting. He is a fellow of CPA Australia, The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and a member of its Technical Consultation Panel, China Focus
Group, Audit Committee and Professional Development Committee and a fellow
member and an associate instructor of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute. Mr. Poon has years of experience in compliance, corporate finance and listed
companies management.
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Mr. XIONG Qing, aged 41, an Executive Director, CFO and Vice President of the
Company, joined the Group since May 2007. Mr. Xiong is also a director of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “XQ1" and the legal representative of
those companies marked with “XQ2" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements. Mr. Xiong majored in international accounting from Tsinghua University
School of Economics and Management, and graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in
economics. Mr. Xiong is also an Executive Master of Business Administration degree
holder of European Institute of Business Administration (INSEAD in France). Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Xiong worked in several international investment banks for
years. He has extensive experiences with Chinese enterprises and international capital
market.
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Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 25, an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lam has been a
member of the Board since November 2013. Mr. Lam is the son of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
(the Chairwoman of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder of
the Company). Mr. Lam is also a director of the Company's principal subsidiaries marked
with “L1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with “L2" as set out
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Lam educated in the United
Kingdom and the United States of America. For corporate management experiences,
Mr. Lam is currently a managing director and legal representative of a private company,
which is engaged in e-commerce business in China. He previously served as a director
and the general manager of a company which is engaged in advertising media business
in China and he was a director of a non-profit foundation in China.
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Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 60, an Independent Non-executive Director, the chairman
of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has been a member of the Board
since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in commercial
accounting and corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in corporate
finance and regulatory aspects in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was an assistant
vice president of the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange, and his duties included
regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong listed companies in relation to their
compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new listing applications. He also
served as a senior consultant of an investment bank for more than 5 years.

FHEREE 605 AARBIUNFNTES ELZECNFMEZESIRAREREER
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Ms. MA Yun Yan, aged 57, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms. Ma
has been a member of the Board since September 2004. Ms. Ma graduated from the
Law School of Peking University in 1984 and obtained qualification as a lawyer in China
in 1986. She is the senior Partner of Shu Jin Law Firm. Ms. Ma is currently a member
of the Ninth Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (she was a member of its
Fourth and Eighth Committee), an independent non-executive director of Shenzhen
Techand Ecology & Environment Co., Limited and Jiangsu Nata Opto-Electronic Material
Company Limited (both are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange). From August 2009
to August 2011, she was a member of the Growth Enterprises Board Public Offering
Review Committee of China Securities Regulatory Committee. She has been dedicated
to teaching and doing research in the Law School in relation to international commerce
and investment aspects for 10 years. She has years of experience in the legal field in
relation to the capital markets, including investment, merger and acquisition, issuance
of securities, etc., and has lead-managed the issuance of shares and convertible bonds
and major restructuring of numerous companies listed in PRC and Hong Kong.
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Dr. DING Ningning, aged 70, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of both of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr.
Ding has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Dr. Ding graduated from
Tsinghua University with a Bachelor's degree in electrical engineering, and graduated
from the Party School of the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China in
its first doctorate course in economics. Dr. Ding is currently an independent supervisor
of PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange), a
researcher of the Social Development Research Department of the Development
Research Center ("DRC") of the State Council of the PRC, an executive director of
the China International Association for Urban and Rural Development. He has been
conducting research at the DRC for over 30 years since 1982, and he was a director
of the Enterprise Economic Research Department of the DRC from 1993 to 1998 and
a director of the Social Development Research Department of the DRC from 1998 to
2008. Dr. Ding was a member of the Listed Company Supervisory Committee of China
Securities Regulatory Commission.
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Mr. WU Chi Keung, aged 61, an Independent Non-executive Director and a member of
both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Wu
has been a member of the Board since August 2013. Mr. Wu is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu has over 30 years
of experience in financial audit, corporate restructuring and merger and acquisitions. He
was a partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu until he retired in December 2008.
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Ms. YUAN Xiao Qin, aged 49, a president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group since
August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries marked with
“YX1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with “YX2" as set out
in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Yuan holds an MBA degree
and is a qualified engineer. Before joining the Group, Ms. Yuan served as executive in a
Hong Kong listed state-owned enterprise. She has over 20 years of experience in senior
management position. Ms. Yuan is currently the deputy director of China Association
of Fragrance Flavour and Cosmetic Industries, deputy director of China Association
of Bakery & Confectionery Industry, chairman of the Food Additives and Ingredients
Industry Association in Shanghai City and consultant of the Federation of Industry
and Commerce in Chaoyang District, Shantou City. She was a representative of the
People’s Congress in Shantou City, Guangdong Province and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Chaoyang
District, Shantou City.

RHELLT 495 EEERLH AT NEN\AENMAREEB -RLZ T HEHN
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Mr. CHOY Man Fai, aged 54, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group
since August 2006, responsible for marketing and sales of tobacco flavours. Mr. Choy is
also a director of the company’s subsidiaries marked “FC1" and the legal representative
of those companies marked “FC2" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements. He holds a diploma of applied chemical technology of Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Choy served as a marketing manager in a number of world
renowned flavours and fragrances companies. Mr. Choy has over 20 years of experience
in flavours and fragrances marketing and management.

BUBAEE BT EFERRAAE BT AFNAARNALRER BEER
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Mr. SONG Jun He, aged 49, a director and vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined
the Group since August 2006. Mr. Song is also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries
marked with “SJ1” and the legal representative of those companies marked with “SJ2"
as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Song graduated from
Anhui University and holds a Bachelor’s degree in analytical chemistry. Before joining
the Group, Mr. Song was a board member of a large domestic chemical enterprise.
He has comprehensive management experience in R&D and production in the field of
chemical industry.

REFELE 40K REEREEREAN A-FTAFE\ARMASEE KL
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Mr. CHEN Cong, aged 36 - vice president, chief financial officer and board secretary
of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group since January 2013. Mr. Chen is also a director
of the Company's subsidiaries marked with “CC1" as set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Chen graduated from Tsinghua University with
a Master’s degree in finance. Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked in a leading
domestic investment bank for several years. He has extensive experiences in the field of
capital operation.
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Mr. ZHANG Zi Heng, aged 40, a director of Huabao Flavours and the president of
Tobacco Raw Materials Division of the Group, joined the Group since July 1999. Mr.
Zhang is also a director of the Company's subsidiaries marked with “ZH1" and the legal
representative of those companies marked with “ZH2" as set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Zhang graduated from East China University of
Science and Technology and holds a Bachelor’s degree in applied chemistry (industry of
fine chemistry). Mr. Zhang joined the Group after graduation, and he has served in the
production, management and purchasing departments of the Group. He has extensive
experiences in the field of corporate management. Mr. Zhang is currently a committee
member of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in Chaoyang District,
Shantou City and a vice chairman of the Federation of Industry and Commerce in
Chaoyang District, Shantou City.
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Mr. ZHAO De Xu, aged 41, the president of Innovative Tobacco Products Division of
the Group, joined the Group since February 2015. Mr. Zhao is also a director of the
Company'’s subsidiaries marked with “DX1" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. Mr. Zhao graduated from The Brandenburg University of
Technology in Germany and holds a Master degree in information technology. He
worked in Germany for more than 10 years. Mr. Zhao was selected as a member
of China’s “Thousand Talents Plan” of Xinjiang Project and as an overseas high-
level talent of Jiangsu Province. He was named the “2012 China’s most valuable
CIO" and one project he participated was awarded the “First Class Award of Nanjing
Enterprise Management Modernization Innovation Achievements”. Before joining the
Group, Mr. Zhao held executive position in a large diversified holding group. He has
extensive experiences in the fields of corporate management, strategic and information
management.
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Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 70, the chief flavourist of Huabao Flavours and general
manager of Aromascape Development Centre in Germany, joined the Group since
February 2007. Mr. Davies is also a director of the Company’s subsidiaries marked with
“AD1" as set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Davies holds
a Higher National Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of Technology, United
Kingdom. Mr. Davies served as a senior flavourist in charge of creation and applications
in a number of world renowned flavours and fragrances companies and tobacco factory,
including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco and Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 35 years
of experience in tobacco flavours.

Alan DAVIESSt 4 - 7057  EE B EF AERD - 2B Aromascapelffi B 0 MR LF IR - B
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Mr. LUO Jing, aged 39, a vice president and chief human resources officer of the
Company. Mr. LUO graduated from the Department of International Politics at Fudan
University with a Bachelor's Degree in Law, and then obtained a Master's Degree in
Management from University of Leeds. Mr. LUO also holds a senior human resources
management qualification. Prior to joining the Group, he held the position of chief
human resources officer and some other senior management positions in number
of large group companies, as well as accumulated rich management and consulting
experiences in enterprises human resources planning and organizational strategic
development.
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Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize
the profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders
while taking into account the interest of other legitimate stakeholders
(UK Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognizes the importance and
benefits of good corporate governance practices and has adopted
certain corporate governance and disclosure practices aiming at
a high level of transparency and accountability. The Company is
committed to continuously improving its corporate governance
practices as part of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the reporting period, the Company had complied with
the code provisions in the CG Code and, where appropriate, adopted
the recommended best practice as set out in the code provisions,
except for code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1:

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, Chairwoman of the Board and
Executive Director of the Company, took up the position of CEO
starting from 9 April 2013. As the Board meets regularly to consider
matters relating to business operations of the Group, the Board is of
the view that the above arrangement will not impair the balance of
power and authority of the Board and the executive management.
The effectiveness of corporate planning and implementation of
corporate strategies and decisions will generally not be affected.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
INEDs of the Company were not appointed for a specific term as
they are subject to retirement by rotation no later than the third
annual general meeting of the Company since their last appointment
or re-election and are eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Company's bye-laws. As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those set out in the
CG Code.
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Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code but about promoting and
developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The Directors
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve the current
practices of the Company on the basis of the experience and
regulatory changes to enhance the confidence of shareholders of
the Company, and to safeguard shareholders’ interest for assuring
healthy business developments.

Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
in information required to be disclosed by directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) between 21 November
2017 (being the date of approval of the Company’s 2017/18 interim
report) and 20 June 2018 (being the date of approval of this Annual
report) of the Company are set out below:

1. Mr. POON Chiu Kwok was appointed as non-executive director
for Chong Kin Group Holdings Limited (listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange) (with effect from 5 January 2018 and
resigned on 6 June 2018).

THE BOARD
Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. The Board comprises five
Executive Directors and four INEDs. The members of the Board are as
follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairwoman and CEO)

Mr. XIA Li Qun (Vice Chairman)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)
Mr. XIONG Qing (CFO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. MA Yun Yan

Dr. DING Ningning

Mr. WU Chi Keung

-
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There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between any members of the Board, except
for Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (both are
Executive Directors of the Company). Biographies of the Directors
are set out on pages 32 to 36 of this annual report. The present
Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications in aspects of
production and operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and regulatory both in Hong Kong and China. Two out of four
INEDs possess recognized professional qualification in accounting.
The INEDs bring independent judgment, professional knowledge and
experience appropriate for the Board's deliberations. All Directors
have relevant qualifications in relevant field of expertise and have
exhibited personal and professional ethics and integrity. The diversity
of experiences and backgrounds enables the Board to enhance better
corporate governance and performance standard and to bring in
valuable contributions and objective advices for the development of
the Group’s businesses.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-
third of the Board, with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate qualification, or accounting or related
financial management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of
the Listing Rules). The Company has received, from each of the
INEDs, an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board has assessed their independence
and concluded that all the INEDs are considered to be independent
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Chairwoman and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the Chairwoman of the Board (responsible
for the management of Board’s operation and development of the
Group's strategic planning) and Executive Director of the Company.
She took up the position of CEO (responsible for important
management and business decisions making of the Group) since 9
April 2013. Ms. Chu has extensive experience in business operation
and strategic planning. The Board believes that Ms. Chu, by taking up
the roles of the Chairwoman and CEO concurrently, is beneficial to
the business development and management of the Group.
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Mr. XIA Li Qun as Vice Chairman, is responsible for the daily
operational management of the Group and report to the CEO directly.
With the support of Mr. XIA Li Qun as the Vice Chairman, Mr. XIONG
Qing as the Chief Financial Officer, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok as the
Company Secretary, and the Qualified Accountant, the Chairwoman
shall ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at board meetings and receive adequate, complete, reliable and
timely information for making decisions. Apart from the above, the
Chairwoman is also responsible for the duties as specified in code
provisions A.2.4 to A.2.9 of the CG Code.

Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profitability
of the Company and to safeguard and enhance long-term value of
the Company for the shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes
the responsibilities for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic development direction, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. All new board
members have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the Board. All
Directors have been provided with regular trainings by external
experienced lawyers to update and refresh the applicable legal and
other regulatory requirements and enhance the knowledge and skills
required by directors to perform their duties.

The Board, led by the Chairwoman, is collectively responsible for
formulating and approving the business strategies of the Company,
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance and
assessing the effectiveness of management strategies.

The Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s operations and conduct meetings
with senior management of the Group at which operational issues
and financial performance are evaluated.
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The bye-laws of the Company set out the responsibilities and
proceedings of the Board. Significant operational policies have to be
discussed and approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to meet
their obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in place
with clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and senior management of the Company in respect of legal
action that may be brought against them in the course of execution
of their duties in good faith.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly basis to
discuss strategies and business issues, including financial performance
of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at the physical
meetings are set out on page 62 of this annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board
at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the Director can put
forward his/her proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and the
relevant board papers are then circulated to the Directors at least 3
days before a board meeting is convened to enable them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all Directors and the relevant board committee
members respectively for their review and comments before
finalization. The final version of such minutes will be kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.
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Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary/Legal Department and Compliance Department
of the Company with a view to ensuing that board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Directors are able
to seek independent professional advice as and when required at the
Company's expense. INEDs are encouraged to take an active role in
board meetings and serve on the sub-board committees.

During the reporting period, the Chairwoman has held a meeting
with the INEDs without the presence of Executive Directors.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall, in accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company,
retire from office by rotation no later than the third AGM of the
Company since their last appointment or re-election and are eligible
for re-election.

Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company has
received their written confirmations that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
reporting period. Full details of the Directors’ interests in the Shares
are set out on page 78 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit to a director or member of senior management
of the Company. The Board has formulated specific rules and
policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient operation
of the Company and is supported by three committees which are
the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will report
their findings and make recommendations to the Board after each
meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE
Luk Shiu (the chairman of Remuneration Committee), Ms. MA Yun
Yan, Mr. WU Chi Keung, and one Executive Director, Mr. XIA Li Qun.

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to
matters relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and
senior management. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was published on the Company’'s website at
www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
website at www.hkexnews.hk. In discharging its responsibilities, the
Remuneration Committee has performed the following works:

o To review and make recommendations on the Company's
policies and structure for the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and senior management;

o To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
by reference to market conditions, performance of the Group
and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as set by
the Board from time to time, and make recommendations on
the remuneration of the INEDs for the Board's approval; and

o To review and evaluate the Company'’s share option scheme.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the year ended 31 March 2018,
the Remuneration Committee met once to review the emolument
packages of the Directors and senior management. The individual
attendance of Remuneration Committee members at meetings is
set out on page 62 of this annual report. Details of the emolument
of the Directors are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements while details of the New Share Option Scheme and the
Share Options granted under the 2006 Share Option Scheme to the
Directors and senior management are set out on pages 73 to 76 of
this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises four INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk
Shiu (the chairman of Audit Committee), Ms. MA Yun Yan, Dr. DING
Ningning and Mr. WU Chi Keung.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,
particularly by providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls and, to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out in the terms of reference
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code as delegated by the
Board.

performed the following work:

In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has

o To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

. To review the effectiveness of the Group's financial controls,
corporate governance, internal controls and risk management
systems;

staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget

o To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources,

of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial

reporting functions;

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;

.
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o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

o To review and monitoring the Company's policies and practices
on compliance with corporate governance and other legal and
regulatory requirements, and to report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendation.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee was published on the
Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange's website at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss accounting issues, and reviews the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems. During the year
ended 31 March 2018, the Audit Committee met twice for reviewing
the financial reports for 2016/2017 audited annual results and
2017/2018 interim results (including the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and the contents disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report) and the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal controls system. The individual attendance
of Audit Committee members at meetings is set out on page 62 of
this annual report. Members of the Audit Committee were satisfied
with the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
and the financial reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
audited annual results for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises an Executive Director, Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu (the chairwoman of Nomination Committee) and two INEDs,
namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu and Dr. DING Ningning.
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The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy for the Board’s consideration and
implementing the Board’s approved nomination policy, considering
the development targets and strategies of the Company and
the skills mix needed in respect of the Board, and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee was published on the Company’s website
at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk. In discharging its responsibilities, the
Nomination Committee has performed the following work:

o To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
diversity of Board members, and make any proposed changes to
the Board according to the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To consider the development targets and strategies of the
Company and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board, and
make recommendations to the Board;

o To assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report;

o To review the time required from a Director to perform his/her
responsibilities; and

o To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy in September 2013
(the "Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the board by considering a number of factors and measurable
objectives, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional skills, knowledge, experience
and length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range
and balance of talents, skills, experience and background of the
Board. Appointments of Board members shall be based on merit, and
candidates will be assessed based on objective criteria. The Company
will also take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will monitor the implementation of the Policy; review the Policy from
time to time, as appropriate; report to the Board on their decisions
or propose recommendations on any amendments for the Board's
review and approval, to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.
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During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Nomination Committee
met once for reviewing the board structure, the diversity of
Board members and the commitment of Directors and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that the composition of the Board is well balanced
and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational background,
professional skills and experience. It meets with the needs of the
business operations and development of the Group. The Board
is of the view that every Director has dedicated sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. Each Director had
disclosed to the Company at the time of his/her appointment of
the directorships held in other listed companies or nature of offices
held in public organizations and other significant commitments.
The Company has also requested Directors to provide in a timely
manner any change in such information. The individual attendance of
Nomination Committee members at meetings is set out on page 62
of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The internal control
system is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and ensuring compliance with relevant
legislation and regulation. The internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The internal control system (embedded in the
operations of the Company and forms part of the Company’s culture)
includes:

. effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

o capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business
arising from factors within the company and to the change in
business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate management levels regarding any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and

o compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure and Risk Management

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines of
authority.

The Company has set out Internal Audit Department with scope of
works advised by the Audit Committee.

The Legal Department and Compliance Department is led by
experienced professional legal staff, together with Compliance
Department and other business functions (including Internal Audit
Department) of the Group, monitor and assess risk regularly, boost
related management standards and evaluate investment projects. The
Company has engaged a reputable law firm, Herbert Smith Freehills,
as its annual retainer counsel for provision of legal advice relating to
compliance of Listing Rules and regulatory requirements.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements budget management and the financial budget
is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant procedures have
been established to assess, review and approve major capital and
recurring expenditures, and regular review and make comparison
between operating results and the budget.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures
to ensure accurate and complete accounting and management
records are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried
out regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly
prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group's accounting policies and the applicable laws
and regulations.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the reporting period, the Internal Audit Department had
carried out an annual review on the internal control system including
financial, operational and compliance control, and risk management
functions. The review adopts a risk-based approach to create and
review the effectiveness of an internal control system and includes
the following works:

(i)  To follow up the enhancement progress in response to the
previous recommendations from an external independent
expert in respect of internal control system;

(i) To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group under the principles
set out by The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Committee (“COSO") covering major control aspects;

(iii)  To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group on a
selective basis pursuant to the principles of COSO; and

(iv) To design and review the questionnaires on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems submitted by
thehead offices of the Group, subsidiaries, business sectors of
the Company.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and internal
control policies and procedures to safeguard the Group's assets, to
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and reliability of
financial information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company received
the information about local, market and the competitors’ dynamic
movements each week and their understanding of the risk
assessment is enhanced through the on-the-job training and regular
senior management meetings, at which they discuss cases of the
potential risk management.
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Identification, assessment and management:

The head of each department such as the Investment
Department, Finance Department and the Board of the
Company will inform and report to the relevant Directors
regarding the factors that have impact on the profit and price
based on the nature of business and their own experience.
During the course of execution, the concerned project teams of
the Company will handle relevant documents and report to the
relevant personnel (including the Directors).

As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules, the Compliance Department will present the issues to
the Board for review and discussion, and the Legal Department
and Compliance Department will inform relevant members of
the project team that dealing in the shares of the Company is
prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

Generally, the price sensitive information forms regarding the
daily operation and connected transactions of the Company will
be circulated to relevant departments at the beginning of every
month by the Finance Department, and the Finance Department
will combine and submit the forms to the Compliance
Department for overall review in the middle of each month,
ensuring that there are no material omissions. The Legal
Department and Compliance Department will also confirm with
the Compliance Department for any material contracts.

During the reporting period, Internal Audit Department has presented

its review report and make recommendations to the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee has discussed with the management
and reported the progress of the work plan and related findings,

particularly those related to new members of the Group to the Board
at board meeting.
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Measures to further enhance Internal Control Systems and
Corporate Governance practices

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
the purpose of reinforcing the Group's internal control system, the
Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees to raise concerns, in a confidential manner, with the
Audit Committee about possible irregularities in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters related to the Company. The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant policy and system
regularly.

The Directors has strengthened corporate governance practices,
including execution of the internal reporting policy throughout the
Group in monitoring the operation and business developments of the
Company so as to capture potentially price-sensitive information on
an on-going basis, monitoring the continuing disclosure obligation.
The Board has further strengthened corporate governance practices
by establishing lending policy to monitor its credit level. In addition,
the annual retainer counsel of the Company has provided the
Directors (existing and new board members) and the relevant senior
executives with training on Listing Rules, regulatory requirements and
cases of enforcement at least twice a year.

During the Reporting Period, the Internal Audit Department of
the Company has carried out internal control audits in respect
of those risk areas, such as business operation, financial system,
project investment and management, corporate governance, etc.,
and also head offices, business sectors and certain subsidiaries
of the Group. The Internal Audit Department has reported to the
Directors in respect of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system and significant risks. The Board reviewed
and evaluated the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries by considering
reviews performed by the Audit Committee with the assistance of
the management team and Internal Audit Department and external
auditors.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and management
has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate (including the
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate) and have complied with the CG
Code provisions on risk management and internal control throughout
the reporting period and up to the date of this annual report.
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Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and provided the Company with their records of
training they received for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March
2018. Directors participated in the training which included reading
regulatory updates, attending seminars or conducting training
sessions and exchanging views.

Executive Directors HTES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu RMEL L
Mr. XIA Li Qun BREEEE
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok ERE AL
Mr. XIONG Qing AR S A
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FIEE
Ms. MA Yun Yan it = # 22 =
Dr. DING Ningning TEEFL
Mr. WU Chi Keung HHRR R T

Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President and
Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for assisting
the Board for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as ensuring that the Board’'s policy and procedures are followed
properly. The Company Secretary also provides professional advice
and services to the Board on corporate governance and other
matters. He is also responsible for organizing general meetings and
facilitating the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Mr. Poon has obtained over
15 hours of relevant professional training.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ Report and Remuneration

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements. The Auditors’ Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 87 to 88 of this annual report.

During the reporting period, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company's auditors (including statutory auditors of the subsidiaries)
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in relation to audit services and non-audit services provided to the JENZEAIZEAWT :
Group are as follows:
Nature of Services PR 7t & Amount
k|
(RMBO000)
(ARETFT)
Audit services ZE R
— for the audit of the Group — 5 EE: 4,588
— for the statutory and other audits of —FRAVETE R EAEMER
the subsidiaries 4,262
Non-audit services FEZ R 180

Please also refer to Note 23 to consolidated financial statement
set out on page 180 of this annual report for details of Auditors’
Remuneration.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares.
The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 March 2018 was
3,107,962,876. Details of share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 16 of Notes to the consolidated financial statements on page
169 of this annual report. Shareholders holding issued ordinary shares

of the Company were set out below:

IR R &R

Full details can
be found on
the following

T~

HERZEORNDEBART
—N\FZAZ+—H BETLERROEKE A
3,107,962,876 c A R AIE A FIBEH R A FRE

1698 47

BAEBREN N _F

EMBRMEMEI6N - FERATDET

BERZRRMT

Total number

Percentage

page of of issued of the issued
this report Shares held share capital
HAKRER aHEE HE &7
NTE# ERTRAHE = o
Category/Name BRI EB
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Nete D SRR 27 £ (D) Page 78 $£78E 2,287,578,900 73.60%
Directors of the Company RKRABIEZSE Page 78 £78E 3,720,000 0.12%
Substantial Shareholders Mot 2 3 Zj§ & (i) Page 80 %808 217,414,000 6.99%
2,508,712,900 80.71%
Public NN 599,249,976 19.29%
Total Xl 3,107,962,876 100.00%
Notes: BT
1. As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of 1. RETHAER TRAEREEARARRKRE £17
depositary receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder IR HTTEE30% (3 (R R - &t R R RE
of depositary receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control STRD THRATEHEEARNEAFAEZOMTHEA
the exercise of 30% (or such other amount as may from time to time B ) 30% A EREEOAL (BIEELESE
be specified in the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy- BA) i R
backs as being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) or
more of the voting power at general meeting of the Company; and
2. Pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, corporations and/or persons hold 2. BEEANMPEEDE3Z6HE CEMN/ IALEE

interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued share capital

of the Company.

KRR BHITRAS % IA RSSO E -




Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the bye-laws of the Company, shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of
the Company, to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business transaction specified in such requisition.

The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to the Board in
written form to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at least 21 days before the proposed date of the SGM.

The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists may themselves do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1982 of the laws of
Bermuda (as amended) (the “Companies Act”), but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the
said date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i) any number
of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth (5%) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the date of
the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to which the
requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders, may submit
to the Company a written request stating the resolution intended to
be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting.
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The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of the requisitionists, and must be
deposited at the Company's principal place of business in Hong
Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the general meeting in case of any other requisition. Provided that if
an AGM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a
director

Shareholders shall have right to propose a person for election
as a director at the Company’s general meeting. Please refer to
the detailed procedures for such right on the Company's website
www.huabao.com.hk.

Making enquires by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant information
of the Company according to the Bye-laws. Shareholders should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company's
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited.
Shareholders may also direct questions or requests for information
through the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk or by
contacting the Head of Investor Relations Department of the
Company (e-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk).

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s efforts
mentioned in the next section, the Board values the importance of
communications with the shareholders. The Company uses a range of
communications tools, such as AGM, annual report, various notices,
announcements and circulars, to ensure its shareholders are kept well
informed of key business imperatives.

The Company has maintained a website www.huabao.com.hk which
serves as a forum for corporate communication with its shareholders
and the general public. All corporate communications required under
the Listing Rules are displayed and can be achieved (for documents
published in the previous 7 years on the Company’'s website and
there is established procedure to ensure timely update in compliance
with the Listing Rules.
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Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ communication policy

The shareholders’ communication policy is available for viewing on
the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Meetings held during the reporting period

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’
rights, significant issues were dealt with under separate resolutions
at the general meeting, including the election and re-election of
individual Director. Details of general meeting(s) held during the
reporting period are summarized as follows:
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Meeting Date Venue Resolutions
=f B it B REBER
Annual general meeting 1 August 2017 Falcon Room, 1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements and

RRBAFAE Tt NA—H Gloucester Luk Kwok,
72 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
BREFELITETR

N 5 = AR

the reports of the directors and of the auditors for the year

ended 31 March 2017,

EEHE_T—+HF-A=T-HUIFELERHMBREL &
SRERZEMBE

To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2017
ERHEZZ—tF=A=T—HLEFENHRBRE:

To re-elect Directors and to authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations;

EREE URBEZSEERELME:

To re-appoint the auditors and to authorize the Board to fix
their remunerations; and

BEZEM YTREEESETAMNES X

To grant general mandates to buy back shares, to issue shares
and to exercise the buy-back mandate

RP—REBEARBRD  #TRORTERERE
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MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS Y Bg & ff

Details of the mergers and acquisitions of the Group carried out RIREHR AR FREAS BN AERE66
during the reporting period can be found on page 66 of this annual B °

report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS BEBREXS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company can AEBZFEHEIFFBIARAFRES1ES5
be found on pages 81 to 85 of this annual report. B

ATTENDANCE RECORD H 7 5 8%

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or through RE%EA?@EH:HHW%EE HEEREFGHRT AL
telephone conferences) at board regular meetings, meetings of board FEEe e EELZEBee3MBREAEHNEE
committees and general meetings during the reporting period are set ~ RFIFEFHINLAT ¢

out below:
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual
Regular Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
EzenHies ENEEEEE FHZERER REZz88eE RRBEAS
No. of meeting held BERE 4 2 1 1 1
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu KMERL 4/4 N/A i B N/A 7N ”n ”n
(Chairwoman and CEO) (TEFREEHTE)
Mr. XIA Li Qun (Vice Chairman) BRBEE (FERE) 414 N/A i A 11 N/A T g 17
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary) BRI %% (A A#E) 4/4 N/A T N/A RiE A N/A RiEA [l
Mr. XIONG Qing (CFO) REEE (BEEVKE) 4/4 N/A i 8 N/A T8 R N/A i@ il
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE 4/4 N/A iR N/A TEF N/A i ”n
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRKEE 4/4 212 111 ”n ”n
Ms. MA Yun Yan fii EF L 4/4 212 1”n N/A i 7
Dr. DING Ningning TEEEL 444 2 N/A 7 17 171
Mr. WU Chi Keung HEBEE 444 ) 17 N/A 7R 171
MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS RAMAEREE

During the reporting period, the Company did not make any RWEHA  KNAF 2 QA FMANLEIELT(HERT
amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws.



The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect to the
Company’s corporate mission and vision, development strategies,
competitive position in the industry and operating and financial
performance, so as to enable public investors to make informed
decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils the above-
mentioned through a designated Investor Relations Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Company abides by the basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS REVIEW

During the reporting period, the Company proactively communicated
with investors by multiple channels to ensure its vision, values,
development strategies, operation, financial position, competitive
landscape could be conveyed to shareholders and investors fairly,
accurately, and efficiently. The investor relations department was
responsible for taking on the work. During the reporting period, the
Company complied with HKEx's Listing Rules and did not selectively
provide material non-public information to any individuals.

. Detailed financial statements

The company attaches great importance to annual reports and
interim reports, put a lot of resources for preparation, and
treats it as one of the major communication bridges between
the company and investors. Through this approach, the latest
information of the Group is transmitted to investors in order
to convey the Group’'s comprehensive strategy, operating
principles, business and financial performance and future
prospects in a detailed and accurate manner.

o Annual General Meetings and Special General Meeting

It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future business
directions of the Company and on any resolutions to be
considered at the AGM and SGM. The Company’s Chairwoman
and the Audit Committee’s Chairman were present in person or
through telephone/video conferences and answered questions
raised at the AGM and SGM during the year.
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. Information Disclosure

During the reporting period, the Company actively
communicated with shareholders and investors in regard to
Huabao Flavours’ spin-off. The Company leveraged a range of
channels including announcements, phone calls and e-mails to
ensure the shareholders and investors informed of the latest
developments of the deal.

o E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations Website

The Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk contains
information such as important corporate data, biographical
details of Directors, organizational structure and press releases.
In addition, the Company also has professional investor
relations website (http://huabao.todayir.com/html/ir.php)
to publish interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars that enables the Company’'s Shareholders and
members of the investment community to have timely access to
the most updated information about the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk

Information for investors (as at 31 March 2018)
1. Huabao International Holdings Limited
Board Lot Size 1,000 shares

Number of shares issued 3,107,962,876 shares

approximately
HKD16.16 billion

Market capitalization
(based on the closing price of
HKD5.20 per share on
29 March 2018)

e FEEE
BEMA AEEROOF LT REBBR
F EBRE BOASHARBIPERREKRE
EFRB HROPEHLE EE 2EHT
RZBEZFHER-

e FEBATNRURBEEREEBFRBUENTE
FBE
A B 3 Awww.huabao.com.hk * 8 B &
EEEE EFRE ABEE QA
HEEE WIINKRAR MR EEEREEBE
#3 ufihttp://huabao.todayir.com/html/ir.php *
TP R EERE RERBRERFEE &

RAFREREEHBHERFIRISERBRAAR

ZEBEHER-

REEBARBS
MEEH EHE:
BE

B BB 18R

TIRES

3008%=
EFERRZERER QA
REEMER

T (852) 2877 8999
{EH : (852) 2511 8229
FH . ir@huabao.com.hk

REEZEBE (B2 \HF=A=1+—RH)
1. FEEEEBRBERAQA

BFEEEMURE 1,0004%
BEITROEE 3,107,962,876 /%

mE(LN=_ZE—N\F
ZAZ+ARAKTE
SR E®5.207T

A s
=T =
D+ e

#) B E161.6(ET




Stock Code
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 00336
Limited stock code
Reuters ticker 336.HK
Bloomberg ticker 336HK
2. Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Company Limited (a non-wholly

owned subsidiary of the Company listed on the ChiNext of the

Shenzhen Stock Exchange)
Board Lot Size

Number of shares issued

Stock Code

500 shares

615,900,000 shares

ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange 300741

stock code

Reuters ticker

Bloomberg ticker

Financial Calendar

Closing date for transfer of shares

for Annual General Meeting

Annual General Meeting

Ex-dividend date

Closing date for transfer of shares

for payment of final dividend

Date of payment of 2017-18 proposed

final dividend

Financial year-end date

300741.5Z

300741:CH

From 1 August 2018
(Wednesday) to
6 August 2018
(Monday) (both days
inclusive)

6 August 2018 (Monday)

8 August 2018
(Wednesday)

From 10 August 2018
(Friday) to 14 August
(Tuesday) (both days
inclusive)

On or about 28
September 2018
(Friday)

31 March
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The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018.

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

During the reporting period, the Group invested RMB25.208 million
to acquire 95% equity interest of Jiangxi Xianghai. The Group will
utilize its mastered core technologies to build Jiangxi Xianghai as an
important production base for the aroma raw materials segment,
which will be principally engaged in the production, research and
development and sales of natural and various synthetic aroma raw
materials. The completion of building and commencement of the
production base would not only meet the environmental protection
requirements of China, but also improve the operation efficiency of
the aroma raw materials segment, which has great significance to
put forward the strategic layout of the Group’s aroma raw materials
segment.

Further to the above, the Group had launched a strategic
collaboration with a well known international company to establish
Jiangxi Xinhui and established a joint venture of Dianhua Benxiang
with Yunnan Tobacco New Materials. Both companies were engaged
in the manufacturing and R&D of flavour capsule, signifying the
Group's further layout in the tobacco new materials business and
boosting the flavour capsule production to alleviate the supply
shortage.

IMPORTANT EVENTS DURING THE YEAR

Spin-off and listing of Huabao Flavours in China

On 1 March 2018, Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd (“Huabao
Flavours”), a subsidiary of the Group, was listed on the ChiNext of
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Name: Huabao Flavours; Stock
Code: 300741). The issuance comprised of 61.59 million new shares,
representing approximately 10% of the enlarged issued share capital
of Huabao Flavours. The offer price was RMB38.60 per share and the
proceeds from the issuance amounted to approximately RMB2,377
million. After deduction of the issuance costs, the net proceeds from
the issuance was approximately RMB2,312 million. Approximately
RMB1,034 million of the proceeds will be used to the manufacturing
base of Huabao Yingtan's Flavours and Ingredients production,
approximately RMB471 million will be used to the Lhasa Pure Land
healthy food project, approximately RMB158 million will be used to
the R&D of Huabao H&K's flavours and food technology projects,
and approximately RMB649 million will be used to compensate the
company'’s liquidity.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production and sales of
flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials
and innovative tobacco products. The activities of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of the operating
activities of the Group during the financial year, and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group’s business, as required by
Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, can be found in
the sections headed “Chairwoman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” as set out on pages 9 to 10 and pages 11
to 31 of this annual report respectively. Such discussion forms part of
this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group's businesses. To the best
of knowledge and belief, the Directors consider that the following are
the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group as at the date
of this report.

The risk of down-stream industry control and policies on
tobacco industry

Following the promulgation and implementation of the new
Advertising Law of China in 2015, the restrictions on cigarette
marketing have in turn become more rigid, and consequently the
marketing space of the tobacco market is becoming narrower. On
the other hand, the tax-induced price hike policy has raised the
consumption tax and wholesale price, and subsequently escalated
the consumption cost of cigarettes, which to a certain extent
have suppressed the demand for cigarette consumption. With the
tightening of tobacco control policies by the international health
organizations and local governments, and the increased awareness
of the public on health and tobacco control, it is possible that the
production and sales volumes of cigarette will further decline in the
future, which in turn will cause the reduction of sales income and
operating profit of the tobacco-related products of the Company.
In this regard, the Company will continue to pay attention to the
impacts of industry and policy changes on the business, and will
adjust our business and development strategies in a timely manner.
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The risk of consumer behaviour changes and the impact on the
down-stream industries

With the continuous progress of society and the improvement of
people’s living standards, consumers have increased their awareness
of health and environment protection. On the other hand, the
age structure and level of consumers continue to evolve. New
consumption trend as well as consumption concept and consumption
behaviour keeps changing. The demand for the Company’s
downstream tobacco, food, daily chemical industry continues to
change, thus affecting the Company’s flavours and fragrances and
food ingredients related products and we may face the risk of market
share shrinking. The Company will continue to focus on and enhance
the insight into consumer behaviour, and further optimize the
product structure to meet the requirements of a new generation of
consumers.

The impact of food safety policy

At present, our country implements an authorized management
system for the food industry. The main laws, regulations and
standards involved are the Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Announcement on the Production License of Food
Additives. At the same time, international organizations such as the
International Standards Organization (ISO), the Codex Alimentarius
Commission (CAC), and the International Organisation of Food and
Flavor Industry (IOFI) have formulated and promulgated product
standards and industry norms to provide industry management
systems and industry standards.

To a certain extent, the new law will increase the operating costs
of enterprises. Should there be any changes in the above policies
and standards, it will have a direct impact on the Company’s future
development. The Company will make corresponding adjustment,
investment and improvement in product structure, production
technology and product performance and other aspects to ensure our
products and operation comply with food safety standards.
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The impact of environmental protection

With the increased awareness on the environmental protection by the
society, the government’s continuous improvement in environmental
protection may lead to more stringent environmental protection
standards and requirements in the future; if the Company cannot
upgrade the production facilities in time to improve the handling
of wastage, this will have an adverse impact on the Company’s
production and operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group plays an important role in protecting our environment
and is committed to minimizing our impact on the environment
and natural resources. We educate and train our employees on
environmental issues and proper handling of hazardous substances
and require adherence to corporate guidelines on environmental
protection measures. Our plants have basically installed equipment
and procedures designs to comply with business operation.

In addition, the Group installed video conference and telephone
conference facilities for convening board meetings, committee
meetings and management meetings. It enhances the efficiency of
business travelling and convening meetings for the management so
as to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental protection
to the employees.
utilizing emails for internal and external communication, adopting
e-filing in server, minimizes documents printing and copying; and
reduces energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.

It implements green office practices such as

We have completed our Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2017/2018 and
the requirements under the Environmental,
Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules. The ESG report for the year
will be published no later than 3 months after the publication of this
Annual Report on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Social and Governance

(www.hkexnews.hk) and of the Company (www.huabao.com.hk).
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognizes that employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group has
formulated a set of remuneration system referenced to the market to
attract and retains key personnel and talents with appropriate skills,
experience and competence which would complement and meet the
corporate and business objectives of the Group. The Group ensures
all employees are reasonably remunerated and the remuneration
packages of employees are reviewed regularly and necessary
adjustments are made to the remuneration packages to align with the
market standards. Further details on the Group’s staff are set out in
the “Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction” section
of this report.

The Group adheres to its core value of “client first” for years
to maximise client values, maintains good relationship with its
customers and suppliers, and has ongoing communication with the
customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone,
electronic mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and
suggestions. Besides, the Group has entered into related agreements
to promote probity and environmental protection with respective
suppliers and conducted an appraisal of its suppliers, with a view
to maintaining business relationships with suppliers and customers
based on principle of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to time),
the Listing Rules and the SFO relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for the financial year ended
31 March 2018 by business segment is set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 95 of the annual
report.

The Board proposes to declare a final dividend of HK15 cents per
Share (2017: HK22 cents) in cash (amounting to approximately
RMB374 million) (2017: RMB607 million) in aggregate for the year
ended 31 March 2018, which are expected to be paid on or about 28
September 2018 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 14 August 2018. The payment of the
final dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM which
is scheduled to be held on 6 August 2018.

CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

In order to determine the entitlement of Shareholders to attend and
vote at the AGM of the Company which is scheduled to be held on 6
August 2018, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 1 August 2018 to 6 August 2018, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. All properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 31
July 2018. Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register of
members of the Company on 6 August 2018 are entitled to attend
and vote at the 2018 AGM.
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CLOSE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR PAYMENT OF
FINAL DIVIDEND

In order to determine Shareholders who qualify for the proposed final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 10 August 2018 to 14 August 2018, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. All properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 9 August
2018. Shareholders whose names are recorded in the register of
members of the Company on 14 August 2018 are entitled to receive
the final dividend in cash for the year ended 31 March 2018.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
financial year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 97 and in Note 18 and Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to RMB2,609,978,000 (2017: RMB2,805,489,000).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
financial year amounted to approximately RMB375,000 (2017:
RMB180,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 212.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the Company’s annual
general meeting held on 9 August 2016, the Company terminated
the share option scheme adopted on 22 September 2006 (“2006
Share Option Scheme”) and adopted a new share option scheme
(“New Share Option Scheme”) on 9 August 2016 (“Adoption Date”).
The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date (can be
terminated before expiration), the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme are substantially the same as those of the 2006 Share Option
Scheme. As at 31 March 2018, no share options had been granted
under the New Share Option Scheme. The following is a summary of
the New Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose
The New Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the
participants to make contributions to and promote benefits
of the Group and developing and maintaining business
relationships with participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants

The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of
the New Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules,
person(s) who or which is/are eligible to participate as
grantee(s) and receive options under the New Share Option
Scheme, to take up share options to subscribe for Shares.

invite
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Maximum number of shares available for subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares of the Company as at 9 August 2016. Upon approval
by the Shareholders, the Company may renew the Scheme
Mandate Limit, provided that each renewal shall not exceed
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of approval by the
Shareholders, and a circular regarding the proposed renewal
of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in a manner complying with, and containing
the matters specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. The aggregate maximum number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of share options
granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time to
time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the New Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Any excess over 1%
shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders at general
meeting with such participant and his/her close associates
abstaining from voting and the Company shall issue a circular
pursuant to relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
30 business days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration for
accepting the offer of the share option granted.

The grantee may subscribe for Shares during such period as
may be determined by the Board (the said period shall not in
whatever case be later than the last day of the 10-year period
after the day on which the offer relating to the option is duly
approved by the Board in accordance with the New Share
Option Scheme (subject to early termination).

(c)

(d)

(e)

AHRBzRZROEE

BB ER AT E LR R R B8 T8
BT —ANFENANBERRQRBEETRD
10%  EESRE AR ARRI A EHATE
RIERE W NEHOTERERE 5
TSHBER R EEFREZA D EHITRMN
Z10% : RZEBBR EMBAFI7TEEBKX
RMEZHAABEREESAEREREZEK
FETRFR  ZBHEREE LG XETEE
ZER e IR R A AT 8 A A Bl &
fib B AR M ST BRI 2 FE IR AR 1T R S 1T
fF MG FEITZHRZRMDEE T BB
EEITRMNEEZ30% -
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2 BEPMEM2{E A MR AR TEELER
BhE(RREREFBEREASCTELS
RITERZBRAE) MEBTREEITZRME
BN FHBBRARAREHTRAZ1% 1K
HZ BB A% AARBRAS EBFK
Rt MABSEEREETHEALER
BRE MARBANTARRETRAUFI7ESR
BRGSO 2 FRTE B B K o

BEARITEBREZHR
AEREAARARBEHOZORGE AL
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HiM o a0 o] BN E S RIEH B RO
FEAMERABREZNE AR TFHM
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(f)

(9)

(h)

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the offer
of the grant of option to the grantee, the New Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the New
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and
shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of offer, which must be a business day; (ii)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

The life of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10
years starting from 9 August 2016 (can be terminated before
expiration).

(f)

(9)

(h)
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As at 31 March 2018, the Company had no share options granted
under the New Share Option Scheme and all outstanding options
granted under the 2006 Share Option Scheme lapsed during the

reporting period. Details are set out as follows:

Number of Share Options
BRERE

RZB-N\F=ZA=T—B ARARE-BEA
O U PRCHE T BRI 0 B AR I E O UK TS
7R SRR R AR B A - ST

Cancelled/
Balance Granted  Exercised Lapsed Balance
asat during the during the during the as at
Exercise 1 April financial financial financial 31 March
Grantee Grant Date Price Exercisable Period 2017 year year year 2018
® ®
ZE-tF “E-NE
mA—-H HEHR HEHR HEHR =A=+—-H
AEA RE A TEE ATERE g3 #HE T FH/ XX Ef
HKD
B
Other Participants 17 October 2007 6.65 17/4/12008-16/10/2017 2,600,000 - - (2,600,000) -
EsHE “ZZLFTA+ LA
Total At 2,600,000 - - (2,600,000) -
DIRECTORS =
The Directors of the Company during the financial year and up to the RABRFERAMBEAREBH AR A ZESN
date of this report were: T
Executive Directors: HITES:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairwoman and CEQ)
Mr. XIA Li Qun (Vice Chairman)
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Company Secretary)

Mr. XIONG Qing (CFO)
Mr. LAM Ka Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yun Yan
Dr. DING Ningning
Mr. WU Chi Keung

KMBEL L (EEREEHT
BREEE (BEE)
ERBEEE (RAHE)
RREEE (BEEAEE)
MEFEE

BYFHTES:
ik
MERL T
FEHL
FHE

E)




In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and (2) of the Company’s bye-laws,
Dr. DING Ningning, Messrs. LAM Ka Yu and WU Chi Keung shall retire
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the financial year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest in any business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of directors and senior management as at
31 March 2018 are set out on pages 32 to 40 of the annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the financial year are set out in Note 36 and
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Directors Capacity

BE=pnE =47

CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporations M
SRR FBTIEH A ARH

XIONG Qing Beneficial Owner

AR EaEEEA

Note:

2,287,578,900 ordinary shares of the Company were held by Mogul
Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited, Power Nation
International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited, Raise Sino Investments Limited
and Real Elite Investments Limited, respectively. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole
beneficial owner of the aforesaid six companies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors
nor their close associates had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or associated companies as defined in the SFO.

EERRD HEARORESZ 2#ES

R-ZE-NF=A=1+—H EFRRSTHRAER
RARBIREMEZE (E&REFRMERDIE
XVER) Z Betn - iR RESF P HE AR ARE
E B ERPIFEI2EMEMFEZECMATA
Bra R  IFEARBFRETRREMAM
BARRR Bz R IORBIT

ARARZEBRER
Number of Percentage of
issued the issued
Shares held share capital
BEERT HE#T
ROEE RABTD L
2,287,578,900 73.60%
3,720,000 0.12%

W

KA ®)22,287,578,9000% 75 % 5 EMogul Enterprises
Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited, Power
Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited, Raise

Sino Investments Limited#1Real Elite Investments Limited

FH - AMELLR DR SNBARNE-—BESHEA-

BEXFEBREN RZE-\F=ZA=+—H HEE
MEBERFE 2 EEBEARAR R REEMNE QAR
HEEE (ERRBH LB GRS 2 EF&G - HERS
HEFTHEEEMERIRE




DIRECTORS’" RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above and Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the financial year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and subject to the relevant
provisions therein, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which he/she may incur in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty
as a director of the Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors
and senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in good faith.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above and Note 17 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company for the year ended
31 March 2018.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2018, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO showed that the
following person(s)/corporation(s) held interests or short positions in
5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.
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Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Name of
Substantial Shareholders Capacity
TERREHE =47

Fosun International Limited

EEBEBRERRAF

Held through controlled corporations Mete !
FBT I AT A

Note:

Fosun International Limited was owned as to 71.82% by Fosun Holdings
Limited, which in turn was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Fosun International
Holdings Ltd.. Mr. Guo Guangchang held 64.45% of the issued share capital
of Fosun International Holdings Ltd.. The interests that Fosun International
Limited, Fosun International Holdings Ltd. and Mr. Guo Guangchang held in
the 217,414,000 Shares, as set out in the above table, were from the same
block of shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the percentage of revenue from
sales of goods or rendering services attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers combined accounted for approximately 38.63%
and the largest customer contributed approximately 14.43% to
the revenue from sales of goods or rendering services of the Group
(Yunnan Tobacco Materials (Group) Company Limited being the
largest customer), and the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined accounted for
approximately 14.42% and the largest supplier contributed
approximately 5.21% to the purchases of the Group.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

-

ERRAZEBRER

Percentage of
the issued
share capital

HERTRFBEI®

Number of
issued Shares held

REERTROBE

217,414,000 6.99%

GEE

EEBEBRARLDAMNII.C2%EBITRABERZEREA
RARIHR MEEERARZAR IFosun International
Holdings Ltd.®#) & & M & A 7 - 2 & & 5t & A AFosun
International Holdings Ltd. 64.45%#) B 247 iR 74 « iR &
B MEE R - EEBIFR AR QR Fosun International
Holdings Ltd. R # & & L T B AN A /] 2217,414,000
i HRBRE—FERG -

FEEFEFRMHE
HE-_Z-\F=ZA=+—HLEFER AEER
NEABFPEMEAEREES RRERBEHD
WAZBEDLLHA3863% MEATFEENA
14.43% (EEFEVE (EE)BRETAR A%
ABP) AEERANGAREREAITEERER
HEHE2 B LA B14.42%  MEAMHERAELD
B5.21% e

ARBAEFTHAEEMNEZBEARTABR (LE
B AR LARADBHITRAE)  HE
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing connected transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group

To enable the Group’s business segments to operate independently
and to enhance relevant internal control measures, the Group entered
into new framework agreements on the continuing connected
transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group to replace the previous
Hongta Framework Agreement entered into between Chemactive
Investments Limited and Yunnan Hongta on 31 March 2015 (the
“Previous Hongta Framework Agreement”). As a result, (1) Yunnan
Hehe and Huabao Flavours entered into the Hongta HB Flavours
Framework Agreement on 26 May 2017 regarding the provision of
tobacco flavours products and related services by Huabao Flavours
Company to Hongta Tobacco Group for a term of three years
commencing on 1 April 2017 and expiring on 31 March 2020
(both days inclusive); and (2) Yunnan Hehe and Guangdong lJinye
entered into the Hongta JY Framework Agreement on 26 May 2017
regarding the provision of RTL, stem powder, auxiliary materials
and related services by Guangdong Jinye Group (except for Huabao
Flavours Company) to Hongta Tobacco Group for a term of three
years commencing on 1 April 2017 and expiring on 31 March 2020
(both days inclusive). The Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement
and the Hongta JY Framework Agreement are collectively referred
to as the "Hongta Framework Agreement”.
Framework Agreement was terminated on the same day, i.e. 26 May
2017.

The Previous Hongta
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Huabao Flavours is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, while Guangdong lJinye is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. The Company, through its subsidiaries,
indirectly owns 60% equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong. The
remaining 40% equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong is held by Yunnan
Hehe (40% equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong was previously held
by Yunnan Hongta). Hongta Tobacco owns 75% equity interest in
Yunnan Hehe. By virtue of such 40% interest in Yunnan Tianhong,
Hongta Tobacco Group are regarded as connected persons at the
subsidiary level of the Company under the Listing Rules. Transactions
between each of Huabao Flavours Company and Guangdong Jinye
Group with Hongta Tobacco Group constitute connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Hongta
Framework Agreement, prices of the products will be by reference to
the bidding price (if applicable); or the prevailing market price. Such
prices and terms payable to the Group shall be no less favourable
than those terms offered by independent third party customers for
provision of similar products and services in its ordinary and usual
course of business. Payments of the transactions will be settled
in arrears by cash transfer, or such other manners as agreed by
the parties in accordance with the agreed timing and manners as
specified in the separate implementation agreements to be entered
into between the parties from time to time.

The aggregate transaction amount for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the Hongta Framework Agreement
are as follows:

Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement MR EERNER G =

Hongta JY Framework Agreement MRS EERRR

For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the actual transaction
amount under the Hongta HB Flavours Framework Agreement and
the Hongta JY Framework Agreement was RMB20,881,000 and
RMB83,761,000, respectively.

EERNMDAARANMEEZENBAR MER
SEAARNANEEZEEZENBAR AL REBE
FRBIEEHEEEDRRE0%BIE - EFF KRBT
40%KIEHEFAEMTE (EMAZRA0%RE 271

MEMALREHE) ABEERBEEMAMIS%N
Pt o RAR EHARR - BHEERRLA40% R - A5

BEEEWRE/ARENBARNEEAL RIE
EHRA EEROBERSEEE R A RAIEE
BEEE AN ZBRARRNEER S - RIFA
BERGZ EmEBRH2ERBER (MER)
HE RN TISER - XN TFAKENBERERERT
BERBYE=STEFPHREATR—REBKBESD
PR R OUE ma R IR TS 1 B2 R A0 R 3R - ST R 5 538
BRERXHRET KRR TR LB IATH
A PRI E RO B R AN 7 21 RE o

RIRAT SEAE 2R i 0
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ETHNHEREIZINER S

Aggregate Transaction Amount
for the financial year ending 31 March (RMB)
BE-A=T-HLBBFENRSSE (ARY)

2018 2019 2020
—E-N\f§ —E2-NEF —BCEF
24,825,000 25,570,000 26,337,000
103,638,000 106,747,000 109,950,000

BE_ZTZ— ) \FZA=Z+—HUEUREE 4&E
ERHDERDZRABSEEERENERRIZEE
2Rl A ANR#20,881,0005 AR #83,761,000 °




Continuing connected transactions with Guangdong Tobacco
Company

The Group through its wholly owned subsidiary entered into a
framework agreement with Guangdong Tobacco on 31 March
2016, pursuant to which the Group shall continually provide
tobacco flavours and fragrances products, RTL, stem powder,
auxiliary materials and related services to Guangdong Tobacco and
its subsidiaries and associates (collectively, “Guangdong Tobacco
Company”) for a period from 1 April 2016 to 31 December 2016 (the
“Previous GD Framework Agreement”).

The Previous GD Framework Agreement expired on 31 December
2016 and in order to continue the transactions, therefore, on 1
March 2017 (1) Huabao Flavours entered into the HB Flavours
Framework Agreement with Guangdong Tobacco relating to the
provision of tobacco flavours products and related services by
Huabao Flavours Company to Guangdong Tobacco Company; (2)
Guangdong Jinye entered into the JY Framework Agreement with
Guangdong Tobacco relating to the provision of RTL products and
related services by Guangdong Jinye Group (except Huabao Flavours
Group) to Guangdong Tobacco Company; and (3) Guangdong Jinke
entered into the JK Framework Agreement with Guangdong Tobacco
relating to the provision of auxiliary materials and related services by
Guangdong lJinye Group (except for Huabao Flavours Company) to
Guangdong Tobacco Company. Each of the HB Flavours Framework
Agreement, JY Framework Agreement and JK Framework Agreement
(collectively the “GD Framework Agreement”) is for a term of
36 months commencing on 1 January 2017 and expiring on 31
December 2019 (both days inclusive).
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Guangdong Jinye is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Guangdong Jinke is a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of Guangdong Jinye. Guangdong Tobacco holds more than 10%
equity interest in Guangdong Jinke. Guangdong Tobacco Company
are regarded as connected persons at the subsidiary level of the
Company under the Listing Rules. Transactions between the Group
and Guangdong Tobacco Company constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company and are subject to compliance with the
relevant disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to the GD Framework Agreement, prices of the products will be by
reference to the bidding price; or the prevailing market price. Such
prices and terms payable to the Group shall be no less favourable
than those terms offered by independent third party customers for
provision of similar products and services in its ordinary and usual
course of business. Payments of the transactions will be settled
in arrears by cash transfer, or such other manners as agreed by
the parties in accordance with the agreed timing and manners as
specified in the separate implementation agreements to be entered
into between the parties from time to time.

The aggregate transaction amount for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the GD Framework Agreement are
as follows:-

EREERARFANEAEZENBLAR -EREH
RERSEZIFZEWMBAR -BRPERBER
ER0% A L - RIB ETIRA BERPERR A
ARRMBARNEEAL AEBEERPEL
BORXZBRARARNFEBRER S AAET L
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ERERGZATHRETOSEFEIZINERS
SR

Aggregate Transaction Amount (RMB)

2R RSB (ARY)
for the
for the for the for the nine months
three months financial financial period ended
period ended year ended year ending 31 December
31 March 2017 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 2019
E-B-tF E-B-N\F E-B-NF E-B-NF
=ZA=t+-8 =ZA=t+-8 ZA=t-B +tZA=t-H
E=@EA LEBEE LEBEE ERM@A
HB Flavours Framework Agreement EEROHELBA 30,000,000 110,000,000 120,000,000 90,000,000
JY Framework Agreement SEEEGH 20,500,000 110,000,000 110,000,000 82,500,000
JK Framework Agreement SRHER W= 8,500,000 34,000,000 34,000,000 25,500,000

For the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the actual transaction
amount under the HB Flavours Framework Agreement, the JY
Framework Agreement and the JK Framework Agreement was
RMB88,454,000, RMB93,844,000 and RMB22,487,000, respectively.

HZE2018F3A31BILFE EBRMIERDE €
EEEBZERSRHERGENERRZSEI A
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirmed that the aforesaid
continuing connected transactions had been entered into:

(

) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group’s above-
mentioned continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 ‘Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information’ and with reference to Practice Note 740 ‘Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter
has been provided to the Stock Exchange by the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements. None of these related
party transactions constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, except for the transactions described
in this paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied with.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2018, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 41 to 62 of the annual
report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2018, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against any
member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to the best
belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
the prescribed public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2018
and up to the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairwoman and CEO

Hong Kong, 20 June 2018
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABAO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 94 to 211, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

FES KB AT PT » B PR R E T
M : +852 2289 8888 » fHH : +852 2810 9888 * www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Impairment of goodwill is identified as a key audit matter in our
audit, and is summarised as follows:

Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgments) and
Note 8 (Intangible assets) to the
consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 March 2018, the Group had
material goodwill balance amounting
to RMB2,228,371,000 arose from
acquisitions in previous years, which
was allocated to the Group’s cash-
generating units (“CGUs"). Impairment
charge amounting to RMB24,478,000
and RMB36,578,000 were recognised
in current year for the CGUs of VMR
Products LLC and its subsidiaries
(“VMR") and CGUs of flavours and
fragrances segment, respectively.

Management tests annually whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment,
in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 2.9. The
recoverable amount of CGUs has been
determined based on value-in-use
calculation.

Management concluded that, based
on their assessment, other than the
impairment charge amounting to
RMB24,478,000 and RMB36,578,000
which were considered necessary
to be recognised for CGUs of VMR
and CGUs of flavours and fragrances
segment, respectively, no impairment
loss was considered necessary for
other CGUs.

We focused on these balances because
the determination of whether or not
an impairment charge was necessary
involved significant judgements about
the future results of the business.
Management’s impairment assessment
involves significant estimation, and
budgeted gross margin, estimated
pre-tax discount rate and forecast and
terminal growth rates are considered
to be the key assumptions.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill
included:

- We used our in-house experts
to assist us in evaluating the
appropriateness of value-in-use
calculation methodology adopted by
management;

- We tested the mathematical accuracy
of the underlying value-in-use
calculation;

- We also evaluated the historical
accuracy of the plan and forecast by,
for example, comparing the forecast
used in the prior year model to the
actual performance of the business in
the current year;

- We discussed with management
and evaluated the underlying key
assumptions of budgeted gross
margin and forecast and terminal
growth rates used in the cash flow
forecast taking into account market
developments;

- We evaluated and recalculated the
pre-tax discount rate used in the
calculation by comparing with the
industry or market data.

As a result of performing our work we
found the management's estimates and
judgements used in the impairment
assessment to be supported by the
available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lam Sung Wan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 June 2018
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e M HIRR R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
Note 2018 2017
B 5 —E-N\F —E—+F
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment S E S 6 1,006,425 995,622
Land use rights Lo 7 171,856 150,713
Intangible assets BVEE . 8 2,531,828 2,657,656
Investments in associates REEERR] 2 & 9 371,444 379,106
Investment in a jointly controlled entity RERZERIER ZRE 10 5,100 =
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESREE 11 80,672 115,938
Deferred income tax assets EEFTISTE E 12 80,346 66,744
Other non-current assets HEAIEmEBEE 16,144 -
4,263,815 4,365,779
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 13 766,005 693,490
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b fE W KA 14 1,456,484 1,425,527
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEEESREE 11 102,000 111,000
Short-term time deposits EHEHER 15 1,076,955 724,148
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 15 6,635,651 4,177,807
10,037,095 7,131,972
Total assets HmEE 14,300,910 11,497,751
EQUITY Ex
Capital and reserves attributable to EAREREFEA
the Company's equity holders EhRARFE
Share capital N 16 318,647 318,647
Reserves fEfE 18 2,343,573 979,764
Retained earnings REB AT 19 8,601,342 8,528,166
11,263,562 9,826,577
Non-controlling interests FEEFI MRS 1,854,775 780,335
Total equity R 13,118,337 10,606,912
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTST B E 12 81,386 56,307
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMEKIA 21 25,326 16,721
106,712 73,028
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings B 20 210,000 75,500
Trade and other payables B 5 K& EH Aty FE T 5RIE 21 657,949 561,604
Current income tax liabilities EHIFTS R AG 207,912 180,707
1,075,861 817,811
Total liabilities FCR =R 1,182,573 890,839
Total equity and liabilities mEsREE 14,300,910 11,497,751

The notes on pages 99 to 211 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
KMEL L

Chairwoman

e

F99E2 1M BEMMIE ARG E SRR EEEIMD o

REESE

Mr. XIONG Qing
REJH B4
Director

EF
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEFE

Note 2018 2017

B = —ZE-N\F —T—+tF
Sales EER 5 3,848,626 3,482,894
Cost of goods sold $HE B A 23 (1,262,097) (1,212,071)
Gross profit EF 2,586,529 2,270,823
Other income and other gains — net H AU A R H A Y2k — 558 22 194,462 239,526
Selling and marketing expenses HERMBHERS 23 (219,995) (255,589)
Administrative expenses 1ITHE R 23 (922,754) (915,238)
Operating profit EERR 1,638,242 1,339,522
Finance income T ON 122,757 57,140
Finance costs A& B A (23,424) (4,793)
Finance income — net B A —H 58 25 99,333 52,347
Share of profit of associates e B & A B 2 BT 9 8,232 17,243
Profit before income tax RR B A 22 F 1,745,807 1,409,112
Income tax expense FRiZ i 26 (349,687) (294,573)
Profit for the year rEERF 1,396,120 1,114,539
Attributable to: PEAh
Equity holders of the Company ZAYNCIE EE TSN 1,263,797 1,065,424
Non-controlling interests FE 128 I 14 A 2 132,323 49,115

1,396,120 1,114,539
Earnings per share for profit attributable # R 2 AESIEE AEEH
to the Company'’s equity holders SRER
for the year

27(a),

— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) —HEAREE (ARESD) 27(b) 40.66 34.29

The notes on pages 99 to 211 are an
consolidated financial statements.

integral part of these
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mEZERER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\#E T tF
Profit for the year REEZRF 1,396,120 1,114,539
Other comprehensive income: Hit 2 mEkE:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss A EFH DR m A E A
Fair value changes on available-for-sale financial AHHEEREE ZKRTERD
assets, net of tax NAEEE (39,458) (34,435)
Transfer of reserves to income statement upon REBAHEESHMEE
disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, i B8 O U a5k 2
net of tax KRtz - (34,189)
Currency translation differences on foreign BINES 2 EEME 28
operations (142,588) 122,004
Other comprehensive (loss)/income AEERBELEMEE (BER)
for the year, net of tax & (182,046) 53,380
Total comprehensive income for the year, AEERBAEZENRZHAE
net of tax 1,214,074 1,167,919
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  FE/G 2 W E 5
Equity holders of the Company RAGERFTFEA 1,088,980 1,121,296
Non-controlling interests FEPE I A = 125,094 46,623
1,214,074 1,167,919

The notes on pages 99 to 211 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KNAREHAARL
Non-

Share Retained controlling Total

Note capital  Reserves  earnings Total interests equity

ik B BF  REEA & FeHtER b

Balance at 1 April 2016 RZB-AERA-A 318,534 B3 7788871 | 8,488,518 285,95 8774471

Fair value changes on avalable-forsale financial assets, netof tar ~~ WEHELBAEZBRENALERD 18 - (34,435) - (34.435) = (34,435)
Reversal of reserves upon disposal of available-forsale financial assets, BIEETEEESBEEMMRERDNAR

net o fax LBREER - b o L [L2%) (4189
Currency translaton differences i - 100 - 1020 1804 122,004
Profit for the year FEERA - - 106544 | 1,065,424 Qo115 1,11453%9
Total comprehensive income for the year ended BEZZ3-LEZA=T-RLEEN

31 March 2017 2ENRAE - 55,872 1,065,424 1,121,2% 46,623 1,167,919

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: ERLTERANRE:
Appropriations from net profi B 7R 18,19 - 06,19 (326129 = s S
Dividends payable to non-controllng interets MEEHHERRA RS - - - - (2,251) (2,251)
Dividends paic to non-controlling nterests REESERE RS - - = - (e (1)
Additonal investment in a non-whally owned subsidiary BINEER-H2EHELR 18 - (8,068) - (8,068) 8,068 =
Issuance of new shares to non-controlng interests AT M EER T 18 - A S omsem e 869
Acquisiton of additonal equity intrest n REESER BN LEFRERAR

Yongzhou Shansiang Flavour Co, Limited (TxMbA]) B ER

("Yongzhou Shaniang”) from non-controlling interests 18 - (2,040 - (2,040) (3,210 (5,250)
Non-controling interest from newly-incorporated subsidiaries RUF2ENBAR R RS - - - - 3530 3530
Share-based payment EESH )

- Value of consultancy sevice -ERREEE 18 - 1,000 - 1,000 = 1,000

- Iste of shares upon exercise of share award ~ERHRBAEOHR 18 113 (113) = = = =
Total transactions with owners EREARSHE 113 5719 (26129 | 216,763 47759 664,522
Balance at 31 March 2017 W-E-tE=R=1-A 318,647 979,764 8528166 | 9,826,577 780,335 10,606,912
Balance at 1 April 2017 WZE-tERR-A 318,647 979,764 8,528,166 | 9,826,577 780,335 10,606,912
Fair value changes on avalable-forsale fnancial assets, netof tax AL ESREE R ENALELRD 18 - (39458) - (9459) - (39458)
Currency translation differences i - (1353%9) - (1353%) (129)  (142,589)
Profit for the year FEERA - - 1263797 | 1,263,797 132383 13%,120
Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2018 BZ=F-NF=A=1-RLEEN2ENEEE - (1A817) 263797 | 1088980 125094 1204074
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: ERNERRANRE:

Appropriations from net proft BUAER 18,19 - BM (193,23) - - -
Dividends paic to non-controling nterests REESERE RS - - - - (0% (0958
Iste of new shares to non-controling interests of ERREROERLA (28R

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Lid (*Huzbao Flavours") R3Sl B AR 18,30 - 1305861 S| 135861 965981 231180
Additonal investment in non-wholly owned subsidaries BINTEREZENBAT 18 - (478) - (478) (n) (750)
Acauisiton of equity interest in Jiangxi Xianghal Bological Technology MBI EE S A KARAR (IKEE)

(o, Ltd "Jiangxi Xianghai") LER 9 - - - - 616 616
Capital infction from non-controlling interets Rk ENBAR Eb R - - - - 3975 3975
Final dividends for the year ended BRNEE-S-tEZA=T-HLER

31 March 2017 paid to shareholders LBRRE 19 - - (576800 |  (576,800) - (576,800
Interim and special dividends for the six months ended BRAEZ-3-+ENAZTRLAER

30 September 2017 paid to shareholders LRERERIRE 19 - - (h0578) | (40578) - (805
Total transactions with owners HERARAAE - 1538626 (1,190621) | 348,005 949346 1,207,351
Balance at 31 March 2018 RZZ-NFZf=t1-7 36N LIBT3 B34 | 11263562 AT 13118397
The notes on pages 99 to 211 are an integral part of these Z99FE211 M ALRLEMIEHRIRMEE MG

consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

Year ended 31 March

BE=A=t-HL%E
Note 2018 2017
=2 —E-N\E “E—tE

Cash flows from operating activities BERH RLRE
Cash generated from operations BEEEZRSE 31 1,850,302 1,517,407
Income tax paid BAMEH (311,640) (213,698)
Net cash generated from operating activities EETHELE VRS FHE 1,538,662 1,303,709
Cash flows from investing activities REZBNRERE
Acquisition of a subsidiary - INS 29 (22,346) =
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets BATMHHECHEE 11 (470,893) (1,055,204)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets ~ H& A4 HES R EEFEHE 468,880 1,064,305
Deposit paid for additional investment in an associate BEBRE AR ANBENR - (14,560)
Acquisition of associates WrEg R = A ) - (127,328)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment, land use rights  BBAME KRR ZE THFERER

and intangible assets BREE (130,916) (56,011)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BBEREEMGHE 31 7,739 429
Short-term time deposits placed MEREATEAER (352,807) (540,394)
Release in restricted bank deposits RRXBHHRE - 97,599
Dividend received BEKRE 13,489 9,096
Interest received BIH S 110,091 59,288
Net cash used in investing activities REEBFAZRLEE (376,763) (562,780)
Cash flows from financing activities BETHHRSRE
Dividends paid to shareholders RRR RS (997.378) =
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests RFEHEEE S (RS (23,205) (186,886)
Acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary eV ] M I B B B 1 RO E

from non-controlling interests (750) (5,250)
Capital contributions from non-controlling interests FEttEREE NTEZFBRE 2,315,817 850,454
New short-term bank borrowings MERHETER 210,000 81,500
Repayment of short-term bank borrowings BRRHARTER (75,500) (21,000)
Interest paid BfIHE (16,879) (4,653)
Net cash generated from financing activities HERDELZREFE 1,412,105 714,165
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BERBLESENEMFE 2,574,004 1,455,094
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April REA—BzEERREZFEN 4,177,807 2,653,110
Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents EXHREHRE KR ZENNF L (116,160) 69,603
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March REZA=T-HZRERBREEEN 15 6,635,651 4,177,807

The notes on pages 99 to 211 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

SE99E211 AWM AR A MG MR M ERR A1)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
mainly engaged in the research and development, production,
distribution and sale of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw
materials, aroma raw materials and innovative tobacco products
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). Ms. Chu Lam
Yiu, who is the Chairwoman of the Board of Directors, holds
approximately 74% beneficial equity interest in the Company as
at 31 March 2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of RMB (“RMB’000") unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 June 2018.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants(“HKICPA").
statements have been prepared under the historical cost

The consolidated financial

convention, as modified by remeasurement of available-
for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, which are carried at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

e M BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 April 2017:

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised
Losses — Amendments to HKAS 12, and

Disclosure initiative — amendments to HKAS 7.

The adoption of these amendments did not have
significant impact on the operating results and
financial position for the year ended 31 March 2018
or any prior period and is not likely to affect future
periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for
31 March 2018 reporting periods and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group's
assessment of the impact of these new standards and
interpretations is set out below.

HKFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’

Nature of change

The new standard addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial assets
and financial liabilities,
hedge accounting and a new impairment model for
financial assets.

introduces new rules for

Impact

The Group has reviewed its financial assets and
liabilities and is expecting the following impact from
the adoption of the new standard on 1 April 2018:

Financial instruments currently classified as
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets will satisfy
the conditions for classification as at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and
hence there will be no change to the accounting for
these assets.

Accordingly, the Group does not expect the
new guidance to affect the classification and
measurement of these financial assets. However,
gains or losses realised on the sale of financial
assets at FVOCI will no longer be transferred
to profit or loss on sale, but instead reclassified
below the line from the FVOCI reserve to retained
earnings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

e M BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

There will be no impact on the Group’s accounting
for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only
affect the accounting for financial liabilities that
are designated at fair value through profit or loss
and the Group does not have any such liabilities.
The derecognition rules have been transferred from
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and have not been changed.

The new impairment model requires the recognition
of impairment provisions based on expected credit
losses (ECL) rather than only incurred credit losses
as is the case under HKAS 39. It applies to financial
assets classified at amortised cost, debt instruments
measured at FVOCI, contract assets under HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers, lease
receivables, loan commitments and certain financial
guarantee contracts. Based on the assessments
undertaken to date, the Group does not expect
significant increase or decrease in the loss
allowance for the trade debtors.

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure
requirements and changes in presentation. These
are expected to change the nature and extent of the
Group's disclosures about its financial instruments
particularly in the year of the adoption of the new
standard.

Date of adoption by the Group

Must be applied for financial years commencing
on or after 1 January 2018. The Group will apply
the new rules retrospectively from 1 April 2018,
with the practical expedients permitted under the
standard. Comparatives will not be restated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with
customers’

Nature of change

The HKICPA has issued a new standard for the
recognition of revenue. This will replace HKAS 18
which covers contracts for goods and services and
HKAS 11 which covers construction contracts and
the related literature. The new standard is based
on the principle that revenue is recognised when
control of a good or service transfers to a customer.
The standard permits either a full retrospective or a
modified retrospective approach for the adoption.

Impact

Management has assessed the effects of applying
the new standard on the Group's financial
statements and does not expect a significant impact
on its results of operations and financial position.

Date of adoption by the Group

Mandatory for financial years commencing on or
after 1 January 2018. The Group intends to adopt
the standard using the modified retrospective
approach which means that the cumulative impact
of the adoption will be recognised in retained
earnings as of 1 April 2018 and that comparatives
will not be restated.
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Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEBRMEE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 16, ‘Leases’
Nature of change

The new standard will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the balance sheet, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases
is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability
to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions
are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
the Group’s operating leases. As at the reporting
date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of RMB128,885,000 (Note 32). The
Group estimates that approximately 24% of these
relate to payments for short-term and low value
leases which will be recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss.

However, the Group has not yet assessed what
other adjustments, if any, are necessary for example
because of the change in the definition of the lease
term and the different treatment of variable lease
payments and of extension and termination options.
It is therefore not yet possible to estimate the
amount of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
that will have to be recognised on adoption of the
new standard and how this may affect the Group's
profit or loss and classification of cash flows going
forward.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

HKFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (Continued)

Date of adoption by the Group

Mandatory for financial years commencing on or
after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Group does
not intend to adopt the standard before its effective
date. The Group intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate comparative
amounts for the year prior to first adoption.

There are no other standards that are not yet
effective and that would be expected to have a
material impact on the entity in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions.

2.2 Consolidation

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
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Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEBRMEE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a)  Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying amount
of the acquirer’'s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or
losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
income statement.
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Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEBRMEE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a)  Subsidiaries (Continued)

()

(if)

Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequent accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or

financial asset.

previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities.

In addition, any amounts

[t means
the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRS.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights.
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and

Investments in

the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor’s share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group's investment in associates includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in an associate, any
difference between the cost of the associate and
the Group's share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

e M BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b)

Associates (Continued)

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying
value and recognises the amount adjacent to
share of profit/(loss) of an associate in the income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Jointly controlled entity

The Group has applied HKFRS 11
arrangements” to all joint arrangements. According
to HKFRS 11, Investments in joint arrangements are
classified either as joint operations or joint ventures,
depending on the contractual rights and obligations

“Joint

each investor has. The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group's net investment in the joint
ventures), the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

e M BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Consolidation (Continued)
(c)  Jointly controlled entity (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The Company’s functional currency is
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and the consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated income statement within
income and other gains — net”.

“other

Changes in the fair value of debt securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as
available for sale are analysed between currency
translation differences resulting from changes in the
amortised cost of the securities and other changes
in the carrying amount of the securities. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost
are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes
in carrying amount are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEBRMEE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences
on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities
classified as available for sale, are included in other
comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group’s losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences
are reattributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group's ownership interest in associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group's
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

e MRS R R M EE

(BRBEEBEIN FASBEARAREFTIIR)
2. FEEHBERBE (A)

2.5 SHEBRE (&)

() ZEERA (&)
WEEIEBELNEERAR
BEARGAZBIIERNEE
MEfE WighmERBE -E4
B B 51 2= BR A Ho A 2 T Wi es P A

e

(d) BEWHHEEEGIEF
HRBIEBNEE (ARERHE
HEFINEB R 2R HER
B RERREEE I REBHMN
JB R RIHOFESIME - SO5 R R E
BENEBMARZEREENHA
RIZ % - 208 R AR E TR BN
XML L XNEFIRE) &
BRERFFARBNEBNA
ARG AENMAENLZEY

ENHEERESE-

HRAETNEHEERIEEEG S
S SE 75 O [ JBE 2 A A 45 11 4 O D
NRE SEAERELZETH
Ee 140 B8 55 3 55 BB 10 SR 4% I 1 A
= B TR P RER - HRAE
HtF e E (AEBEERE X
SIARZESERPOAEEES
MRDE T EREBRREAF
BRHAFRESE)  KEERE
RERPHLIOBESRER

S o
T



116

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

e M BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of
construction of property, plant and equipment incurred
plus interest capitalised less any impairment losses. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction in
progress until such time the relevant assets are completed
and available for their intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-10 years
Leasehold improvements 2-5 years or

over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

2.

FESHBRRBE (&)

26 MHE -BERRHE

EETRDEEEYE BERREHR
SIREzEEIMEETTHAMZEARL
MEBMBREMREBR - EZTEST
FE BEZHBAEETKRAIRERA
=

FrAE RS  Hes RRERE LKA
HBEFERREEIRIIK ELKAE
RUBEZEHBERRBHENRAX -

EEEBEAHABE B REEREA
BEMARKE A RMEEB KA
ASMETER  HERAT BREEEE
MEEESER A BB EE (E
) B BRBOEERB ERLERER -
FEEMGEEREERREEENMK
HIR M s R P S 88 »

WME - B RRIBABRETERE A
R AEAFHIEEERREER

HEFAIE A F I T

BgF 204

W2 & & fi 52 104

B 54

R KB REAE 5% 104

THEWMESRR 2E 54 5,
1z EF 5

PN SE-p R



1 7

2017-2018 Annual Report 4§

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income and other gains —
net”, in the consolidated income statement.

Land use rights

Land use rights are up-front payments to acquire long-
term interests in the usage of land. They are stated at
cost and charged to the consolidated income statement
over the remaining period of the lease on a straight-line
basis, net of any impairment losses.

Intangible assets
(@)  Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMEBRMEE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense
and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalised separately from
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses are
shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses
acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful
lives of 10 to 20 years.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(d)

(e)

®)

Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5
years.

Patents

Patents include purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life of 3 to 10
years.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets mainly include product
design and domain name. They are initially
recognised and measured at cost or estimated fair
value of intangible assets acquired through business
combinations. They have a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost over their estimated useful lives of 5 years.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

2.10

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets
2.10.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: loans and receivables and
available-for-sale. The classification depends on
the purposes for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group and Company's loans and receivables

i

comprise “trade and other receivables”, “cash
and cash equivalents”, “amounts due from
subsidiaries” and “short-term time deposits”

in the statements of financial position.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.1 Classification (Continued)

210 £REE (H)
2.10.1 248 (&)

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.

2.10.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Investments are initially recognised at
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
investments have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at
fair value. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
income statement as “other income and other gains
- net”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Financial assets (Continued)

2.10.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

2.11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net

amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

2.12 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For loans and receivables category, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the
amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement. If a loan has a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate determined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, the Group may measure impairment
on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an
observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’'s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.12 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its costs is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the consolidated income
statement.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling

expenses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 Trade and other receivables

2.15

2.16

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects is included in equity attributable to
owners of the Company.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17

2.18

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18

2.19

2.20

Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are
an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate
differential between borrowing costs that would be
incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred on
foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are estimated
based on interest rates on similar borrowings in the
entity’s functional currency.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entity operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis difference

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. IESHHBEBE (H&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Employee benefits 221 EEEA

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong which is
generally funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution plan. It pays
contributions to administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Moreover,
all the employees of the Group’s entities incorporated
in Mainland China of the PRC (the “Mainland China”)
participate in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare benefits,
organised and administered by the local governments.
The Group also makes defined contribution to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules for the
employees of the subsidiary located in Germany. In the
United States of America (“USA"), the Group makes
defined contributions at certain percentage of monthly
salary to retirement and medical schemes managed by
the federal government of USA in accordance with US
rules and regulations. It is the federal government's
responsibility to pay the retirement benefits to those
staff who retire. The Group has no further payment
obligations once these contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior
to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.
No pension obligation is required under the Botswana
laws and regulation.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based payment

(a)

Share option scheme

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. IESHHBEBE (H&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Share-based payment (Continued) 222 DURHESzME (&)
(a)  Share option scheme (Continued) (a) BRI Z (&)
When the options are exercised, the Company ERREITER AR T EITHR
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any Do BEIREREITIER - B UEFT
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to 1S5 (R EREERER HK
share capital (nominal value) and share premium. R)HFARAR (EE) &K G5 &
B o
2.23 Revenue recognition 2.23 RARR
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration WARE W ERHEN R R EEE
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable = WS R EE M A FEIGRIE - JkR
for goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and - REMBERZIER 2 WA
value-added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when éé%ﬁ EHAI AT KRR EF =RE
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when AR AEHER REAKSEFTIEE
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to @ﬁﬁé\ﬂ‘é‘fﬂmﬁﬁv (ZATR3CRRat) - R
the entity; and specific criteria have been met for each SEFERRARR AEESREAR
of the Group's activities as described below. The Group FREWEREFEMN X5 EHEMEIE
bases its estimates of return on historical results, taking ZHER B E D A ET o

into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a)  Sales of goods (a) Em#EE
Sales of goods are recognised when a group HEEMRAEEEREAREM
entity has delivered products to the customer, TEP BEPEXZEM HER
the customer has accepted the products and az%’z’]TsanM&ﬁFﬁf”ﬂl
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably e A& R EREERA
assumed.
Delivery does not occur until the products have EEMBMNETERIETEME  BF
been delivered to the specified location, the risks MEXRERBEEERTRERS mMEF
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to EREHEECRBERER HMA
the customer, and either the customer has accepted BWIEREERE  IASEERE
the products in accordance with the sales contract, BIRBETRFTAEBIERE KRBT
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the B-EMXNABEEE-

Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Continued)

2.24

(b)

(c)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flows discounted at
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as

incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating

to the design and testing of new or improved products)

are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(a)

it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the management intends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24

2.25

2.26

Research and development costs (Continued)

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
not exceeding five years.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually.

Operating lease

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.27 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company's
Board of Directors.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow interest rate risk, and fair value interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not
have any significant price risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and investing of excess liquidity.
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through financial
instruments that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency
in which they are measured. The functional
currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and
the functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operate in the PRC and most of their
transactions are denominated in RMB. The
Group did not have other significant exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

If HKD had strengthened/weakened by
5% against RMB during the year ended 31
March 2018, with all other factors remaining
unchanged, the profit after income tax for
the year and equity as at year end date would
have been affected as follows:

(BRBBRBEIN ASEIUARE T TIIR)
H¥xERER (H)

3.

3.1
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(i) SERR

Change of profit after

income tax for the year
increase/(decrease)
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Change of equity
as at 31 March
increase/(decrease)

FERBEBANTE RZA=Z+-HEZZZH

#wim, L) # CR)
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F ZT—+t§F —ET-N\F ZZT—LtF
Group AEEH
— Strengthened by 5% —F1E5% - 18,047 54,003 87,646
— Weakened by 5% —B7{B5% - (18,047) (54,003) (87,646)
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group’s
performance.

The Group's exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, if interest rates
on borrowings had been 1 percentage points
higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, there would have been no material
impact to the profit after income tax for the
year.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk
arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with
banks and financial institutions, credit exposure
arising from outstanding receivables.

As at the reporting dates, all the Group’s cash
and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits and
short-term time deposits are placed in high quality
financial institutions without significant exposure to
credit risk.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group currently sells substantially all its
products namely flavours and fragrances, tobacco
raw materials, aroma raw materials, and innovative
tobacco products in the PRC domestic market.
Credit is granted for a period up to 6 months to the
major customers. The credit period is determined
according to an assessment made on the financial
conditions and past payment history of these
customers with the approval obtained from senior
management. As at 31 March 2018, the 5 largest
debtors accounted for approximately 35% (2017:
49%) of total trade receivables balance of the
Group.

The Directors are of the view that most outstanding
receivables as at 31 March 2018 are either from
existing customers with a long business relationship
with the Group and/or reputable companies with
good creditability. The risk of credit default is
considered to be low and accordingly, the provision
for doubtful debts as at 31 March 2018 amounting
to approximately RMB34,036,000 (2017:
RMB14,558,000) is considered adequate to cover
any significant potential credit risk.

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had certain
balances due from subsidiaries. The Directors do not
consider that there is significant credit risk arising
from these balances in light of the past repayment
history and operations of these subsidiaries.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. The Directors monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs and that the Group does not breach
borrowing covenants on its borrowing facilities.
Such forecasting takes into consideration the
Group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance,
compliance with internal statement of financial
position ratio targets and if applicable, external
regulatory or legal requirements — for example,
currency restrictions.

The table below analyses the Group's financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are based on the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact
of discounting is not significant.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. XKRBRER (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEREBREZ(E)
(c)  Ligquidity risk (Continued) (c) FEMtER (&)
Between Between Between
Less than 1and 2 and 3 and
1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years

—ERT —FEZME WMEE=F =FZAEF

Group 3L
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE-NE=A=+-H
Borrowings (including interest) EX (BREEFE) 216,195 = = =
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M 5B
excluding statutory liabilities (TERBEERER
and advances from customers BR®) 498,639 8,772 14,875 581
714,834 8,772 14,875 581
At 31 March 2017 R-ZE—+F=A=1+—H
Borrowings (including interest) EX(BREEFE) 76,332 = = =
Trade and other payables B 5 R E M 5
excluding statutory liabilities (TERFBEERER
and advances from customers FERAR) 406,065 12,989 2,598 =
482,397 12,989 2,598 -
As at 31 March 2018, the Group's net current assets RZF-N\F=ZA=+—H 'K
is RMB8,961,234,000 (2017: RMB6,314,161,000). SEZRBEEFERARK

8,961,234,000L (=& —+F:
ANE#6,314,161,0007T) °
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the debt-to-
equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing the net
debt by the total owners’ equity. The Group’s net debt
is calculated as total borrowings (including current and
non-current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents.
Since the Group's cash and bank balance was larger than
borrowing amount, the Group's debt-to-equity ratio is
zero as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Fair value estimation

The following categorises financial instruments carried
at fair value based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2);
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

BE3)

3.4

3.5

Fair value estimation (Continued)

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

The financial assets of level 3 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 March 2018 and 2017 were the
available-for-sale financial assets, of which the changes
for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 are
presented in Note 11. There were no transfers into or out
of level 3.

Other than available-for-sale financial assets, there are no
financial instruments that were measured at fair value as
at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Market approach is adopted in valuation of available-for-
sale financial assets. There were no changes in valuation
techniques during the year.

Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuation of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes with the assistance of an
independent valuer when necessary, including level 3 fair
values. This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer (“CFQ"). Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the CFO and the valuation team
at least once every six months, in line with the Group's
reporting dates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.
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3.5

D R EE MG ()

- AENAGEYIFREATHERTS
HEaBEA (D TABESEA)
(E=FE) -

RZZE—NF=ZA=+—HB F=FRQ
REERBAZEREESRAHH
EEMEE-HPE_FT\FR_F
—tF=A=t—BIFENEIHRHK
ANMAZRY - METMNEREENE =
BREBRREARE L -

R=B—\FR-B—LF=A=T—
B RAREESBAESN TR

ERMIETDRAREEAE

AHEEEREENGEDIRABTS

e REE 2 BT R A -
AW AR R
REE BHWRE BN BER

MBEBREEERT AEFREH—E
BT HEEBNGE TH SR EENG
B BEEHEEIEAAEBE UINEE
EmM AR ([MIFRE]) ER- M5
BE R/ NETIRAEE 2 #HE B
BlfgefEl A 8T —RalmbmERE R

+
%m °

BBERAAENEREERAGEZD
REE
REHERATENSREEMABENR
AEENEAKEEMES-



2017-2018 Annual Report 4§

143

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances.

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by

definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.9.
The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates
(Note 8).

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-
tax discount rate or forecast growth rate used
in the value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of
flavours subgroup under flavours and fragrances
segment had been 43.8 percentage points lower,
56.1 percentage points higher or 45.5 percentage
points lower than management’s estimates at 31
March 2018 respectively, with all other assumptions
remaining unchanged, the Group would not have
recognised an impairment of goodwill in respect of
flavours and fragrances segment.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

If the budgeted gross margin,
tax discount rate or forecast growth rate used
in the value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of
fragrances subgroup under flavours and fragrances
segment had been 3.5 percentage points lower,
6.3 percentage points higher or 20.9 percentage
points lower than management’s estimates at 31
March 2018 respectively, with all other assumptions
the Group would have
recognised a fully impairment of goodwill.

estimated pre-

remaining unchanged,

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast growth rate used in the
value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of tobacco
raw materials segment had been 13.7 percentage
6.5 percentage points higher or
6.2 percentage points lower than management’s

points lower,

estimates at 31 March 2018 respectively, with
all other assumptions remaining unchanged, the
Group would not have recognised an impairment
of goodwill in respect of tobacco raw materials
segment.

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast growth rate used in the
value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of Yancheng
Chunzhu under aroma raw materials segment had
been 6.9 percentage points lower, 6.6 percentage
points higher or 6.9 percentage points lower
than management’s estimates at 31 March 2018
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would not have recognised
an impairment of goodwill in respect of aroma raw
materials segment.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

If the budgeted gross margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate or forecast growth rate used in the
value-in-use calculation for the CGUs of Jiangxi
Xianghai under aroma raw materials segment had
been 3.3 percentage points lower, 2.7 percentage
points higher or 1.6 percentage points lower
than management’s estimates at 31 March 2018
respectively, with all other assumptions remaining
unchanged, the Group would not have recognised
an impairment of goodwill in respect of aroma raw
materials segment.

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred taxation

The Group's subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it's probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

e MRS R R M EE
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5.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has organised its operations into four main
operating segments:

(1M

(2)

3)

4)

Flavours and fragrances;

Tobacco raw materials;

Aroma raw materials; and

Innovative tobacco products.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors (the “Executive Directors”). The Executive

Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to

assess performance and allocate resources. Management has

determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the

operation’s perspective and assess the performance of flavours

and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials

and innovative tobacco products segments.

(1

4

Flavours and fragrances segment includes research
and development, production and sale of flavours and
fragrances products.

Tobacco raw materials segment includes research and
development, production and sale of paper-making
reconstituted tobacco leaves and new materials products
that are innovative, functional and applicable to tobacco
industry.

Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
materials or generated from chemical process.

Innovative tobacco products segment includes research
and development, production and sale of e-cigarettes.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating

segments based on a measure of operating profit.

(R REEAEI A LBHRAREFTIIR)
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Flavours
and
fragrances

BR

2,233,503
(18,368)

2,215,135

1,287,988

36,962

13,718

Flavours
and
fragrances

L

8,695,901
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Year ended 31 March 2018

BE-Z-N\E=ZA=+-HLEE

Tobacco
raw
materials

ERRR

911,646
(96,623)

815,023

381,303

77,312

10,257

Tobacco
raw
materials

ERRR

3,320,044

Aroma Innovative
raw tobacco
materials products

HE
ERN EEHA

604,831 221,503 3,971,483
(7,866) - (122,857)

596,965 221,503 3,848,626

143,846 (95,713) (79,182) 1,638,242

122,757

(23,424)

99,333

8,232

1,745,807

(349,687)

1,396,120

13,131 4,897 310 132,612

14,900 33,893 1,447 74,215

As at 31 March 2018

R-ZE-NE=ZB=1+-H
Aroma Innovative
raw tobacco

materials products Others Total

#HE
BRH EEHA Hity g

741,625 224,443 1,318,897 14,300,910
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5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT

(CONTINUED)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

INFORMATION 5.

The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2017 is

presented below:

Year ended 31 March 2017

EXBERTHER (F)

BECZ—t5=A=t-AIFE

RE-T—tF=A=+—BLFEZHH
AR 2T

Flavours Tobacco Aroma  Innovative

and raw raw tobacco
fragrances materials materials products Others Total

i
BB ERARH BRE EEHM Hith w@st
Total turnover BEER 2,105,715 712,010 445,184 271,039 1,717 3,535,665
Inter-segment sales DEEHEE (40,981) (6,029) (5,734) (27) = (52,771)
Segment turnover - net AHEXEFE 2,064,734 705981 439450 271,012 1,717 3,482,894
Segment result DHEE 1,205,063 256,053 70,870 (110,984) (81,480) 1,339,522
Finance income R TN 57,140
Finance costs BMERKA (4,793)
Finance income — net HISBA—FE 52,347
Share of profit of associates  FE{BE & 1N & 2 B F 17,243
Profit before income tax BB A & A 1,409,112
Income tax expense FiEH (294,573)
Profit for the year REERF 1,114,539
Depreciation neE 38,873 79,518 11,269 5,666 288 135,614
Amortisation i 23,848 7,568 17,019 31,555 576 80,566

As at 31 March 2017

RZZE—+F=A=+—H

Flavours Tobacco Aroma  Innovative

and raw raw tobacco
fragrances materials materials products Others Total

i
B EARHE ERE  EEHE Hoh @t
Segment assets NBEE 5,580,878 2,892,764 589,854 310,422 2,123,833 11,497,751
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5.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT
(CONTINUED)

Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment
without inclusion of unallocated corporate expenses, finance

INFORMATION

costs, finance income and share of results of associates. This
is the measure reported to chief operating decision makers for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets of the Group as at 31 March 2018 and 31
March 2017 are mainly located in the PRC.

Revenues from external customers are derived from the sales of
flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials and aroma raw
materials to customers mainly located in the PRC, and the sales
of innovative tobacco products to customers mainly located in
the U.S..

Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest external
customer for the year ended 31 March 2018 amounted to 14%
(2017: 15%) of the Group’s total revenue. These revenues are
attributable to flavours and fragrances segment.
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. Yx HIE|ERRE
Furniture,
Plant and Motor  fixturesand  Leasehold  Construction
Note Buildings ~ machinery vehicles  equipment improvements in progress Others Total
G- %8
(i3 BF BERRE hE RRfE  HEEE  GRIE i it
At 31 March 2016 RZE-~ERA-H
Cost B 690,958 761,766 76,003 182,427 67,397 36,104 2,953 1,817,608
Accumulated depreciation 2ihE (211,926) (332617) (54.269) (107,633) (21,300 - (13) (727.868)
Net book amount FEFE 479,032 429,149 2,734 74,794 46,007 36,104 2830 1,089,740
Yearended 31 March 2017 HE-E-t%
ZREt-ALEE
Net book amount at 1 Aprl ~~ REA-REEFE 479,032 429,149 2,734 74,19 46,097 36,104 280 1089740
Additions RE 5,246 505 4899 12,291 6,073 16,231 - 45,245
Transfers &y 14,849 15,564 - 3420 189 (34.972) - (950)
Disposals e 3 (556) (2,106) (551) (1,498) (65) - - (4,776)
Proviion for impairment RERE JE| - (956) - (1812) - - - (2,768)
Depreciation il 3 (33,688) (65,867) (7,300) (17,779 (10,685) - (295) (135,614)
Currency tranglation differences ~ EEHEZE 356 3873 11 26 215 8 - 4,745
Net book amount at 31 March ~ =A=+-BEEFE 465,239 380,162 18,793 69,678 41,804 17,391 2535 995,622
At 31 March 2017 R-B-tEZf=1-R
Cost B 709,793 718879 17482 190,703 74307 17,391 2953 1,851,468
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (244,554 (398,717) (58,649) (121,025) (32,483) - #18) (855,846)
Net book amount FEAE 465,239 380,162 18,793 69,678 41,84 17,391 2,535 995,622
Yearended 31 March 2018 BE=%-N\F
ZR=t-ALFE
Net book amount at 1 April REA-REEFE 465,239 380,162 18,793 69,678 41,84 17,391 2,535 995,622
Additions RE 1374 19,478 1,591 12,858 41 94,91 - 134,994
Transfers 1 4810 1,708 - 1,131 4,535 (12,184) - -
Acquisiion of equity interest in -~ RETEE S 2
Jiangxi Xianghai DL 1,085 13,895 - 449 - 585 - 16,014
Disposals itk 31 - (1,934) (25m) (1219 - (139) - (5.864)
Depreciation ik 3 (3397) (67,022 (3,662) (17,619) (10083) - (295 (132612)
Curtency translation differences ~ EEHEZE 2 (1,299) 4 (416) (53) 3 - (1,729)
Net book amount at 31 March ~ H=R=T-REEFE 438,569 344,988 14,154 64,862 40,985 100,627 2,240 1,006,425
At 31 March 2018 H=8-NFZA=1-H
Cost i 17,109 807,794 54,461 200,957 82,497 100,627 2,953 1,966,398
Accumulated depreciation ZitfiE (218540)  (462,806) (40307)  (136,095) (#1,512) - (M3 (959,97m3)

Net book amount BEFH 438,569 344,988 14,154 64,862 40,985 100,627 2,240 1,006,425
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6.

PROPERTY,
(CONTINUED)

Depreciation was recorded in the following categories:
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(BRBHEEPEIN FELEHUARBETTIIR)
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. Y% #ERZE (&)
WERN T AR

Year ended 31 March
BEZ=A=+—HLFE

Note 2018 2017

B —E-N\F —E 4
Manufacturing overheads 2EEH 69,995 71,381
Selling and marketing expenses HERHEERX 1,234 1,947
Administrative expenses THEHR 61,383 62,286
Total depreciation mERE 23 132,612 135,614
LAND USE RIGHTS 7. T iEFERAE

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are

analysed as follows:

AEERTHERENEERANEEES
HREFHEDTWT :

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Outside Hong Kong, held on: ERBRIMRATFEHRE
Leases between 10 and 50 years 10ZE50F 9 FH 49 171,856 150,713
Year ended 31 March

BE=A=1+—HILEE
Note 2018 2017
Bt 5 —E-N\#F —E—+tF
At 1 April KM A—H 150,713 154,724
Additions NE 25,761 420
Amortisation B 5H 23 (4,622) (5,538)
Currency translation differences BB E =R 4 1,107
At 31 March R=A=+—H 171,856 150,713
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8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

8. BLEE

Non-
Trademarks ~ Customer  competition ~ Computer Product Dormain
Goodwill ~ and licenses relationships  agreement  software Patents design name Total
%8 BERGUE  EFEE AEREE EHEM B ERR BLTa it
Note
iE: (a) (b)
At 1 April 2016 R=8-7EMA-R
Cost B 2,286,001 278,672 213429 3880 9177 43,042 1409 43634 2,989,264
Acoumulated amortisation ~ ZiTEH - (40314 (194,267) (3213 65789 (18153 (4762) (6219 (271,506)
Net book amount FEFE 2,286,001 238358 54,162 667 2599 29,889 66,607 39415 217,758
Year ended 31 March 2017~ BE=3-tF
ZR=t-ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April REA-BEATE 2,286,001 238,358 54,162 667 259 29,889 66,667 39,415 217,758
Additions g = - - - 2946 1415 - U2 4573
Transfers g - - - - 950 = = - 950
Amortisation 1] 3 - (15,559) (2130) (221) (2410 (6,111) (14,280) (9,114 (75,028)
Provision for impairment HERE B 210 - - - - - - = )
Disposal RERY = = - = = (54) - - (34)
Currency translation differences  EBHEZE 1312 5,112 2691 1) 110 1 6,646 3,885 3,167
Net book amount at 31 March ~ R=A=+-BRAFE 2,276,413 2128511 29,526 45 41% 25,141 59,007 34398 2,657,6%
At 31 March 2017 RZZ-tEZA=1-H
Cost i 2276413 287,166 256,261 3876 13430 49,405 75,892 46424 3008867
Accumulated amortisaion ~ Zir & - (38655 (226,735 3431) (9235 4264 (65 (12008 (351.211)
Net book amount FAFE 2276413 28511 29,526 445 419 514 59,027 34398 2,657,656
Year ended 31 March 2018~ BZ=3-1\F
ZRET-ALEE
Net book amount at 1 Aprl ~~ REA-BEASFE 2276413 28511 29,526 U5 4,195 25,141 59,007 34398 2,657,656
Additions e - - - - 84 802 - - 1,626
Acquisiton of equiy interestin WETEEE 2
Jiangxi Xianghai RE 0 13,505 - - - - 653 - - 14,158
Amortisation £ 3 - (15559)  (16,446) (219) (2080 (12308 (14.286) (86%)  (69,593)
Provision for impaiment HERE B (61,056) - - - - - - - (61,056)
Curency translaton differences &R AZ 28 (491) (5520) - - (169) - (257) 228 (10,983)
Net book amount at 31 March ~ W=A=t-BEAZE 2,831 207432 13,080 26 2,766 14,29 42,163 BA9% 2531828
At 31 March 2018 H-E-NE=A=t-H
Cost B 228311 280,862 256,261 3876 13,59 50,859 nan 43,587 2,948,833
Acoumulated amortisation ~ ZiTEH - (3430)  (43,181) (365) (10830 (3657 (29258 (20089  (417,005)
Net book amount FHFH 2,831 207432 13,080 26 2,766 14,29 42,163 8498 2,531,828

Amortisation is included in administrative expenses in the

consolidated income statement.

BHBEREFRARARNITHRERA
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated profitability
of operations, the anticipated future operating synergies
and enlarged market share. Goodwill arising from prior
year is allocated to the Group's CGUs identified within the
operating segment.

The goodwill is allocated in operating segments as

R M RAR M

(BREBHEAEN B EEIUARE T TIITR)
8. AN ﬁ/ﬁE ( i | )

(a)

HETEAKLEADNTABMBNGOR
B H B R 2R AR 22 15 ) R0 A 4 K B T 45
MBRE-AEBEZAEIZREEE
BoMokEEZHREELEM-

BERBKLESHMOENTEE L2510

follows: T:
As at 31 March
R=B=1+-H
2018 2017
“E-\E e
Flavours  Tobacco Aroma Innovative Flavours Tobacco Aroma  Innovative
and raw raw tobacco and raw raw tobacco
fragrances  materials  materials  products Total fragrances  materials  materials  products Total
FE ki
EE ERRH ERY BB @t BE ERRM ERH  ERHM @t
Goodwill  HE 1,194,551 947,436 86,384 - 22283711 1,231,313 947,436 12,175 25489 2,276,413
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based 1Iﬁj’:?$ MEI’J—M&IE:E%EEW?E
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre- AEEAE - LMRAAEEREEE

tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets
prepared by management covering a five-year period.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated terminal growth rates below. The
terminal growth rate does not exceed the long-term
average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU
operates. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant segments or entities
as below. Management determined budgeted gross
margin based on past performance and their expectations
for the market development.

Eﬁ&%ﬁi%%%ﬁgﬁﬁﬁZﬁm
MRBASREMAE -BALFHNES
MEEMWBEF KEFERE R
TiﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁK@ﬁ@ﬁﬁéi
BUsEXBOHEENRPFHER
o Py R 2 BRIR E R LA BA IR K I = iR
TIsLELBZHERAR - EEER
BREMREREHTISERNALE
ERETEME-
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e M BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(a)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 8. BEEE(H)
(Continued) (@) (#&)
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations EREBEFENEERRAT :
are as follows:
As at 31 March
R=B=1-8
2018 2017
ZE-0\f ZE-1E
Flavours Tobacco Aroma Innovative Flavours Tobacco Aroma Innovative
and raw raw tobacco and raw raw tobacco
fragrances materials materials products fragrances materials materials products
B $
ER BRRH ERH BEHR &k BRRH BRH EEZR
Terminal growth rate KEFHERE 0% 3% 3% 3% 0%-3% 3% 3% 3%
Discount rate BRX 154% 14.9%~155% 15.1%~24.4% 17.5% 14.6%~202% 16.2%~173% 15.1%~20.3% 17.5%

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of
each CGU within the operating segment.

Based on the assessment of the cash flow projections of
the various CGUs, the Directors recognised impairment
charge of goodwill amounting to RMB24,478,000 for the
CGU of VMR Products, LLC (“VMR") for the year ended
31 March 2018 (2017: RMB22,710,000), and amounting
to RMB36,578,000 (2017: nil) for the CGUs of fragrances
subgroup under flavours and fragrances segment.

Trademarks represent Peacock, Xinghu, Samshiang,
Chunzhu, V2, V2PRO and Vapour2 trademarks.

(b)

ERJ2EAAREEDHBTFNEERE
EEBMHNDOMA-

EFEZEREEEEMNIRE RTEA
% BHE_T-N\FZA=Z1+—HILF
B AEEzESHERTHAEER G
=7/ 72 VMR Products, LLC ([VMR ])
REELBEUREREL (XZERH
AERBIZHCELEBENNEERE
DRl A AR 24,478,000 (— & —+
£ ANR#22,710,0007T) & A R #&
36,578,000 (=ZZE—+tF : &) o

EENEILE B RBLE -FM-
V2 ~ V2PRO  Vapour2 j# i 1Z »
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9.

R M RAR M

(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 9. RBEQFZRE
The Group has interests in five individually immaterial associates RZE-N\FRZZBE—t+F=HA=+—H K
as at 31 March 2018 and 2017. The following table analyses, £ 7 T 3 3 E Bl E R A B N Rl B
in aggregate, the movements of the carrying amount of the o PRARNEBENZEHE A ANKRE RE
Group's investments in these associates, and its share of results REZFEHENREMFEENETRAEBESE
of these associates. B AT o
An analysis of the movements of equity investments in REEERRINERIREZH SO T :
associates is as follows:
Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1t—HLEE
Note 2018 2017
Pt = —E-N\F —T
At 1 April MM A—H 379,106 281,319
Share of profit of associates FE G B & A B & A 8,232 17,243
Transfer iz 11 - 58,297
Dividends received or receivable EIRAR S (15,894) (7,753)
Acquisition of Beijing WEIEREEYFRER A
Yunji Wuyu Technology BRA A
Co., LTD (“Yunji Wuyu") (TEEMT]) - 30,000
At 31 March R=A=+—~ 371,444 379,106
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 9. RBMELATZRE (&)
(@) As at 31 March 2018, the Group had interests in the (@ MRZZE—NF=ZA=+—H0 AEKER
following associates: IATE &R E R e
% of
Country of ownership
Name incorporation Interests  Principal activities
=L A#MALER MisEEEAIE TEXH
Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf Technology ~ PRC 40%  Produce and sell reconstituted
Co., Ltd. ("Huangguoshu Golden Leaf") H tobacco leaves
EMERESENEERAR ([ERESE]) FENHERERE
Yunnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper Co., Ltd. PRC 25.10%  Manufacture and sales of cigarette
EHAREERERERAA H paper and auxiliary products
EEMEEBZERE R @
Yunji Wuyu PRC 20%  Provide software development
EEYTF H service and sale of self-developed
software and electronic products
REREFEREREEATRE
ZHHEREFEM
Hunan Golden Leaf Reconstituted Tobacco PRC 10%  Produce and sell reconstituted
Leaves Co., Ltd. ("Hunan Golden Leaf") (i) F tobacco leaves
HEeEESBR EREERA (DRESE]) () EENHERERE
Yunnan Ruisheng Tobacco Technology Group PRC 6.72%  Research, develop, produce and
Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Ruisheng" (i) H sell flavours and additives
EmnEERN (RE) R A A e - EEMHEBEER RN NA
(FEmIml) @)

(i) The Group has significant influence over Hunan Golden
Leaf and Yunnan Ruisheng by representations on the
board of directors of these two companies.

(i)

AEEBRBENESENERMN
TEEEHREEES HERHE
REBEAFES -
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INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITY

The Group has interests in one immaterial joint venture as at
31 March 2018. The following table analyzes the movement of
the carrying amount of the Group's investments in this jointly
controlled entity.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in jointly
controlled entity is as follows:

At 1 April MREA—H

R M RAR M

SEEAEIN FEEBRUARET IR

. REABEZEHER2RE

R-F-NF=ZA=+—0 AKER—EL
FERNERNAFZEGEREA RS TR
AEERZARZEHERNIRE REGRKR
EHERXENREEZESN -

RARZESBEENERREEBHONAOT

Year ended

31 March

BZE

=A=+—8

LFEE

Note 2018
B —E-N\F

Acquisition of Dianhua Benxiang Technology & & EFEEAREFRIL AR A A

Co., LTD (“Dianhua Benxiang") (DEEAXE])

At 31 March R=A=+—H

@ 5100

5,100

(@) As at 31 March 2018, the Group had interests in the
following jointly controlled entity:

(@ R-ZE-NF=A=+—H xEER
AT RSB R A # et

% of
Country of ownership
Name incorporation Interests Principal activities
=E =t AR 32 Bl X FiisERBE D FTEXHK
Dianhua Benxiang PRC 51% Research,development,manufacture

REXRE FE

and sale of cigarette capsules, cigarette
materials cigarette filter stick and packaging
materials

ME FE EENEEEABE BEM
B ERREME R e M
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FEMKBRRMTE
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN MESBEHAARETTIR)
11. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 1. IHEEEREE
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
Note 2018 2017
B & —E-N\F —E—+tF
At 1 April R A—A 226,938 323,388
Additions for the year ZANCS Rl (a) 470,893 1,055,204
Disposal for the year REZR D (464,893) (1,059,000)
Transfer i 9 - (58,297)
Fair value change NAEBEEE 18(a) (38,979) (39,982)
Currency translation differences EEmE =R (11,287) 5,625
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 182,672 226,938
Available-for-sale financial assets include: A ESREERTE:
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
Note 2018 2017
k=2 —E-N\F —E—+tF
Non-current assets: EMEBEE :
Unlisted equity investments RABEEIEETRERKRE :
in the PRC: at fair value NiE (b) 30,261 13,345
Unlisted equity investments RIABIIBIE L MEZREE
in Israel: at fair value NAE (b) 50,411 102,593
80,672 115,938
Current assets: MBNEE

Wealth management products HEEEER (a) 102,000 111,000
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11. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Additions for the year represented funds investments
amounting to RMB15,000,000 and investment in wealth
management products amounting to RMB455,893,000.
The additions included the reinvestment of the wealth
management product after its maturity. There was no
single transaction of investment in wealth management
product excess the amount of RMB500 million.

Wealth management products represent financial
products issued by commercial banks in PRC. These
products are principal protected and with non-guaranteed
return, the terms ranging from one day to three months.

The carrying amount of wealth management products
approximated the fair value. The fair values are based on
cash flow discounted using the excepted return based on
management judgement and are of level 3 within the fair
value hierarchy.

R M RAR M

(B REEAEI A LBIRAREFTIIR)
" THEESHMEE (&)

(a)

AEEHEBAEZSKREEXZARE
15,000,0007T : A RIEERITH = B 2
E fm £ A R #455,893,0007T ° # i £
BTV EEHREREEIBR 2 BER
B -MBTHEEHEERRERAE—
MR ZEBEARESETT -

RITMEERERSBTEAMBRT
BHUBER BLEMRRELRE
FMIERFE WS ER BB R —RE=1E
Ho

ROV EERERN A EEEFEE
1 o DA BB R R E 2 MM AT
MER FRBLHHE ABRAA
BEERZE=E-
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(CONTINUED)
(b)  The fair value of unlisted equity investments are based
on market comparable companies with the following
unobservable inputs used.

(R REEAEI A LBHRAREFTIIR)
M. THEESRMEE (&)
(b) FFEBERBEZ RABEDREDS L

ARz ARNATAERG AEBME
=0

Fair value as at 31 March

R=A=+—RAZAR{E

Unlisted equity interest 2018 2017 Valuation techniques
FEmER —E-N\F —T—+F B Wbz
Private equity fund 80,672 115,938 Net asset value
LEES BEFE

Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the
following currencies:

AHEESREENTIEE SRR

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
RMB AR 132,261 124,345
usb ETT 50,411 102,593
182,672 226,938
None of these financial assets is impaired. REEMEEERE
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12. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 12. EEFEREE AF
The movements in the deferred income tax are as follows: RIEFTSH eI T
Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities
BEFERER BERERER
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
Unrealised Valuation ~ expected to
profits surplus of e remitted
arising assetsand ~ from group
from recognition entities
intra-group  Recoverable of intangible  incorporated
Note sales tax loss Others Total assets in the PRC Total
ARl
EL T RAEER
NABEE BENfE AREHERN
FEEHEEA BHREY REFEEZ
M REREN TREER Ky gt EENER  REAER it
At 1 April 2016 RZE-7ERA-A 58,813 5825 1845 66,483 71,100 = 71,100
Recognised in other comprehensive income 1A 2 Bl R 18 = - - = (16,268) = (16,268)
Recognised in the income statement NEakER 2 (4659) 1317 3,603 261 (18329) 18,047 (282
Currency tranglaion differences gEhEER - - - - 1757 - 1757
At 31 March 2017 NZE-tEZA=1-A 54,154 ALY 5,448 66,744 38,260 18,047 56,307
Acauistion of equity interet in NBIERE NE
Jiangyi Xianghai JL) - - - - 780 - 780
Recognised in other REp2ENERD
comprehensive income 18 - - - - a9 - 479
Recognised in the income statement NERRET 2 6812 4907 1863 13,602 (7,216) 31,659 483
Currency tranglation differences gEhEER - - - - (623) - (623)
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=f=1-H 60,966 12,069 131 80,346 31,680 49,106 81,386
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for temporary EENATENE M EANEERN SRR
differences arising from unrealised profits from intra-group FERSETFEREE  L4EAa B ER
sales, and calculated under the liability method using the tax EE AR AMRE TS AR R R
rate which are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance MR T o

sheet date.
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12.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Deferred income tax liabilities arose from the valuation surplus
of property, plant and equipment, land use rights, intangible
assets, available-for-sale financial assets; recognition of
intangible assets as a result of acquisition of subsidiaries;
withholding income tax on dividends expected to be remitted
abroad by group entities incorporated in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the PRC
approved by the National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends remitted from the
PRC entities to overseas investors with effect from 1 January
2008. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied to Hong
Kong investors as there is a tax treaty between the PRC and
Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty rate is not automatically
granted. The taxpayer needs to apply to the relevant tax bureau
for an approval for the treaty rate. The Directors estimated that
a portion of profits generated by the PRC subsidiaries would
be distributed to their Hong Kong immediate parent companies
and the approval for the treaty rate will be obtained. Therefore,
deferred income tax liabilities had been provided based on
5% or 10% of the estimated profits to be remitted to Hong
Kong. The Directors of the Company will review the funding
requirements of the Group and revise the dividend distribution
policy of its subsidiaries as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2018, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB266,036,000 (2017: RMB327,717,000) have not been
recognised for the withholding tax that would otherwise
be payable on the undistributed profits approximately
RMB5,315,584,000 (2017: RMB6,539,449,000) retained by
certain PRC subsidiaries.

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

12.

EEFEHEE &fE (F)

ELEFRBHRABIHNARRWE LS G
BABIMEBHZME HERRE LHER
B BEEAEMAHELESREENTHER
OB EENRRMEL REBARS
AR A SZ Y 1 B TR ERRE B R SN IR B P EE A
ZIBRPTIS ML

BREZEARKKAGNR _EZLF=A+X
REBNPREEMERE A_TTN\F—
A—BE HECERIIERELED KR
B BIRI10% Z B R FTFH - ERHE R
FERERAIBRBHE APBEELRAFTER
BEERNDRRE A ZAREBENH K%
W BZS%HERELIFABER  BHAF
RMEBAIENRRFLEZBERBHE AR
FAEFERASHRLPRRENBAR R
MKERETEREENERS AR - EHit-
BIEFTS TR B E TR B HE B FE Z B F A
5%H10%H B R E - ARREFTHTHR
NAEEzESBRLERARMBRFZ
P B BUR

R_E—N\F=ZA=+—H AEBET X5
ETHBEAREWNEB AR ZADIKEFLD A
R#5,315,584,0000t (=2 —tF: ARK
6,539,449,0007T ) 78 T X 1 A TE 1R AT 15 T 7
RIEEFTEH A EARK266,036,0007T (=
T—+F: AR¥327,717,0007T) °
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12. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 12. EEZEFEHREE &&E (&)
(CONTINUED)
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income RLEMSHEERBBENDTAT

tax liabilities is as follows:

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2018 2017
=t BUY: e
Deferred income tax assets: EEREHEE:
— to be recovered after more than 12 months —~E+ @A KEEH 12,069 7,142
— to be recovered within 12 months —fE+ =8B R E =5 68,277 59,602
80,346 66,744
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEREHARE:
— to become payable after more than 12 months ~hERBT_AARERENBRD 77,678 50,470
— to become payable within 12 months ~ETZEARNEAEMNIR 3,708 5,837

81,386 56,307
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13. INVENTORIES

(BBEEREIN FIESEHUARE T THIR)
13. &

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+F

At cost: AN :
Raw materials R A1 % 392,779 317,147
Work in progress Pl 196,349 202,365
Finished goods 2UpK i 176,877 173,978
766,005 693,490

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the cost of inventories
recognised as expense and included in cost of goods sold
and administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB1,032,263,000 (2017: RMB1,034,727,000).

The Group recognised provision for impairment of
approximately RMB2,587,000 (2017: RMB7,014,000) in respect
of the losses on obsolete inventories.

HE-_Z—N\FE=A=1+—BIEEZTFEK
AERAEBBYTAHEXNARITRERN
S RH A ANRE1,032,263,000T (=2 —+

£ AR#1,034,727,0007T) °

AEEHBREFTEREMBERREREED
BARK2587,000c(ZE—+tF: ARK

7,014,0007%) ©
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14. ESZRHMEWFIE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+-—HLFE

Note 2018 2017
B 2 —E-N\F —E—+F
Trade receivables 2 5 WA (a) 1,062,482 1,049,955
Less: provision for impairment of B 5 RUGRIE R E R E
trade receivables (12,925) (10,985)
Trade receivables - net B 5 e WK — F R 1,049,557 1,038,970
Notes receivable JE W R IR 151,428 180,758
Prepayments and other receivables T8 5 5018 K E A FE Y SR IR 240,919 190,266
Advances to staff BI R 7,254 5,740
Others Hib 28,437 13,366
Less: provision for impairment of R B FE WGRIB R E B A
other receivables (21,111) (3,573)
1,456,484 1,425,527
Except for prepayment of RMB41,623,000 (2017: B 78 1 BR 3k A R 841,623,000 (= F —+
RMB28,229,000), trade and other receivables are financial F: AR#28,229,000L) 50 B 5 K E b fE
assets categorised under “loans and receivables”. All trade and WD A [ ERMEYHRIE] - FIEES R
other receivables are either recoverable within one year or on H b FEUGRIB TR — F RSB AR B E o
demand. Accordingly, the fair values of the trade and other B o hEMERRIARBERR DEHRE -

receivables approximate their carrying amounts.
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

The credit period generally granted to customers ranges
from 0 to 180 days. At 31 March 2018 and 2017,
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables (including

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

14. EFREMERE

(a)

K1 (48)

BYTEFHEEH— KR AB0E180H -
—E-N\FERFT—ttF=ZA=+—
B ZHEKZKE (BEABALOHE

amounts due from related parties which are trade in S EWHIE) RIREZE B HERER DT
nature) based on invoice date was as follows: PN
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
=S —t%F
0 - 90 days 0Z290H 908,682 934,268
91 - 180 days 91£180H 110,860 77,758
181 — 360 days 181%£360H 12,872 15,899
Over 360 days 360H K 30,068 22,030
1,062,482 1,049,955
As at 31 March 2018, unbilled trade receivables of S NE=ZA=+—0H AHBEE

RMB483,626,000 (2017: RMB449,225,000) was
categorised in the aging of 0-90 days.

After considering the credit period, trade receivables are
assessed for impairment. As at 31 March 2018, trade
receivables of RMB83,966,000 (2017: RMB33,605,000)
were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number
of independent customers with no recent history of
default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is
as follows:

—E—

2B SR A AR KEA483,626,0007T
(ZZ—+t4F: AR #¥449,225,0007T)
2 B FEE0-90H BREL A »

EABRE BYE S ERKEETHR
BFE - R=_E—N\F=A=+—8"
2 5k 518 A R #83,966,0007T (—
T —tF: AR¥33,605000T)&E
BMEEVERE - WERESRZ ER
IR EHRERCENBALRTE - IS
Z R EERE ST T

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-NF —E—LF
Past due up to 90 days BEAZ=90H 77,056 29,880
Past due over 90 days %0 HAEE 3890 B 6,910 3,725
83,966 33,605




(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)
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(Continued)

14. 5
(a)

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of RMB30,068,000

(2017: RMB22,030,000) were impa

ired with RMB 12,925,000

(2017: RMB10,985,000) provision made. The individually

impaired receivables mainly relate

to customers which had

ceased business with the Group and were not in a position

to repay. These receivables are all aged over one year.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables

(including amounts due from
are trade in nature) are denom

related parties which
inated in the following

R M RAR M

(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

REMEKRIE (&)

(&)

R-_E—NF=ZA=+—H8 B
I A R #30,068,0005T (=T —+
F£: AR#22,030,0007T)F AR
12,925,000 (ZE—tF: AR
10,985,0007T ) 78 Jk 18 F2 % 4  {E 51
BEHNEKGIBEEERGEESERIEEIE
BREREERENNEE - Ll B
THARBR IR A — G o

AEBENEZREFNEEE(2EH
BALTHEZREKE)ATIEER
Bf

currencies:

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—8
2018 2017
—B-N\fF —T—+F
RMB AR #& 1,041,002 1,027,952
usD ETT 21,330 21,604
HKD it 150 399
1,062,482 1,049,955

Movements of the provision for i
other receivables were as follows:

mpairment of trade and

B 5 I H A FE WORROR (B 0 & B a0
N

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

Note 2018 2017
Bt 5 —E-N\E —ZE—tF
At 1 April HmA—H 14,558 11,468
Provision for impairment of B 5 I H th & W HOR B B
trade and other receivables 23 21,947 6,514
Trade and other receivables A6 RS R Uy
written off during the year as B 5 K& H i fig Y 7%
uncollectible (2,469) (3,424)
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 34,036 14,558
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income statement.
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally
written off when there is no expectation of recovering

additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do
not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security.

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

14. 5
(a)

K H BRI ()

(%)
HERERKREENRINEEE R
BEGAWBERD [TTREBAIA-EA
BEEShBE - REERBEAK
BIEASMR S B -

BHREMEBRKANEMERNREE
SEREEE-

EHREAH FEARNKS R R AR
7 bl 1R MR IR ) BR T (B - A £ [E
THAEEAESEMHER M-

15. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 15. RTREFRS
As at 31 March
WR=H=+—H
Note 2018 2017
B 5 —E-N\F —E—+tF
Short-term time deposits EEEBER (a) 1,076,955 724,148
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEFEEY 6,635,651 4,177,807
7,712,606 4,901,955

(a)

The original maturity of time deposits was six month
or above with average interest rate of 2.8% (2017:
1.8%). The fair values of the short-term time deposits
approximate their carrying amounts. None of the deposits
is either past due or impaired.

(a)

2 HE B AR A R 2V HR B T < (B A 3R
EREFHERENEXR[28E(=F
—tF:18E) BHERFHREEE
BN ERE - BEFREHIRE -
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN ESBEHAARETTIR)
15. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONTINUED) 15. RITREERE (&)
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following RITREFRESUTIEESEIIR:
currencies:
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—B-N\fF —T—+F
RMB AR 6,647,997 3,570,446
usD ETT 892,613 862,575
HKD g 169,340 465,581
EUR and others R T K2 H At 2,656 3,353
7,712,606 4,901,955
As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s and the Company's RZB-NF=A=+—H8 KAEEKARQF
maximum exposure to credit risk of cash and bank balances is HHENRERTEREFERSNESEERRE
their carrying amounts. T EAREEE -
16. SHARE CAPITAL 16. A
Share capital
Number of S
shares RMB’000
I 5 & B ARET
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TER BERTRERE:
At 1 April 2016 R-ZE—FNA—H 3,106,657,961 318,534
Issue of shares upon exercise of 1T AR 17 52D 2 1T R FT AR
share awards 1,304,915 113
At 31 March 2017,1 April 2017 and R-ZZE—tF=A=+—8"
At 31 March 2018 —ZE—tFHA-—BR

—N\$=A=+—H 3,107,962,876 318,647
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 17. ROREBRH XA
Movements in the number of shares under share-based RER - RN ABERA TN T RITENRS
payment outstanding during the year are set out below: HEZEEIRAT :
Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—-HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Number of Number of
Note share options share options
(‘000) ("000)
Bt 5 7 &E fi& 17 21 B
(‘000) (000)
Share options it
1 April HmA—8 (@i 2,600 15,250
Lapsed B R (a i) (2,600) (9,100)
Deregistered 2 5t 84 (a i) - (3,550)
At 31 March R=RA=+—8H (aiv) - 2,600
Share award %10 ZEED
1 April KM A—H - 4,350
Exercised 21T (b) - (1,305)
Deregistered [mEi (b) - (3,045)
At 31 March R=A=+—~ - -
Total H5t - 2,600
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(a)

Share option scheme

On 10 October 2006 and 25 October 2006, the Group
granted 97,200,000 and 30,400,000 share options with
an exercise price of HKD3.09 per share and vesting
periods of 0 to 3 years to employees and directors
respectively. On 17 October 2007, the Group granted
13,900,000 and 3,600,000 share options with an exercise
price of HKD6.65 per share and vesting periods of 0.5
to 3 years to employees and a director respectively. The
options have a contractual option term of 10 years.
The Group has no legal or contractual obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash. The fair value of
the share options at the grant date was determined using
the Black-Scholes valuation model.

(i)  The weighted average exercise prices per share
were HKD6.65 and HKD5.02 as at 1 April 2017 and
2016 respectively.

(i)  Share options lapsed was due to resignation of
employees and the expiry of the ten-year share
options. The weighted average exercise price per
share are HKD6.65 and HKD3.91 for the share
option lapsed during the year ended 31 March
2018 and 31 March 2017 respectively.

(iii)  On 22 December 2016, the Company issued a
voluntary conditional cash offer (for details please
refer to the circulars on 22 December 2016) and
the parties who hold 3,550,000 share options
has accepted the offer and agreed to cancel their
outstanding share options. The weighted average
exercise price per share for the deregistered share
options is HKD6.65.

(iv) There is no outstanding share options as at 31
March 2018.

e MRS R R M EE

(BRRBERBEIN ASEIUARBFTIIR)
17. BRRERNZMN (K)

(a)

S R
RZZFEEXNF+A+THEERZZFTEA
F+A-t+RBE - AEEDREH
97,200,000 30,400,000 % & A # -
TEEAERABEI0OTEEBEHA
023F FTHAREBREZ - RN =F
THE+A+ LR AEBHRHFESE
13,900,000 3,600,000 8% B& p& e - 178
EAEBREK6STAEBHALESR
3F FHERER —REZ-6RA
EERENHRATF AEBEEERE
EHHUAREERIARS I ERE-
BRENQAAEBERE LS A HBlack-
ScholessT i R 2 #E 52

(i) HR-ZZE—tER-_ZT— X EWA
—H - MEFHTEED B AT
7B #6.657T M B #5.027T

(i) MEREASIEHARE TEHE K
RBATFZzERECEGH =
—E-N\EErR=FT—tF=A
=+ HIEFE  KANEREZ
MEFHTEES R ATRBE
6.657C R #3.917L ©

(iy MZZTE—RE+A=Z+=H%
THWERERGRSZN (FR
ARARBPA-ZT—X~NF+=
AZ+ZBZ2HREEH REIEX
), 3,550,0000% B8 A% # 1R 15 i
AR M Z 41 ek 88 - WAk sH A BB AR
B2 METFHTEEREREE
6.657T °

vy, RZZE—N\F=A=+—H KA
DA BB R ARTTE Z BB -
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

(b)

(c)

Share award

On 30 December 2015, The Company granted not more
than 4,349,717 awarded shares to a consultant (“the
Consultant”) for payment of service fee to the Consultant
on full completion of the services (”Services”) by the
Consultant, or such lesser amount representing the part
of Services completed by the Consultant pursuant to a
service contract (“Service Contract”). It is considered as
an equity-settled share-based payment and accounted for
as restricted share award. As such, the services received
are measured and accounted for at their fair values,
which amounted to RMB10,000,000 and expensed
over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. The
corresponding equity for the settlement of payment is
also increased by the fair value of the services received.

As at 30 September 2016 which being expiry date of the
Service Contract, the fair value of the part of Services
completed under the Service Contract by the Consultant
was RMB3,000,000. Based on the service completed,
the Consultant would be entitled to 1,304,915 awarded
shares and the remaining 3,044,802 awarded shares to
which the Consultant was not entitled had been cancelled
before 30 November 2016.

As at 31 March 2017, all the exercisable shares had been
exercised by the Consultant.

Share option scheme of VMR

VMR, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group,
operated a share option scheme which over 80,000
shares were authorised to be issued. All options vest over
a three year period and have a contractual option term of
5 years. The fair value of the share options at the grant
date was determined using the Black-Scholes valuation
model.

(BRBBRBEIN ASEIUARE T TIIR)
17. BRRERNZMN (F)

(b)

(c)

% 17 52 /B
RZZE—RAF+ZA=+H XA
ZIRIEAR ([RIEER])HEETBE
4,349,717 £ B 1% A& 10 F — iz BR
([ IEB X (MEM K 2 IR
(THR% 1) & R & (iR B M 58X 3
MRS TR D 4REE) o 1t Ty LA B
7 B A 3 DA 52 BRI AR (0 22 B A
Ro-E RBEUAEQAABEARKE
10,000,0007T 57 = F1 A BR I 1 5 (& 23
AX L MIRBHAAESEMNES D
8o

BHE_Z—X"FLA=1+B(R%EAE
ERERBE) BEBREREER
EEKHHBDRE 2 RARERARE
3,000,0007T ° L FT E A B AR 75 - BRI B
TEFEE A S ED 1% AR 10 & 1,304,91508% + 1
B8 ] fI 7 BN A L 842 93,044,802 % 5
BERGER=_E—A~"F+—HA=+H
Z BIFESH o

BHEER _—_ZT—tF=HA=+—HA2
AT EERE IR ) 22 )

VMR 2 i B RE 5T 2l

EBEZIEEENE R RVMRZ BB ##
FT 2| /9% E B B 4 280,0008% - FT A &
BRECvERESBSHA=F AaRMEE
BRENHR AT BRENALE
B % i B B Black-ScholessT i 18 7Y 7

o
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED)

(c)

Share option scheme of VMR (Continued)

Movements in the number of shares options outstanding
during the year ended 31 March 2018 and their related

weighted average exercise prices are set out below:

R M RAR M

(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

17. ROBERIZMN (F)
() VMRZEERESE ()
RZEBE-NF=ZA=+—HILEFEH
Bl RITENBRESRE 228 R HEA
B2 EFHITEESRMT

Weighted average
Number of
share options

exercise price
in USD per share
In#EFHITE

BExx (B8R BRERE
1 April 2017 R—ZE—tFWMA—H 28.93 38,994
Lapsed B R (i) 20.15 (16,500)
31 March 2018 R=ZZF—N\EF=A=+—H 35.38 22,494

(i)

(ii)

Share option lapsed was due to resignation of
employees.

The total amount of compensation recognised for
all options issued for the year ended 31 March
2018 amounted to approximately RMB740,000
(2017: RMB1,080,000). As at 31 March 2018, the
remaining unrecognised compensation cost relates
to the options issued amounted to approximately
RMB353,000 (2017: RMB3,827,000).

() BEEXRBGEANE TRER-

iy B2 Z2—N\FE=A=+—8H
LEFE BREIZEHARKE
740,000 (ZE—tEF: ARK
1,080,0007T) c R = — \F =
A=+—RH ERLERERS
CARBREREILORARE
353,000t (= —+tF: AR
3,827,0007T) °



174 Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BHmRME
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN MESBEHAARETTIR)
17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED) 17. ROBKREBROZN (&)
(c) Share option scheme of VMR (Continued) (c) VMRZBRR#ESE (&)
Share options outstanding as at 31 March 2018 are REZFE—NF=A=+—BR1TEER
analysed as follows: 2D
Exercise
price in USD Number of
Grantee ' A per share share options  Expiry date
THEEXET
€=3'5ip) BREHE X%BEH
Employees E& 21.27 3,950 14 September 2018
—Z-N\FAATHEH
Employees EE 96.99 5,000 1 July 2019
—ZE-NAFE+HA—H
Employees == 16.75 13,544 17 December 2020
—EZTFE+-A++H
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-\F=HA=+—H 22,494
Out of the total outstanding options, 17,076 share R-ZE—N\E=ZA=+—H"  RKTEHN
options were currently exercisable as at 31 March 2018. EABEE - 17,076 X R MER] T LATT

f& o
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18. RESERVES 18. f#fE
Capital ~ Share-based ~ Currency
Contributed Merger Share Capital ~ redemption compensation translation Other
Note surplus feserve  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves Total
NEHASE

M REBR  ABEBR  RBER  BAGE EANERR  OMEBR ERARRE  AMGE it

At 1 April 2016 RZZ2-ERA-A 296,853 (628438) 426,866 241 4749 41,228 (84578) 322002 381113
Fairvalue changes on ML ESBEEY

avallable-forsale financial assets,  BHEMAAEES

net of tax ) - - - - - - - (34,439) (34.435)

Reversalof reserves upon disposal - HEETLHELBAR
of avalable-forsale financial MBGEEDSER,

assets, et of tax hiike% - - - - - - - 2989 (29893
Appropriations from net pofit ~~ BA&FIE - - - - - - - RN 361
Addftional investment in BOVEER

anonwholly owned subsidlary  —%2AHBAT - - - - - - - (8,068) (8068)
Issuance of new shares to RERARG RN ER

non-controlling interests Bk - - - - - - - 258N 25811

Acquisition of additional equity ~ FIFEEBIEREEHE

interestin Yongzhou Shankiang &ML EESER

from non-controlling inferests - - - - - = - (2040) (2,040)
Share-based payment B ES - - - - - 1,000 - - 1,000
~Value of consutancy senice ~ ~EREHER
- lsue of shares upon exercise o ~ TR ZEIMES

share award ik - - 29% - - 3,108 - - (1)
Currency translation differences X AHZE - - - - - - 120,200 - 120,200
At 31 March 2017 et 3 o il 296,853 (628,438) 429,861 20 4789 39,120 35,602 799,580 979,764
At 1 April 2017 AE-tEmA-A 296,853 (628,438) 429,861 20 4,749 39,120 35,622 799,586 979,764
Fairvalue changes on i ESRERL

avalable-forsale BRkOALERD

financial assets, net of tax @ - - - - - - - (39,458) (39,458)
Appropriations fiom net profit ~ EAEFIE( 19 - - - - - - -3 1988
Capttal injecton from HEAR R B

non-controlling interests ¥k 30 - - - - - - - 135861 1305861
Additional investment n BNERF2EHEAR

non-wholly owned subsidiaries - - - - - - - (478) (478)
Employee share option scheme ~~ EEER#ifE)

- Lapsed of share options - EREXH - - - - - (39,120) - 39,120 -
Currency transltion differences ~ EXREZE - - - - - - (135,359 - (1353%9)

At 31 March 2018 RZB-NEZA=1-H 296,853 (628,438) 429,861 2411 4,149 - (09,731) (337878 2383573
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18.

19.

20.

RESERVES (CONTINUED)
(@) For the year ended 31 March 2018, the amount of
changes in fair value in available-for-sale financial assets
before tax is RMB38,979,000 (2017: RMB39,982,000)
(Note 11), of which RMB479,000 (2017: RMB5,547,000)
was recognised in other comprehensive income as

deferred tax (Note 12).

RETAINED EARNINGS

e
(a)

18.

19. &8

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

(&)
BHE_ZTZ-—NEF=ZA=1t—HILEE"
AL ESHMEEZ A AABEHFA
4% A AR 138,979,000t (=T —+
& AR #39,982,0007T) (MisE11)
Heh AR#479,000t (=T —+H4F: A
R#5,547,0007T ) B 7 H b 2 W o T
RAELERIE (ME12) °

27

Year ended 31 March
HE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
At 1 April R A—H 8,528,166 7,788,871
Profit for the year REZ &R 1,263,797 1,065,424
Appropriations from net profit B 45 I 8 1~ (193,243) (326,129)
Final dividends for the year ended BEZT—+tHF=A=+—8H
31 March 2017 IEFE 2 BRKRE (576,800) -
Interim and special dividends for the HE-_FT—tFhHA=1H
six months ended 30 September 2017 LE7SME A 2z B R R B AR S (420,578) =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 8,601,342 8,528,166
=5
BORROWINGS 20. B
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
Note 2018 2017
B & —E-N\F —E—+tF
Current mE
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EIW R ITE R (a) 210,000 75,500

(@) Unsecured bank borrowings are denominated in RMB and
repayable within one year. During the year, the average

interest rate was 4.25% (2017: 3.97%) per annum.

(a)

EERRTERUAREESBEN 1 H
R—FRE|HEE - RFER - ZERFY
FEABEFF425E (ZF—+HF:3.97
E) -
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20. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

21.

Borrowings are financial liabilities categorised under “financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost”. The fair values of the
borrowings approximate their carrying amounts.

Interest expense on bank borrowings for the year ended 31
March 2018 amounted to approximately RMB3,762,000 (2017:
RMB2,473,000). No interest expense (2017: nil) was capitalised
during the year.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

R M RAR M

(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

20.

21.

B (&)

ERNEemEBER B RBHEKATE
MNeMmaE] EXMMERERAAEBER
go
BHE-_Z-—N\EF=A=+—RBILFENRT
ERAMBRAZ Y A ARK3 762,000 (=&
—+F: AR#¥2,473,0007T) - RE RN I &

—E—tF E)FEBRENE-

BEZRHEMENRE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

Note 2018 2017

B —E-N\E —E—tF

Trade payables B S ER IR (a) 348,522 288,422
Dividends payable PR IR 2 - 2,251
Wages payable ERNIE 46,797 49,619
Other taxes payable H i &~ 18 90,452 84,345
Accruals for expenses e 23,435 23,860
Advances from customers BEBMNK 25,590 23,773
Payable for licence fee EREREE 27,744 30,481
Other payables Hh FE A 5E 120,735 75,574
683,275 578,325

Except for other taxes payable of RMB90,452,000 (2017:
RMB84,345,000), wages payable of RMB46,797,000
(2017: RMB49,619,000) and advances from customers of
RMB25,590,000 (2017: RMB23,773,000), trade and other
payables balances are financial liabilities categorised under
“financial liabilities measured at amortised cost”. The fair
values of trade and other payables approximate their carrying
amounts.

B H i FE o B A R #690,452,0007T (=
T —+4F: AR%84,345,0005t) © [EfF
TEANRM®AL6,797,000T (=8 — + 4 :
AR#49,619,000c) M EFP BN KA
R #¥25,590,000c (T —LEF: AR¥
23,773,0007) 5N B S R EMER T &
BREBEIBAIEREHEKATENESHE
B - BHREMEMNRBENAAEBEBERIE
EEHEE -
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21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 21. ESREMENFE (&)
(@) As at 31 March 2018 and 2017, the ageing analysis of (@ RZBE-NEERZT—+F=A=1+—
the trade payables (including amounts due to related H B5RENHKE(BE@ABALTHE
parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice dates S RENFIE) RIEHE B BRI DT

was as follows: (N

As at 31 March

R=H=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
0 - 90 days 0%90H 312,436 231,307
91 — 180 days 91£180H 23,887 33,747
181 - 360 days 181£360H 2,067 2,425
Over 360 days 3608 A E 10,132 20,943
348,522 288,422

AEENEZENR (BREBBA LD
BHRNFIBR)NKREENLTIEE S

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables
(including amounts due to related parties which are trade

in nature) are denominated in the following currencies: By :

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
RMB AR 290,590 250,936
usD X 46,927 26,700
HKD B 4,131 4,663
EUR and other BT e B A 6,874 6,123
348,522 288,422
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN ESBEHAARETTIR)
22. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET 22. HtW AR EMW s —F5E

Changes in fair value of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets

Transfer of reserves to income statement
upon disposal of available-for-sale
financial assets

Government grants

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) — net

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary

Others

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
AR EEBEEHTA
BarEMEEN B - 33,190
LEAHTLESHEE
2 Wz 3,987 5,305
EEAHEESHEEM
HfFEES R RS R
- 44,910
BT R 183,486 159,169
N W (&18) — 58 2,623 (5,365)
HEHB ARz W 454 =
E A 3,912 2,317

194,462 239,526
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23.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed according to

their nature (with the exception of “research and development

expenses” which are shown as a single item and analysed

(RREEBESN FESTEUARKT THIR)
BMESENMAX
BROEHERA BERTHEENLR
TREM - LRBHIEE (RH @R RS
BB [T R RRA% ] 5 SHB

23.

XHETEERARAERERNESR) DM

according to their nature in note (a) below) as follows: T
Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=+—HLFE
Note 2018 2017
B —E-N\E —T—

Depreciation e 6 109,903 113,352
Provision for impairment of property,  [E & & & J& (B & &

plant and equipment 6 - 2,768
Amortisation B3 7,8 71,160 78,071
Provision for impairment of goodwill EHEREEE 8 61,056 22,710
Provision for impairment of inventories 7% & J5i & # & 13 1,261 7,014
Provision for impairment of trade and & 5 & H i jE Uk 5k 2

other receivables VIR L] 14 21,947 6,514
Provision for impairment of HM3EmE & EREREE

other non-current assets 36,000 =
Changes in inventories of SRR EERTEEES

finished goods and work in progress 3,117 225,203
Raw materials and consumables used & B R £ K 7 & 921,469 682,729
Lease rentals itk 41,851 47,800
Auditor’s remuneration 1% BX A B & 8,850 10,880
Consulting service fee B RSE& 44,798 40,168
Travelling expenses ERFAZ 50,945 87,275
Employee benefit expenses EEREFHAXZ 24 332,455 345,938
Research and development expenses MrERERAX (a) 277,508 241,787
Delivery expenses B 40,219 39,603
Utilities expenses N R 67,306 67,902
Motor vehicle expenses AMEBARAY 10,640 16,118
Maintenance expenses HwieE 21,403 23,706
Advertising and promotion expenses E&ENEEE 80,592 111,164
Office administrative and NS E R =

communication expenses 20,319 19,300
Other surcharges A pINETE 58,909 59,047
Others H A 123,138 133,849
Total of cost of goods sold, BIHEXA HER

selling and marketing expenses and T 35 HE & [ 32 A0

administrative expenses THEHR 2,404,846 2,382,898
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23. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED) 23. EHESENBEX (&)

(@) Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit (a)
expenses included in research and development expenses
are set out below:

MERBERAXPEEONE BHK
BERAFAIIRANT :

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

Note 2018 2017
B —E-N\E —T—+fF
Depreciation e 6 22,709 22,262
Amortisation B 51 7,8 3,055 2,495
Employee benefit expenses BB REFNHAX 24 90,206 90,111

No development cost has been capitalised for the year
ended 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

24. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 24. RERABAX

ERE_Z-—N\F=A=+—HILF
EAYBERMBERAAEENE(ZF
—LEFE)-

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

Note 2018 2017

B 5 —E-N\F —E—+tF

Wages, salaries and bonus TE&  FBRIEL 361,249 366,543
Defined contribution plans and ERBEIRGTE &

other employee insurances Hib B TIRR (a) 35,330 37,210

Other benefits H 438 A 26,082 32,296

422,661 436,049
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e M BRRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

24. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Defined contribution plans and other employee
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of pension,
housing scheme and other employee insurances for
employees, of which the arrangement of pension scheme
is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme for all
eligible employees. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice to
make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of each employee’s
monthly salaries up to a maximum of HKD1,500 (the
“mandatory contributions”). The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions upon
their retirement at the age of 65 years old, death or total
incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by the local
governments. It is the local governments’ responsibility to
pay the retirement benefits to those staff who retire.

In Germany, the Group makes defined contributions
at certain percentage of monthly salary to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German rules and regulations. It is the
insurance company’s responsibility to pay the retirement
benefits to those staff who retire. In Botswana, no
pension obligation is required under its laws and
regulations.

In the United States of America (“USA"), the Group
makes defined contributions at certain percentage
of monthly salary to retirement and medical schemes
managed by the federal government of USA in
accordance with US rules and regulations. It is the federal
government’s responsibility to pay the retirement benefits
to those staff who retire.

(R REEAEI A LBHRAREFTIIR)
24. BEEBANBX (K)

(a)

ERMAFEAREME TRE

HERBRERRKSHR BEITERE
RE M 8 TR - RIKEFTEI 2 2B 40
T~

rEBRBEEMBREREERI®REA
Trtd-BBEEE CEERNKERT
FrEBMLDR -

RizwEests SREEBAKASH
5% (fx = 3B & A 1,5000T ) 1B
HE W AR EBERBEINMER -EE DN
BREAEEAFS% (RatEREAS
#1,50070) YEH 30 (T3a bl 5k ]) »
BEATRATAREKR FHHTEE
2k T HERE ) B URER IR = 1B HH 2 2 &6 54

e

AEBETBEAMBRBEAERETHE
AFeETADLATEMLTBEME
BEERKEF EIEH E B - 175 B
RBERERAZFRNEESMMNEKE -

AAKETFREEENBREAERMER
AEERBTRAFNETESILAEA
MR ARMELHFK - RRARBAEME
A% &R ES XN RKE - BRI
MARRERINERL B2 RFRNE T
MRAEHEE-

AEBTREEEABEBERIER A
AERBTIRAFNETAENLLRXE
BB E RN RKRE R ERRREG
EH R - BB ABFA B ERZ
HFRNEBXNRIKE -
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24. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

(b)
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Five highest paid individuals (b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include 2 (2017: 2) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 36(a). The
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining 3 (2017:

3) individuals during the year are as follows:

R M RAR M

(B REEAEI A LBIRAREFTIIR)
24. RERAMMAX (&)

EEREHMAL

FA-EXREEzAEREHFHALE
BRE(—E—tF ML) RESF M
BE M F B ENHIE36(a) ° AF
ExNTFEBH=ZMAL (ZF—LF:

=fL) 2w

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Basic salaries and allowances AR RER 19,556 20,548
Contributions to the retirement scheme iR k7@ Fl 5T 2 7% 120 123
19,676 20,671

The emoluments fell within the following bands: REZMESELATEHE :

Emolument bands
HKD5,500,001- HKD®6,000,000
HKD6,000,001- HKD®6,500,000
HKD7,000,001- HKD7,500,000
HKD7,500,001- HKD&,000,000
HKD10,000,001- HKD 10,500,000

Bl < 45 [

755,500,001 7T — %5 #6,000,0007T
7 16,000,001 7T — 75 #6,500,0007TC
75 17,000,001 7T — 7 #7,500,0007C
78 #7,500,001 7T — 75 #8,000,0007C
75%10,000,001 7T — 7 #10,500,0007T

Number of employees

EEAH

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
1 —

- 1

1 —

- 1

1 1
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBHIEBEEIN FTESEEAARB T TIITR)
25. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 25. BB ARBERZ

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Finance income: R N
— Interest income on bank deposits F B A —RITTF K 122,757 57,140
Finance costs: BB B -
— Interest expense on bank FMEEA-RITERREAM
borrowings and others (23,424) (4,793)
Finance income — net B S — 58 99,333 52,347
26. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 26. Fi8H
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income FFAGERRR MBS EIRAT

statements represents:

Year ended 31 March
BE=BA=1+—HLFE

Note 2018 2017
B 2 —E-N\F —T—+F
Current income tax BVEARR 18
— Hong Kong profits tax —BABMEH (a) 11,236 10,381
— PRC corporate income tax —FR BB EMEH (b) 326,454 283,611
— Germany company income tax —ERAEMERH (0) 99 106
— Botswana company income tax — R E M XS (d) 1,057 1,018
Deferred income tax RIEFTISE 12 10,841 (543)
349,687 294,573
(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of (@) BEMEHNEAFEMERT AR
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit ATE16.5% (ZF—+HF:16.5% ) &
for the year. fe
(b) PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on the (b) HECEMSHEBEBEREASBERRK
estimated assessable profit for the year at the tax rates o 1 35 FA R 4F 5 O 28 ) LA B 3 A O B =R

applicable to respective companies of the Group. i 7€ °
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26. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(b)

(@]

(d)

(e)

)

The income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted to
the major subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the
PRC are derived from various tax policies as follows:

(i) The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC stipulates
the applicable income tax rate at 25% for domestic
enterprises in the PRC.

(i)  Encouraged enterprises of western regions can
continue to enjoy tax rate of 15% until 2022.

(iii)  The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated that
the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied at the
reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech Enterprises
that are specifically supported by the State.

Germany company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (2017: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

Botswana company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (2017: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

The subsidiary in U.S. is a limited partnership and not
chargeable for income tax at the partnership level. The
corporate owners of the partnership pay tax on its share
of the partnership’s taxable income at the rate of 35%
for the year.

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has
been made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the year.

e MRS R R M EE

(B REEAEI A LBIRAREFTIIR)
26. FriS% (#)

(b)

(@)

(d)

(e)

®)

AEERTPBEAREEM EERROM
BPERRERE TRMBERDT

(i) BEMESFRERES AEES
BB R TSR X 5525% ©

iy NSRS FEOCEAEE
ZH15%MHEEZE2022F -

(i) EMSTERECEMGHE
HRSZBRIFOSHREMSZE
FA15%H =X -

EECEMEREAFEMTERTA
FIAFEEI5% (ZF—+F:15% ) #&
o

ERFELAT AT EFIR A F (5T ER
FRERAFEZ15% (ZZF—+F:15%)
B o

REEZHBARRERA RS &
AREBNRY CREZBAEERRAE
FriE b EARFRRY B Z 0B
35%F1E7 °

REBERARRFEAEEMBDEE R &
RS ERAFHRA - 8RR E M RDA
RN FTISHE L BE -
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(9)

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZFEEBREIERARAF

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax (9)
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the standard tax rates applicable to the respective

companies of the Group as follows:

(BRBHEBESN A SEOUARETFTIIR)
26. FriS® (&)

AEBBLERFTS VAT AR @ FIR - B
5 B 1E T 48R 2 B P AR 3 7 S T B AT E
AREEENERTERMTR #H5

LIS

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—LtF

Profit before income tax B B A & A 1,745,807 1,409,112

Less: Share of profit of associates o EAG B AR 2 B F (8,232) (17,243)

1,737,575 1,391,869

Tax calculated at statutory tax rate REAMEFENTIE 500,887 393,559

Tax incentives HMERTE (214,362) (164,088)

Super deduction for research and e ' BT R AT E

development expenditure (9,390) (6,361)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised &) F3 Z Al & #E w2 HO B 15 65 18

tax losses (6,505) (1,078)

Expenses not deductible for PAMBIRAZ 2 G E

tax purposes 18,989 46,221

Income not subject to tax EAGRBRARN & - (22,668)
Withholding tax on the earnings Bt B8 & B BE 8O IR SR EE A

from subsidiaries Z AR PS5 27,531 22,902
Tax losses for which no deferred W RIEETSTHE EN

income tax assets were recognised s E 1R 32,537 26,086

Income tax expense Fr 1St 349,687 294,573
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e M EmRME
(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN ESBEHAARETTIR)
26. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 26. FREH (&)
As the Directors are not certain whether future taxable profit AREZFEZEIRENRRELE R BHERN
would be available in certain subsidiaries, the Group did not BN BETE AEBWLERAE THER
recognise deferred income tax assets of RMB114,480,000 Al Z AIiE A 18 A R #5541,388,0000T (=&
(2017: RMB91,755,000) as at 31 March 2018 in respect —tF : AR¥439,259,0007T ) FUIRIEFTSHR
of tax losses of such dormant subsidiaries amounting to BEHARE114,480,0007C (— T — L4
RMB541,388,000 (2017: RMB439,259,000). The tax loss will A #91,755,0007T ) © AT B & 8 K 5 T 51
expire in the following years: FEHH:
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Expired on 31 March 2018 —E-N\F=A=+—HEH - 14,709
Expired on 31 March 2019 —E-hF=A=+—HBEH 14,866 20,295
Expired on 31 March 2020 —E-ZTF=fF=+—HIH 31,753 41,939
Expired on 31 March 2021 —E-_—#F=F=+—H3H 92,687 99,125
Expired on 31 March 2022 —E_—F=A=+—HEH 35,762 41,790
Expired on 31 March 2023 —E-=F=HA=+—H3H 76,372 -
No expiring date BB B H 289,948 221,401
541,388 439,259
27. EARNINGS PER SHARE 27. 8REF
(a) Basic (a) EX

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

BREXBMNIREAFEEARR A EE
FAARGREN BRAFADETER
PrpntEF BB EE -

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Profit attributable to equity holders of ARGz B A B EA
the Company 1,263,797 1,065,424
Weighted average number of BT 2 TRz ntE T 8
ordinary shares in issue ("000) (Fz&t) 3,107,963 3,107,091
Basic earnings per share BRELRZF
(RMB cents per share) (BEAR®ES) 40.66 34.29
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN MESBEHAARETTIR)
27. EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 27. SREF (&)
(b) Diluted (b) #8

Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on the GiREE BN RF A AT #EN BT
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, AR ERE - RBE BT SRR M
assuming that all dilutive potential ordinary shares have BEHREFAE - EBHE_T - N\F=
been issued. For the year ended 31 March 2018, the A=+—HLEE AABRL 2BR
share options granted by the Company have no potential S GAIRE R BT LA #HE B E -

dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share.

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Profit attributable to equity holders of AR FE A ABERF
the Company 1,263,797 1,065,424
Weighted average number of AT GRERZR TG
ordinary shares used to calculate T AR Ay N e 19 21
basic earnings per share (‘000) (F&) 3,107,963 3,107,091
Adjustments for: share options and FEE - BB AR HE R R 1D 22D
share award ('000) (F&H) - 290
Weighted average number of BiREE R A TR
ordinary shares for diluted earnings IntE -5 85
per share ('000) (Fzr) 3,107,963 3,107,381
Diluted earnings per share FREE &

(RMB cents per share) (BRARE D) 40.66 34.29
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN ESBEHAARETTIR)

28. DIVIDENDS

28. RE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+-—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Paid interim dividend of HK10.30 cents B 1< FR HA R B 5 AR 103011
(2017: nil) per share —E—tFE) 270,746 =
Paid special dividend of HK5.70 cents A4 Bl AR B B AR 5. 7011
(2017: nil) per share T tEFmE) 149,832 =
420,578 -
Proposed final dividend of ¥R HA R IR B & AR B ¥ 15.0011L
HK15.00 cents (2017: HK22.00 cents) —Z—+F B %22.001l)
per share 373,538 576,800
794,116 576,800
On 20 June 2018, the Board proposed a final dividend of RZEBE-—NFERAZ+H EFeERRE
HK15.00 cents (2017: HK22.00 cents) per share, totalling HE_ZT—N\F=ZA=1+t—"HILFENHEX
approximately RMB373,538,000 (2017: RMB576,800,000) BREFRABE IS0 (ZE—+F:8RE
for the year ended 31 March 2018. The proposed dividend in #22.001l) + 24 A R #373,538,0007T (=
respect of the year ended 31 March 2018 is calculated based ZT—+4: AK#¥576,800,0007T) - HE_Z
on the total number of shares in issue as at the date of this —N\F=ZA=1+—"BLFENHBKRETIZ
report. The proposed dividend is subject to the shareholder’s BARAARHRE HHEHITROBHE - 2Rk
approval at the Company's forthcoming Annual General BREFENAQARABITHREASF
Meeting. The financial statements do not reflect this dividend ANE AR o B F5 3Rk AR SO L AT AR

payable.

B o
B
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 29. ¥¥&56t

In August 2017, Yancheng Huading Technology Co., LTD, a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an
agreement with three independent third parties to acquire 95%
equity interest in Jiangxi Xianghai, a company incorporated in
the PRC, for a cash consideration of RMB25,208,000.

Jiangxi Xianghai is principally engaged in the production and
sales of synthetic perfume. It is expected that sales revenue
of the Group will increase, product variety will be expanded
and the market position of the Group in this industry will be
strengthened through merger and acquisition.

Jiangxi Xianghai had become a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group in September 2017. The goodwill of RMB13,505,000
arising from the acquisition is attributable to the synergy
expected from combining the operations of the Group and
Jiangxi Xianghai. None of the goodwill recognised is expected
to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

RZZE—tFNRA AREIZIkEZENBR
A EBESRBERARE=ZBIE=N
EEZW=E UWEESREARY25,208,0007T K
B—RNABERNAR  IAESRI5%KE

9
Ell

TARSBIEREARBHNEEREE B
BUEE  REETEH A INE R - EAE M
miE - ISR B AT 5 £ 2 A -

IR EER T —tFNLAKRELAEHE
MIFEZENBAR - WBELENEEARE
13,505,000/t R BEIEAMANEIRARES
4 8 1% T8 HA EE A O 175 [R) 200 R AR 450 4 3 2 o RERR
R BEBA A HBR TSR -

WEELEZFEERBEFBOT:

Amount
k-t
Consideration — cash paid WERE RSN 22,422
— other payable — B & 53R 2,786

Less: fair value of identifiable net assets acquired — J& : WA R FEE 2 A EE
— shown below —FATX (11,703)
Goodwill (Note 8) 2 (Kiss) 13,505
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN ESBEHAARETTIR)
29. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED) 29. XBEH (&)
The fair value of assets and liabilities as at the respective RER AKEmMEEZEEREENAR
acquisition dates arising from the acquisitions are as follows: BEWMT:
Amount
S8
Net assets acquired s 2 BEFE
Property, plant and equipment 28 & R 16,014
Intangible assets EVEE 653
Inventories TE 89
Trade and other receivable B 5 I H fth fE I IR 12,932
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHFEEZEY 76
Trade and other payables B 5 N H fh fE A (16,665)
Deferred income tax liabilities BLEFSHAR (780)
Total identifiable net assets s 2 BEFE 12,319
Less: non-controlling interest T R M (616)
Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired Wiz EERNAEE 11,703
Outflow of cash to acquire business, WK 2R R
(net of cash acquired) (B KEZFES)
Consideration — cash paid LR & ERE 22,422
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired WK B AR ANRE MBS EEY (76)
Net cash outflow on acquisition I g B F IR 2R 22,346
Non-controlling interests in Jiangxi Xianghai are measured AR ENEREH R NIEEEEANRE
at the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in REAE L BRI T FE B 08 2 Al L 2 5 % & E 5T
the recognised amounts of Jiangxi Xianghai's identifiable net Ho

assets.
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(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

30. CHANGES

IN OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT CHANGE OF CONTROL

Issue of new shares to non-controlling interests of
Huabao Flavours

On 1 March 2018, Huabao Flavours independently listed on
ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Huabao Flavours issued
61,590,000 new shares (accounting for 10% of all presently
issued shares) at the price of RMB38.6 per share, amounting
to RMB2,377,374,000 (the net value is RMB2,311,842,000
after deducting cost of issuance). After the listing of Huabao
Flavours, the Group’s interest (through its subsidiaries) in
Huabao Flavours decreased from 90.21% to 81.103%.

The effect of changes in ownership interest in Huabao Flavours
on the equity attributable to owners of the Company during
the year is summarised as follows:

30.

MEBARMEERZNEE (ThE
2 HIRE)
EAROBTHRT FE B AR

R-E—NF=ZF—HB ZEZTRMOPRFEZE
INBHZ GBI FEREBL E-EBERD
#£1761,590,000% % ((EHEAR & = EE EEAT
RHHIN0%) FikAARE38.67T EitAA
R%2,377,374,0007C ' HIBREEKAE - BE
BRZSHIBEFEAARYK2,311,842,000
ToEBRMD EME ARAFR (BREWNER
AREERMAMFEZBHIV21%HISELD
81.103% ©

FAREERNDAEERENESGH A QA
BEmAARGRSNZERZNT

Amount
k-t
Consideration received from non-controlling interests TR FE 2 ) 2 W B B (B 2,311,842
Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests EEIEEHMRESFEER (965,981)
Consideration received in excess of net assets value W B & S5 18 = 70 FE4% i M R 25 P
attributable to non-controlling interest ZFBEBERERTER
recognised in equity 1,345,861

SEERFEEHERIEMNARE
965,981,0007T °

The Group recognised an increase in non-controlling interests
of RMB965,981,000.
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31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

(@) Reconciliatoin of profit before tax to cash generated

R M RAR M

(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

REZHELENRS

(a) KRBABAEKEXBREREFER

from operations B
Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1t-ALEE
Note 2018 2017
B —E2-N\E —T—+tF
Profit before income tax 1,745,807 1,409,112
Adjustments for:
— Depreciation 6 132,612 135,614
— Provision for impairment of —BAEEERBEE
property, plant and equipment 6 - 2,768
— Amortisation 7.8 74,215 80,566
~ Provision for impairment of —EERERE
goodwill 8 61,056 22,710
— Provision for impairment of - FERERE
inventories 13 1,261 7,014
— Provision for impairment of — 85 R EAMERFIERERE
trade and other receivables 14 21,947 6,514
— Provision for impairment of —HMIERBEERERE
other non-current assets 36,000 -
— Interest expense 25 23,424 4,793
— Interest income 25 (122,757) (57,140)
— Share-based payment — R BERE - 1,000
— Share of profit of associates 9 (8,232) (17,243)
— (Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, —HEME BEREE (WE)
plant and equipment (1,948) 3,450
— Gain on disposal of —HERHEESREE S
available-for-sale assets 22 (3,987) (5,305)
— Gain on disposal of a subsidiary —HEHRBRARZRE K (454) =
— Investment income of —AHHNESREEZRER R
available-for-sale assets - (105)
— Transfer of reserves to income -~ REAHLESHEE
statement upon disposal of ifi E R 8 B Mt s R
available-for-sale financial assets 22 - (44,910)
- Changes in financial assets at —UARREBEFEEEZEFTA
fair value through profit or loss BaMemEESY - 190,938
— Foreign exchange (gain)/loss — net —[EX (W) /BiR— %5 22 (2,623) 5,365
Changes in working capital: BEESEH:
- Inventories (73,687) (5,553)
— Trade and other receivables —E S REMERZKIE (64,398) (208,840)
— Trade and other payables —B 5 R H M E R RE 32,066 (13,341)
Net cash generated from operations EEBMGREFR 1,850,302 1,517,407
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31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 31. KR¥IZBHELNRE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REEEHERERA HEWSE  #aB
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and REBEEZEREIE:

equipment comprise:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

Note 2018 2017
Bt 5 —E-N\F —T—tF
Net book amount BREFE 6 5,864 4,776
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEME - e R EE RS
property, plant and equipment (E8) 1,948 (3,450)
Currency translation differences  H¥ia& =58 (73) (897)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME KB REEN
property, plant and equipment BT 13 3K 7,739 429
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 RMEBEEBEHER
activities
This section sets out an analysis of the movements in REHIMEBEEE 29T
liabilities from financing activities:
Year ended
31 March 2018
BE-Z-N\F
=A=+—H
LFE
Borrowings — repayable within one year BER——FRNEE 210,000
Liabilities from financing activities MEAE 210,000
Borrowings — fixed interest rates B —EE M= 190,000
Borrowings — variable interest rates BER—I28H X 20,000

Liabilities from financing activities mEaE 210,000
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R M RAR M

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN ESBEHAARETTIR)

31. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 31.

(CONTINUED)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing ()

activities (Continued)

METEHELEWNIRE (8)
mESEHERE (H)
Liabilities from

financing activities
Borrowings due within 1 year

32. COMMITMENTS

mEAE
—FRIHANER
Liabilities from financing activities as RZZT—tFMA—RBZ
at 1 April 2017 BB 1 75,500
Proceeds from borrowings BEMS 210,000
Repayments of borrowings féfkgm (75,500)
Liabilities from financing activities as RZZE-—N\F=A=+—H2
at 31 March 2018 MERE 210,000
32. A&
(a) Capital commitments (a) EXRRIE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet incurred at REEBEENEBNREENERFX
the end of the year are as follows: (N

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2018 2017
—g-NF | =T tF
Property, plant and equipment Y e R AR 83,358 14,733
Investment in associates REERF 2K E 43,420 43,420
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEHESREE 133,099 91,176
259,877 149,329
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBEEREIN MESBEHAARETTIR)
32. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED) 32. Ak (&)
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) ®EHERE
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under REZBRBAAIHEZEES KRR
non-cancellable operating leases at the closing date are as RSN FBENT
follows:

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
Land and buildings: T RAEF
Not later than 1 year DB F 31,556 34,047
Later than 1 year and not later BRI FETNBBF
than 5 years 66,944 73,864
Later than 5 years BB F 30,385 43,781
128,885 151,692
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. BBMALEXRS
(a) Name and relationship with related parties (a) BEBATBBEABE
Name Relationship
=E B &
Huangguoshu Golden Leaf An associate indirectly held by

the Company
mREER ARAMER BN EAA
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)
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R M RAR M

(BRBHEEPEIN FELEHUARBETTIIR)
33. EBALRS (E)

Key management compensation (b) FEEEAE#MS
Key management includes directors (executive, non- FTEEBAEBREER (ITES ¥
executive and independent non-executive) and senior NTEFEBIFERTEFT) NS RE
management. The amounts of compensation paid and BAB ENERENTEEHNMEER
payable to directors is disclosed in Note 36(a). The MisE36(a) 5 - M m A BIEA B IHE
amounts of compensation paid and payable to senior REERBHNENRENMES0T
management for employee services is shown below:
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZH=1+—HLFE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Fees, salaries and bonus TE&  FHERIEL 18,220 19,098
Employer’s contributions to {E = st R IR T 2 5K
retirement benefit scheme 373 362
18,593 19,460
Balances with related parties () BAEEAL#ER
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F Tt
Balances due from related parties: JE U BB A T 48R
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EREeE
— trade and other receivables — B 5 & E h & K 4,504 24
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 3. TEMBRRIZFHE

Place of
incorporation Nominal Principal
and kind of value of issued/ Effective interest activities and
Name legal entity registered capital held by the Group % place of operation
AL it B R BERTEER/ AEEREN
ARER EEERER ZMEAEE ERES% TEEBRBEHE
Aromascape Development Germany, Limited EUR25,000 100 Research and development
Centre GmbH Fct. A0 liability company B7125,000 of flavours & fragrances
=B FREEAT in Germany
HEER 2
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of BWP100 100 Production and sales of
Botswana, Limited LR 1007T natural extracts in
liability company Botswana
R AEAEL - EEMFERARRY -
BEREARR ER A ENE
Guangdong Golden leaf PRC, Limited RMB100,000,000 100 Research & development,
Technology Development liability company A& #100,000,0007T manufacture and sale of
Co., Ltd. mE - BEREERF reconstituted tobacco
BRESERBEHE leaves in the PRC
BB A a0 e EEREEEEER
i
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted PRC, Limited RMB40,000,000 55.375 Manufacture & sale of
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. liability company AR #40,000,0007T reconstituted tobacco
BREMBERE mE - BEREERF leaves in the PRC
BB A Qs 22, 2 EERHERERR
Guangzhou Huabao Food PRC, Limited RMB 10,000,000 100 Research, development,
Co., Ltd. liability company A& #10,000,0007T manufacturing & sales of
EMEZERmARLD RN HE - EREEAH flavours & fragrances in
the PRC
e EEREERR &
Guangzhou Hua Fang PRC, Limited RMB23,380,000 51 Manufacturing & sales of
Tobacco Flavors Ltd. liability company AR #23,380,0007T tobacco flavours &
ENERERERERATCC B BREERF fragrances in the PRC
HERHEEAER &
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK)  Hong Kong, Limited HKD3,000,000 100 Research, development,

Limited

EEER (58 ARATO

liability company

BB BREEAH

7 13,000,0007T

manufacturing & sales of
flavours & fragrances
in Hong Kong

e EENRHERR B
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Place of
incorporation
and kind of
legal entity
1A B 3L i B R
EEEEER

R M RAR M

(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

Nominal

value of issued/
registered capital
BERTZER/
M EXEE

Effective interest
held by the Group %
AEEREN
ERER%

3. FEMBLARZHEE (&)

Principal
activities and
place of operation

TEXBREESY

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances
Co., Ltd

EZEERRMH
EEE/&E]ZHW,SJI,FCI,CW,YXI,XW,XZ

Huabao Korea Company Limited
EERAAKR G

Huabao Qiangi Leasing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.

EZETHHAE ORI
Eﬁﬁ/&ﬁ]xuxow,xoz

Owada Flavours (Guangzhou)
Co., Ltd.
REERR (BM)ERAAY

Shanghai Danhua Science and
Technology Co., Ltd.
PERERHMRERA A

Shanghai H&K Flavors &
Fragrances Co., Ltd.

TBEEAEER
ﬁl@E/RE]YXW,VXZ, X1,cC1

PRC, Joint stock limited
company

hE R ERRF

Korea, Limited liability
company
BE - BREEAA

PRC, Limited liability
company

hE EREERAF

PRC, Limited liability
company

hE EREERAF

PRC, Limited liability
company

hE EREERAF

PRC, Limited liability
company

hE EREERAF

RMB615,880,000
A #615,880,0007T

WON16,320,000,000
#%[816,320,000,000

RMB300,000,000
A& %300,000,0007T

HKD60,000,000
7% %60,000,0007C

RMB 10,000,000
A& #10,000,0007T

RMB100,000,000
A& %100,000,0007T

81.103

100

100

100

72

100

Manufacturing & sales
of tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
EERBEERRAR AH

Manufacture and sale of
filter materials in Korea
& EEREEREREE

- BE

Equipment leasing,
office stationary leasing
assets management,
investment management,
investment and leasing
consulting in the PRC

KaXEES BoAmd
€ AEER REER.
REFZANBER 5%
H e

Production and sale of
tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC

EEREERAERER:
e

Research, development
and sale of flavours &
fragrances in the PRC

MERHEER PE

Manufacturing & sales of
food flavours & fragrances
in the PRC

EERFERMER TH
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(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)
34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

34. TEMBARZFHE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place of
incorporation Nominal Principal
and kind of value of issued/ Effective interest activities and
Name legal entity registered capital held by the Group %  place of operation
1R B 3L i B R BRATEER/ AEEEEN
ARER EETEER HAMEAHEE ERER% TEXRRBE Y
Shanghai Huabao Biological PRC, Limited liability RMB 10,000,000 100 Production and sale of
Technology Co., Ltd. company A& #10,000,0007T tobacco raw material
TRERENRR hE BEREERAF EERHEERARE
ﬁﬁﬁ/&ﬁ]zm,m, X1
Standpoint Electronic Technology PRC, Limited liability HKD10,000,000 100 Research, development
Development (Shanghai) company 7% 110,000,0007C and sales of electronic
Co., Ltd. HE - BRAFEAT products, daily
UHEFREER (L) commodities,
BRAF 200 and business
management services
HEREEESFER AR
me REREERS
Wuxi Huahai Flavors & Fragrances  PRC, Limited liability UsD650,000 100 Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. company % 71650,000 flavours & fragrances in
BHESERARDA™ TE-AREARF the PRC
HEERHERR T H
Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical PRC, Joint stock limited ~ RMB30,000,000 51 Research, development,
Technology Co., Ltd. company AR #30,000,0007T distribution and retail of
B3R B RERA HE - RHEBRAAE fragrances in the PRC
BR AR E f£E HERTERR
CIER $E
Xinjiang Huabao Natural Biological ~ PRC, Limited liability RMB 15,000,000 87 Production and sale of
Technology Co., Ltd. company A& #15,000,0007T food flavours and
MBETRAEMBERH HE - RHEBRAAE fragrances in the PRC
AR m e ox HEERHERRAER hHE
Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma PRC, Limited liability RMB6,000,000 100 Production and sales of

Co.,Ltd
HAmATENBRAR

company

hE BEREERAF

A K #6,000,0007T

aroma raw materials
in the PRC
EERHEERRE FE
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(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

3. FEMBLARZHEE (&)

(CONTINUED)
Place of
incorporation Nominal Principal
and kind of value of issued/ Effective interest activities and
Name legal entity registered capital held by the Group %  place of operation
AL AR L B R BERTZER/ AEEREN
ARAER EEERER M EXEE EREZE% TEEBRBE R
Yingtan Huabao Flavors & PRC, Limited liability RMB96,500,000 100 Production and sale of
Fragrances Co., Ltd. company A& #96,500,0007T flavours & fragrances
EEEEER hE EREERAF in the PRC
AR mFer Faazs EEREERR TH
Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour PRC, Limited liability RMB35,000,000 94.14 Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. company AR #35,000,0007T aroma raw materials
KMUEERBERAA mE BEREERA in the PRC
EEREERRE P H
Yunnan Tianhong Flavors PRC, Limited liability UsD2,550,000 60 Production and sale of
Co., Ltd. company % 712,550,000 flavours & fragrances
EHARRBRERA R 12 HE - BEREEAF in the PRC
EERHEERER &
VMR Products, LLC, !X USA, Limited partnership - 61.3 Design, manufacturing
XE EREEAHLE and sale of electronic
cigarettes in USA
Rt HERSHEFE
E3E
Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability RMB11,000,000 100 Manufacturing & sales of
(Guangdong) company AK®11,000,0007T aroma raw materials
EREZERENBMAR AR mE EREERA in the PRC
EEREERRE P H
Jiangxi Xianghai Biological PRC, Limited liability RMB10,010,000 95 Produce, research and sale

Technology Co., Ltd.
IRERENHRERAF

company
HE - EREFEAT

AEK#10,010,0007T

of synthetic perfume
in the PRC
EERHEAKEHN &
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Material non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive income attributable to non-
controlling interests for the year ended 31 March
2018 is RMB125,094,000 (2017: RMB46,623,000), of
which RMB145,937,000 (2017: RMB71,836,000) is
from Huabao Flavours and its subsidiaries (“Huabao
Flavours Group”) and loss of RMB34,306,000 (2017:
RMB33,011,000) is from VMR. The non-controlling
interests in other subsidiaries are not material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
for group of subsidiaries that have non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group :

(BBEEREIN FIESEHUARE T THIR)
3. SEMBEARZFHE (HF)

(a)

ERFEHMEER
BHE_ZT-—-NF=ZA=+—HBItF
E-EEsltEEaEEEEREEE
B AR®125,094,000T (& —+
F: ANR#¥46,623,000T) ' EFF AR
#145,937,000 (ZFE—tEF: AR
#71,836,000L) REEERHEHE
MEB AR ([EERMEER])EAR
#34,306,000c (=& —tF: AR
33,011,0007T) 2 = E EE K BVMR °
REAK B R R M IEEH R T~ E
j(o

VAT &9 AN = B 5 B A H) SR M pe 2
HMEARINMBERRBE

Summarised balance sheet of Huabao Flavours EERHEBZEEEERBE
Group
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—+F
Current B
Assets BE 7,064,301 3,888,613
Liabilities af& (396,065) (384,088)
Total current net assets FREBEERT 6,668,236 3,504,525
Non-current FERE
Assets BE 1,639,947 1,692,265
Liabilities af& (5,630) (8,935)
Total non-current net assets FIERBEERLTE 1,634,317 1,683,330
Net assets EEFHE 8,302,553 5,187,855
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
(a)

Summarised balance sheet of VMR

Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

R M RAR M

(BBEEPEIN IELEHUARE T THIR)
3. SEMBEATZHE (HF)

BEARFEHMER (F)
VMRZEEEBXRBE

(a)

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\HF —E—tF

Current B

Assets BE 50,381 66,601

Liabilities BE (117,237) (83,535)
Total current net assets FRBEEMETE (66,856) (16,934)
Non-current FERE

Assets BE 9,777 9,653

Liabilities BE (31,111) (23,068)
Total non-current net assets FIEMEEEBLTE (21,334) (13,415)
Net assets EEFRH (88,190) (30,349)
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 34. FEfB AR ZHE (&)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) EARFEHIMER (HK)
Summarised income statement and statement of ZEEROEEZREREZENERE
comprehensive income of Huabao Flavours Group =

Year ended at 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

Sales EHEE 2,233,830 2,314,006

Profit before income tax B 252 i1 22 ) 1,397,853 1,333,802

Income tax expense FIeii& R (201,089) (219,633)

Profit for the year KEEZREF| 1,196,764 1,114,169

Other comprehensive income e TR (28,490) 24,489

Total comprehensive income 2HENFEE 1,168,274 1,138,658
Total comprehensive income allocated 7 F2 T 3E#Z HI ERE 2R B9

to non- controlling interests 2HE M= R EE 145,937 71,836

Dividends paid to non-controlling ) FE 2 ) 14 4 5 R 1~
interests Z R% 7 20,954 186,886
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised income statement and statement of
comprehensive income of VMR

e PR R MR
(BBEEPEIN IELEHUARE T THIR)
3. SEMBEATZHE (HF)

(a) EXRFEHIMRER (K)
VMRZ Wk R E2E K ERBEE

Year ended at 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017

—g-N\F  —F—t%F

Sales &R 220,510 260,603

Loss before income tax Bt Al S 18 (89,267) (99,728)

Income tax expense IECEE=] - =

Loss for the year REEEE (89,267) (99,728)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) Hizmmbas (E8) 204 (64)

Total comprehensive loss THEEBESHE (89,063) (99,792)
Total comprehensive loss allocated AHE T IEIE SRR

to non-controlling interests T HEEBLARE (34,306) (33,011)

Dividends paid to non-controlling ) FE 2 ) 14 4 25 R 1~

interests 2 B&F
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34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 34. FEMB AT 215 (&)
(CONTINUED)
Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) EARFEHIMER (HK)
Summarised cash flows of Huabao Flavours Group EERNEEBZREREHRE

(a)

Year ended at 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E 4
Cash flows from RETBZHERE
operating activities
Cash generated from operations EEEECZHS 1,475,741 1,386,971
Income tax paid B AER (204,606) (186,197)
Net cash generated from BEETHELEZ
operating activities IR FHE 1,271,135 1,200,774
Net cash generated from KREBHEEZ
investing activities R FRE 61,719 2,360,159
Net cash generated from/ MEEISEL (TR Z
(used in) financing activities ReFR 1,934,122 (3,012,719)
Net increase in cash and RERASEEYEMFERE
cash equivalents 3,266,976 548,214
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April RUA—BZREREREEEY 2,636,124 2,082,796
Effects of currency translation on BE¥BREHE SR
cash and cash equivalents ReZFEUHNTE (13,608) 5,114

Cash and cash equivalents
at 31 March

R=A=+t—HAZzHRER
REZEEY 5,889,492 2,636,124
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(CONTINUED)

(a)

Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a)

Summarised cash flows of VMR

R M RAR M

(BBEEPEIN IELEHUARE T THIR)
34. FEMBATRIZFHE (HF)

BERFERMEES (F)

VMRZ R & REBHE

Year ended at 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\HF —E—tF
Cash flows from REFEZHEERE
operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) EEEL (A 2B $
operations 7,441 (58,754)
Income tax paid B ETER - =
Net cash generated from/ gEEHEL (A2
(used in) operating activities HEFR 7,441 (58,754)
Net cash generated from/ wEEBEE (FTA)Z
(used in) investing activities ReFE 2 (6,311)
Net cash (used in)/generated from MEEE (A EErEe
financing activities HEE (19,846) 58,175
Net decrease in cash and REeRESEENRL FE
cash equivalents (12,403) (6,890)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April RN E—BzZRENELEEY 19,134 26,024
Effects of currency translation on BEEBEHRR R
cash and cash equivalents ReZEEUWHNTE - =
Cash and cash equivalents R=A=+—HzEL2K
at 31 March REEEY 6,731 19,134
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35. RAGWHMBRARE#EET
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company 7R B B B 7 iR R R

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8H
Note 2018 2017
B & —E-N\F —ET—LF
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AR ZIKE 997,624 1,105,374
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b fE U FRIE 86,277 96,646
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE M /B A R R IE 1,357,837 1,510,377
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREeEEY 881,100 1,184,016
2,325,214 2,791,039
Total assets mEE 3,322,838 3,896,413
EQUITY B
Capital and reserves attributable ZAATEZFEAEMERE
to the Company’s equity holders K%
Share capital AR 318,647 318,647
Reserves T (a) 352,170 688,398
Retained earnings REB AT 2,313,125 2,508,636
Total equity MR 2,983,942 3,515,681
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities REBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE 15t B B & R 3IE 337,751 378,746
Trade and other payables B 5 I H &~ 58 1,145 1,986
338,896 380,732
Total liabilities FEN-Ri 338,896 380,732
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 3,322,838 3,896,413
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board ARAzEEBBRER=ZZE—N\FAAZ+
of Directors on 20 June 2018 and was signed on its behalf. HREERILETEE-
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mr. XIONG Qing
AMELZ L RE ) SE 4
Chairwoman Director

E EF
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ADTNHBRRRREEEE (H)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35.
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
Note (a) Reserve movements of the Company Mt =E(a) ARREERE
Capital ~ Share-based Currency
Contributed Share Capital ~ redemption  compensation Other  Translation
surplus—~ premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total
WkhAE
& Bt £
Rian RBEE B REGRE Hegk EhfE  RERE it
At 1 April 2016 W-E-7ERA-A 296,853 426,366 2411 4,749 41,8 - (298,878) 473,229
Currency tranglaion differences BEERZR - - - - - - 21428 21428
Share-based payment Rip&ERMRA
- Value of consultancy services -ERRBERE - 1,000 - 1,000
~Issue of shares upon exercise of - ~IERBEBAEANFR
share award 2995 (3,108) - (113)
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tE=f=1-A 296,853 429,861 2411 4,749 39,120 - (84,59) 688,398
At 1 April 2017 NZE-tEMA-A 296,853 429,361 21 4,749 39120 (84,596) 688,398
Employee share option scheme EaRRENE
- Lapsed of share options —EfRExH (39,120 39,120 - -
Currency translation differences HEEfZE - - (336,208  (336,228)
At 31 March 2018 R=Z-\ZA=t-H 296,853 429,861 1M 4,749 39,120 (420,824) 352,170
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36. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 36. EEPNFREZMER
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERTHAZME
The remuneration of each director and chief executive ARAIZEERITHBHEREEZZ
of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2018 and —N\FErkZE—+tF=A=+—HIF
2017 are set out below: BT :
2018 2007
“E-0\% 5-t%
Employer's Employer's
contribution contribution
to pension to pension
Name of directors Note Fees Salaries Bonus scheme Total Fees Salaries Bonus scheme Total
BERER EXFRHK
ESfg i3 Be 54 B GEER @t ik i A HEER @

Executive directors: ~ HTEZ:

Ms. Chu Lam Yiu FHETL (i 8,731 - - - 8,731 8913 - B - 8,913
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok ~ EREI%L4E - 2,054 - 507 2,561 - 2,276 - 338 2,614
Mr. Xia Li Qun BRIBEE - 5,091 3,394 15 8,500 - 5,197 3,465 16 8,678
Mr. Lam Ka Yu HWEFEE 2,545 - - - 2,545 2,599 - - - 2,599
Mr. Xiong Qing bk (i) - 1,951 - 15 1,966 - 80 - - 80

Independent non- BUFHES:

executive directors:

Dr. Ding Ningning ZEfL 204 - - - 204 208 - - - 208
M. Lee Luk Shi Bk 20 - - - 20 28 = . = 208
Ms. Ma Yun Yan RERLL 204 - - - 204 208 - - - 208
MoWuChikemg  EEEAE 20 - - - m 208 - - - 208

12,09 9,09 3,39 S 519 123 7,553 3,465 B 376
() Ms. Chu Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer () EMELZLFEARANEHEHR

of the Company. I8 e
(i) Appointed as Executive Director on 17 March 2017. (i) RZTE—tF=AT+tBEGAE
HMITESE-

No directors waived any emoluments during the years HE_T-—NFERZZE—tEtF=A
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017. =S+ —HIFE &5 FHEE M
During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no HE_Z-NFR-_ZE-—+tF=A
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors =St+t—HLEFE AEETEREEY
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as & EARINAZRE B/ REN S EARE

a compensation for loss of office. HAEE -
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36. BENEFITS AND

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no
retirement benefits paid to the directors of the Company
by a defined benefit pension plan operated by the
Group in respect of the director’s services as a director
of the Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

March 2018 and 2017,
no payments to the directors of the Company as

During the year ended 31

compensation for the early termination of the
appointment.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, the
Company did not provide any consideration to any third
party for making available director’s services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors
of the Company, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

During the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

e MRS R R M EE

(BRBHEAEN IELBOUAARETFTIIR)
36. EEMAZMER ()

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

EERANER

BHE T -NFR-_ZT—tF=A
St HALEFE AREYEARAEET
NREESARREREFRARESRH
AR 7 T R 58 (B & 0& 1 3R E IR R IR AT 3
il [ L 32 A< R AR AR A o

EEREERN
BE_Z-N\FE_ZFT—tF=H
=St RALFEE AEEYEREES
LA IE B 2 B fE o

AE=AXNRHEESREZKE

BE_Z-N\FE_FT—tF=A
=St RALEE - AEEYERRHEE
=RB M mE=FRENEE -

FHNES EScZEFEERBE
BERARBACENR EERRAEMX
ZZER

BHE_ZT-NFR_FT—tF=A8
=ST-HLEFE AEEYEAES
f&%é%%ﬁmiAl ZEEN

FETRIEHERMEEK-

EERNXS REFGHWZERED

RERANLFER  NRARLERFE
MERAEB 2 ZBEMARB CERTE
BB EETHREEARGcEER
7 RHHAMR -
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(BREEEAEN FESREUARETTIIER)

RESULTS
Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HILEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
“Z—mFE ZE-AF ZT—RFE ZT—+tF ZT-N\E
Turnover = 3,365,235 3,431,077 3,200,436 3,482,894 3,848,626
Gross Profit EF 2,381,016 2,399,198 2,203,988 2,270,823 2,586,529
Profit before income tax W 7% B0 & F 1,919,704 1,892,390 1,493,331 1,409,112 1,745,807
Income tax expenses BIRELT (333,854)  (310,122)  (297,686)  (294,573)  (349,687)
Profit for the year NEE A 1,585,850 1,582,268 1,195,645 1,114,539 1,396,120
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EEREE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—T-pmFE —T-—hF —T-RF —TLF ZB-N\F
Total assets BEE 8,254,387 8,634,468 9,654,219 11,497,751 14,300,910
Total liabilities BafE (1,116,755) (1,185,779)  (879,748)  (890,839) (1,182,573)
Shareholders’ fund FEE 7,137,632 7,448,689 8,774,471 10,606,912 13,118,337
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IEMBERE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(BREEEAEIN FESBRGUARET IR

H fth Bt 7 & 1B
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-NF ZT-—AF ZT—RF ZT—+tF ZZET-NF
Earnings per share, basic BREARM EX
(RMB cents) (ARES) 50.64 50.77 38.04 34.29 40.66
Earnings per share,diluted SREHN #9
(RMB cents) (AR%S) 50.60 50.70 38.01 34.29 40.66
Aggregated dividend per share FREFRARE
(HK cents) (784l 19.17 9.52 - 22.00 25.30
Aggregated special dividend FR2FAFAERIRE
per share(HK cents) (L) 9.88 22.20 = = 5.70
Fiscal year-end share prices HRFEEAZRRE
(HKD) (B7T) 3.56 5.77 2.92 4.54 5.20
EBIT ratio EBIT 56.1% 53.6% 44 5% 38.5% 42.6%
EBITDA ratio EBITDAR 60.7% 58.2% 50.1% 44.7% 47.9%
ROE ROE 24.8% 22.3% 15.0% 11.6% 12.0%
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AGM
Board
Bye-laws
Case

CEO

CFO

CG Code

China, Mainland or PRC
Company or Huabao
Dianhua Benxiang
Director(s)

EPS

electronic cigarettes
Executive Director(s)

FCCA

FCIS
FCPA

FCS

Group or Huabao Group
Guangdong Jinye

Guangdong Jinye Group
Guangdong Zhaoging
HKD

HKICPA

Hong Kong or HKSAR
Hong Kong

Stock Exchange
Hongta Tobacco Group

Annual general meeting

The board of directors of the Company

Bye-laws of the Company

Each case contains 50,000 sticks of
cigarette

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Corporate Governance Code as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

The People’s Republic of China

Huabao International Holdings Limited

Yunnun Dianhua Benxiang Technology Co.

Ltd.
The director(s) of the Company
Earnings per share
e-cigarette(s)

Executive director(s) of the Company
Fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants

Fellow member of The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators

Fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public
Accountants

Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinye and its subsidiaries and

affiliated companies
Zhaoging Perfumery Co., Ltd
(Guangdong)

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of

Hong Kong
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region

of the People’s Republic of China
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited
Hongta Tobacco and its subsidiaries and
related companies
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INED(s)

Jiangxi Xianghai

Jiangxi Xinhui

Listing Rules

M&A(s)
Model Code

Spin-off

R&D
RMB
RTL

Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

Shareholder(s)

Share(s) or ordinary

share(s)

Shenzhen Stock Exchange

Huabao Flavours

STMA
u.s.

Independent Non-executive Director(s) of
the Company

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology
Co., Ltd

Jiangxi Huabao Xinhui Technology
Company Limited

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

Merger and Acquisition

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

the spin-off of the shares of Huabao
Flavours for listing on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange

Research and development

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves

The Maximum number of Shares in
respect of which share options may
be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of
the Company

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKD 0.10 each in the
capital of the Company

Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the PRC

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd., a
joint stock limited company established
in the PRC with limited liability and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company

State Tobacco Monopoly Administration

United States of America
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usb

VMR
Xiamen Amber

Yancheng Chunzhu
Yongzhou Shanxiang
Yunnan Tianhong

Yunnan Tobacco
New Materials

US dollars, the lawful currency of the
United States of America

VMR Products, LLC

Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology
Co., Ltd.

Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd.

Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Tianhong Flavour & Fragrance
Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Tobacco New Materials
Technology Co. Ltd.

i

VMR
B3R

AN
ML

EHRE

E PR R

X XBEEEE

VMR Products, LLC
EFMRERBERBERHERAR

BERmENERERAF
HMUBEERBR QA
EHREBERERNERAT
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